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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. Chow Lai Wah Livia (Vice Chairman)
Mr. Huang Mingguo (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Kwan Kin Chung (Managing Director)

Mr. Yuen Kin
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Ms. Lee Yuk Ping
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RESULTS

The consolidated turnover of the Company
and its subsidiaries for the year ended 31
March 2020 amounted to HK$154,099,000 (2019:
HK$18,206,000 of which HK$8,333,000 (2019:
HK$11,059,000) was attributable to the business
of publishing and intellectual properties
licensing;, HK$811,000 (2019: HK$1,337,000)
was attributable to online and social business;
HKS$144,821,000 (2019 HKS$5,784,000) was
attributable to digital marketing; HK$134,000
(2019: HKS$26,000) was attributable to retailing
and wholesales business. Loss for the year
attributable to equity holders, taking into
account of taxation, was HK$58,235,000 (2019:
HK$31,335,000). The loss per share was HK4.2
cents (2019: HK2.3 cents).

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board of Directors has resolved not to
declare any final dividend for the year ended
31 March 2020 (2019: Nil).
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

FRBES

BUSINESS REVIEW

During the year, the Group continues to focus
on investment in its core IPs related business
and Digital Marketing ("Digital Marketing”)
business and achieved significant results. Digital
Marketing becomes the leading core business,
its revenue has increased almost 25 folds
from HKS$5,784,000 in 2019 to HK$144,821,000
in 2020, while total revenue increased from
HK$18,206,000 in 2019 to HKS$154,099,000 in
2020. The total number of employees in the
Digital Marketing segment increased from 39
in 2019 to 140 in 2020, while the total number
of employees of the Group increased from 99
in 2019 to 177 in 2020. The Group continues
to develop its Digital Marketing business and
in expanding Key Opinion Leaders (KOLs)
management and production of short videos
for our customers or KOLs. The Group will
continue to develop business in digitalisation
and commercialisation of IPs for our customers.

In or around June 2019, the Group started
to invest in Digital Marketing specializing in
applying big data analysis in matching IPs to
assist customers in marketing products and
services. The Group now holds 55% interest
in fwo Beijing companies, Beijing Skyvior
Technology Co. Ltd ("Beijing Skyvior”) and
Hyperchannel Info Tech., Ltd (Hyperchannel
Info”), specializing in Digital Marketing business.
Since the last quarter of 2019, through these
two subsidiaries, the Group was successful in
securing business with major consumer products
distribution or social media platforms, such as
Taobao/Tmall, Tik Tok, Pinduoduo, Vip.com,
etc. This breakthrough allows the Group to lay
the foundation to further develop its Digital
Marketing business.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)

Another 55% Digital Marketing subsidiary,
Egmen Technology Limited ("Egmen”), which
is principally engaged in the digitalisation and
commercialisation of IPs, content creation and
digital marketing. Since becoming a subsidiary
of the Group in August 2018, it continues to
expand in collaborating with certain prominent
IPs owners, including the Palace Museum*®
(=B YBR). Its revenue increased from the
seven-month period in 2019 of HKS$5,562,000
to HK$34,819,000 in 2020. While total revenue
of Egmen increase substantially, its profif
margin decreased significantly due to change
of product or service mix with sales more
in gifts and related promotional products.
Since the beginning of last fiscal year,
Egmen commenced the launch of “IP Express”
(IPE #& ¥ ) business in cooperation with the
National Copyright Administration of the PRC
(B=HMH#ER). Under this arrangement, Egmen
gained the resource to provide a large pool
of IPs of various types. These collaborations will
generate revenue for Egmen and assist the IP
owners to explore and expand the usage of
their IPs so as to bring in extra revenue and
raise the market recognition of their IPs. The
Group is also prepared to invest in IPs with
market potential. While Egmen confinues to
develop products and services for IP Express,
this new business has yet to produce significant

revenue.

FREEE

FBOEE(E)

REBS - XEROSRBEZHBILTSHEE
MEBAR — ERZFANKERIANEHF
M) IERHEABEREBCREXL AR
AMEREBLETHSER - BZE-N\FNAKE
REBMBARNR 2R REERAEETA
BHBEREEASHE  BREA=EEYER - Hi
)\EEZE—jLE-HIH Hi[ 5,562,000 T £ #
2" FF 34,819,000 7T - HARFZFFIAU
AKRELEA BERERIRBEACEZRTEN
EERkEREERER  HABREETE -8
F—BRFENL - 5FFIFKEDEERRE
BEFERIIPEBE X% - RELZH 25
F“ﬂ* AREAXEFFBEANBERNER &%
ZEEKASFMEERA  XHBIABERE
BERBERBERENBEREZER » UHRESN
WAL RSEANBER 2T ERTE - XEBT
ERBEATSEINNBERETRE - 5T
FEERINPEES IRBERRRSE - MHILHE
BEREEERRA -

7



8

BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)

The Group has a wholly-owned subsidiary,

Culturecom (Zhuhai) Technology Limited
("Culturecom Zhuhai”), which also engaged in
Digital Marketing starting in 2019. In or around
middle of 2019, it began its venture into using
popular photo Apps platforms to advertise for
customers. These platforms are more similar to
the tfraditional media advertising. The nature of
this business generally involved prepayments
for time slots on the media platforms. The
Group experienced a non-performance of a
media platform and eventually ferminated the
agreement with this platform. The Group is in
the process of recovery of prepayments for
media time slots or space amounting to about
HKS$10,574,000. Full provision has been made for
these prepayments.

The COVID-19 pandemic, while slowing down
overall business activities, it also caused delays
in certain projects where expenses were
incurred mainly for development of programs
or softwares for IP Express, which showed

uncertainties in its realisation.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)
Publishing and IP Licensing Business

The Publishing and IP licensing business is rather
static. A long established customer defaulted
in its payment due to financial difficulties.
As a result of uncertainty in recovery, the
Group provided HKS$2,731,000 impairment
on receivable from this customer. The Group
modified its business model from collecting
our royalties directly from the printing houses
instead of from licensees. The Group continues
to put more effort to broaden the scope of
licensing business and enticing customers fo
encompass the use of digital images. This
should enhance and improve the marketability
of IPs of the Group.

Online and Social Business

With the disposal of Ucan Commercial Limited,
a wholly-owned subsidiary at the end of last
fiscal year, the Group divested itself of its online
and social business entirely, thereby reducing
significant losses incurred by this business in
the past. The Group is seeking to divest from its
investment in digital cinema, putting more of its
resources on Digital Marketing.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)
Retail and Wholesales Business

The Group continues to work with a consultant
to develop sales and distribution channels
for its premium wine. While marketing plan
has been formulated focusing on direct and
consignment sales channels, including online
wine selling sites, and restaurant chains, the
COVID-19 pandemic has slowed the progress
and implementation of this marketing plan.

Catering Business

The Group disposed its Catering Business in
March 2020. This business incurred loss of about
HK$2,601,000 in 2020 and HK$1,360,000 in 2019.

PROSPECT

During the year, the Group is successful in
developing a strong Digital Marketing business
by putting a primary focus on building a
strong marketing and technical team of
professionals. With a notable acceleration on
revenue growth, the Group is making its way to
becoming a prominent Digital Marketing group.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

PROSPECT (Continued)

Although the significant growth in revenue
in the year may have come with significant
increases in expenses and costs, it is reflecting
the strong commitment of the Group in pushing
forth and becoming a prominent key player in
the Digital Marketing and IPs Commercialisation
markets. The Digital Marketing segment has
generated HK$144,821,000 in 2020 comparing
to HKS$5,784,000 in 2019. The operating results
of the Digital Marketing segment is a loss of
HK$24,603,000 in 2020, after taking up one-off
impairment on prepayments and recognition
of development costs totalling about
HK$13,571,000. In 2019, the Digital Marketing
segment suffered a loss of HKS$5,396,000 with
total revenue of HK$5,784,000. Significant
expenditure are incurred in the early stage of
business development. The Group is well poised
to better manage its expenses and costs as
it gained experience in Digital Marketing in
this ever and fast changing digital era. The
Group will focus on streamling operating
structure while deploying more resources in
Digital Marketing. Costs and expenses will be
monitored to ensure efficient and effective
utilisation of resources. While the COVID-19
pandemic is still lingering on, the Group is
optimistic that performance will continue to
improve with growth being maintained.

The Group is confident it has built a base for
achieving a turn-around. As stated before,
the Group will continue to invest in IPs
related business and continue to enhance
the Company’s value through our growing
businesses.
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APPRECIATIONS

| would like to express my sincere thanks to the
Board of Directors, our management and staff
for their continued dedication in the past year,
and to all our customers, suppliers, business
partners and shareholders for their enthusiastic
support of the Group.

Huang Mingguo
Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer
Hong Kong, 30 June 2020
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'MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL RESULTS

The Group’s consolidated net loss attributable
to the owners of the Company for the year
ended 31 March 2020 increased by 85.8% to
HK$58,235,000 or 82.6% to HK4.2 cents per share
(31 March 2019: loss of HK$31,335,000 or HK2.3
cents per share).

The analysis of consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income for the
year ended 31 March 2020 is as follows:

1.

Revenue

For the year ended 31 March 2020, the
Group’s overall turnover from continuing
operations increased by approximately
746% to HK$154,099,000 of which
approximately HKS$8,333,000, HKS$811,000,
HKS$144,821,000, and HK$134,000 (31
March 2019: HKS$11,059,000, HKS$1,337,000,
HK$5,784,000 and HK$26,000) were
attributable to our business of publishing
and intellectual properties ("IPs”) licensing,
online and social business, digital
marketing and retailing and wholesales
respectively.

The Group has recorded a decrease in
tfurnover for the business of publishing and
IPs licensing, representing a decrease
of approximately 24.6%. It was mainly
attributable to the drop in income on IPs
licensing of online game, online movie and
online TV series.

For the year ended 31 March 2020, the
turnover of the online and social business
segment has decreased by 39.3% to
HK$811,000 (31 March 2019: HKS$1,337,000)
compared to the last year. The decrease
was mainly due to the COVID-19 outbreak
impacting on industry cycle of digital
cinema in the PRC.
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FINANCIAL RESULTS (Continued)

1.

Revenue (Continued)

The turnover from the digital marketing
business significantly increased from
HK$5,784,000 to HK$144,821,000 for the year
ended 31 March 2020. It was mainly due
to continuous efforts put into building the
digital marketing segment as the Group’s
leading core business.

The turnover of retailing and wholesales
segment represents the sales of premium
wine of HK$134,000 was reported for the
year ended 31 March 2020 (31 March 2019:
HK$26,000).

Gross profit and gross profit
margins

The Group recorded a gross profit of
approximately HK$24,332,000 from
continuing operations with gross profit
margin of 15.8% for the year ended
31 March 2020 as compared to the
same period of 2019, which recorded a
gross profit of HK$11,765,000, restated.
Comparing the gross profits for both
periods, the positive development of
the digital marketing segment offset the
decrease from the publishing and IPs
licensing segment.

Culturecom Holdings Limited  Annual Report 2019-2020

BrisRE (4E)

1.

WA ()

B EHBEEERB 2 EXEAREBE_FZ
ZFE=ZA=1t—-BLFEMHS5784,000%E T
EFHZE 144,821,000 T TERBUEYT
BEHHEEEIBAEAEEETERLES
MFERAZLENFTEL -

TEEMB I B2 EXFERBE-ZZ
EE-ZA=+-BLEEREERHEER
1340008 T(=F—-—AFE=A=1+—H8:
26,0008 7T) °

EMNRBR=R

FEEZFBESEXBREE_S-2F=
A=+t - HLEFE#HEEF 24,332,000
BTRENRIS.8%  M-ZE-hFEHE
BER,765,0008 T(REF|) - LkEW

BHEZER > BEtHSERI B2 EE
BRREETHRREABEERRED B2

/J\ °



FINANCIAL RESULTS (Continued)

3.

Administrative expenses

The Group recorded an aggregate
administrative expenses from continuing
operations of approximately HKS46,097,000
for the year ended 31 March 2020 (2019:
HK$29,588,000, restated).

Such administrative expenses include
corporate fee, directors’ emolument, staff
cost, consultancy and other professional
fee. The increase in administrative
expenses from continuing operations
was mainly due to the development of
the digital marketing segment from PRC
subsidiaries.

Despite the increase in the total
administrative expenses for the year
ended 31 March 2020 as compared to the
same period of 2019, the Group adopted
cautious cost management and was able
to downsize non-profitable operations.

Other impairment losses

The impairment loss from continuing
operations recorded an one-off
impairment loss of HK$10,574,000 (2019:
Nil) for prepayments to suppliers in digital
marketing segment and the Company
had exercised civil complaints against the
suppliers for their suspected misconduct.

For the year ended 31 March 2020, the
amount of HK$8,941,000 for goodwill arising
from Egmen was impaired as its generated
operating loss to the Group for the year
ended.
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FINANCIAL RESULTS (Continued)
5. Loss before tax

The Group recorded a loss before tax from
continuing operations of approximately
HK$61,291,000 for the year ended 31 March
2020 (2019: HKS$21,219,000). Loss from
discontinued operation of approximately
HK$2,601,000 for the year ended 31 March
2020 (2019: HK$10,827,000, restated). The
Group has been successful in conftrolling
costs and disposing non-core loss making
operations.

Also, as at 31 March 2020, the Group has
net asset of approximately HK$235,719,000
(31 March 2019: HK$302,192,000). Net asset
value per share of HKS0.17 (31 March 2019:
HKS$0.22).

ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES

On 30 September 2019, Culturecom (Zhuhai)
Investments (Limited Partnership) (38 (Bk§) &
B (BRAE&M) (CCulturecom Investments”), a
wholly-owned indirect subsidiary of the Group,
entered intfo the Equity Transfer Agreement
(the “Agreement”) with Beijing WeiResearch
Info Technology Limited* (=¥ BAIEER&K
B HARADF)(CWeiResearch”), a connected
person of the Company at the subsidiary level,
to purchase from WeiResearch the remaining
45% of equity interest in Beijing Skyvior at a
consideration of RMB450,000. The Equity Transfer
Agreement is effective on 30 September
2019. Beijing Skyvior becomes a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Group and WeiResearch
would no longer be a connected person of the
Company.
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ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES
(Continued)

Beijing Skyvior acquired 100% equity interest
of Hyperchannel Info from an Independent
Third Party for a consideration of 45% equity
interest of Beijing Skyvor. This fransaction was
completed on 8 November 2019. Affer the
acquisition, Hyperchannel Info becomes a
subsidiary of Beijing Skyvior and Beijing Skyvior
changed from a wholly-owned subsidiary to a
non-wholly owned subsidiary under the Group.
Hyperchannel Info is engaged in the digital
marketing business in PRC.

DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

During the year, the Group implemented
measures to streamline its operations. On
9 August 2019, the Group entered into
an agreement to dispose of the entire
shareholdings of its subsidiaries, X{EF F4H4& 2
RORYDBRLE, XERMEBRKBERCRIDBRA
7 and XEFERAIEEHECRINBRAE to Mr. Tang
U Fai, a director of a wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Group for a total cash consideration of
RMB221,000. The tfransaction was completed on
17 September 2019.

On 9 March 2020, the Group entered intfo an
agreement to disposal of the entire equity
interest of Sai Van Club to an Independent
Third Party for a total cash consideration of
HK$600,000. The transaction was completed on
9 March 2020.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EHEFmESH

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL
RESOURCES

As of 31 March 2020, the Group had bank and
deposits with financial institutions balances in
aggregate of approximately HK$154,000,000,
pledged bank deposit of approximately
HK$23,261,000 and financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss of approximately
HK$715,000.

As of 31 March 2020, the Group had bank
borrowing of approximately HK$8,749,000 and
its was secured by a pledged bank deposit for
granting banking facility to the Group. Save
as above, no assets of the Group has been
pledged as at 31 March 2020.

The Group has no significant exposure to
foreign exchange rate fluctuation except for
the currency of RMB.

As of 31 March 2020, the Group had a net
current asset of approximately HKS$213,834,000
(31 March 2019: HK$269,187,000) and a
current rafio of 5.4 (31 March 2019: 26.0). The
Group’s total liabilities as of 31 March 2020
amounted to approximately HK$50,828,000 (31
March 2019: HKS$12,167,000) and represented
approximately 23.0% (31 March 2019: 4.3%) to
equity attributable to owners of the Company.

Upon consideration of the above, the Directors
have no doubt that the Group will have
sufficient liquidity to finance its daily operations,
as reflected by its healthy financial status with
a wealth of cash flow and other resources.
As always, the Group will continue to follow
prudent and disciplined cash management
practices on any excess liquidity.
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EMPLOYMENT AND REMUNERATION
POLICIES

As of 31 March 2020, the Group had a total
of 177 employees of which 30 are based in
Hong Kong and 147 in the PRC. Total staff
costs from continuing operations incurred for
the year ended 31 March 2020 amounted
to approximately HK$26,590,000 (31 March
2019: HKS$17,373,000, restated). Remuneration
packages are maintained at competitive
levels and reviewed by the management
on a periodical basis. Discretionary bonuses
and incentive share options are awarded to
certain directors and employees according
to the assessment of individual merit and
performance.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS AND
CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As of 31 March 2020, the Group did not have
any significant capital commitment and
contingent liabilities (31 March 2019: nil).
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The Directors present their annual report and
the audited financial statements for the year
ended 31 March 2020.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding
company. The activities of its principal
associate and subsidiaries are set out in
notes 19 and 41 fo the consolidated financial
statements respectively.

SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATE

Details of the Group’s associate and of the
Company’s subsidiaries at 31 March 2020 are
set out in notes 19 and 41 to the consolidated
financial statements respectively.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31
March 2020 and the state of the Company’s
and the Group’s affairs as at that date are set
out in the financial statements on pages 78 to
270.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The aggregate turnover during the year
attributable to the Group’s five largest
customers accounted for 72.6% of the Group’s
tfurnover from continuing operations, of which
42.0% was attributable to the largest customer.

The aggregate purchases during the year
attributable to the Group’s five largest suppliers
accounted for 73.0% of the Group’s total
purchases from continuing operations, of which
60.7% was attributable to the largest supplier.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS
(Continued)

At no time during the year did a Director, an
associate of a Director or a shareholder of
the Company (which to the knowledge of the
directors own more than 5% of the Company’s
share capital) have an interest in any of the
Group’s five largest customers or suppliers.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the year
ended 31 March 2020 including a fair review
of the business and discussion of the principal
risks and uncertainties facing the Group and
indication of likely future developments in the
Group’s business, are set out in the "Chairman’s
Statement”, “Management Discussion and
Analysis” and “Financial Summary” sections of
this Annual Report. Save as disclosed in the
Company’s announcement, no important event
affecting the Group that has occurred since
the end of the financial year ended 31 March
2020.

DIVIDEND

No dividend was paid or proposed during
the year of 2020, nor has any dividend been
proposed since the end of the reporting period
(2019: nil).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

During the year, the Group spent approximately
HKS$491,000 on the acquisitions of property,
plant and equipment.

Details of these and other movements during
the year in the property, plant and equipment
of the Group are set out in note 16 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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SHARE CAPITAL, WARRANTS AND
SHARE OPTIONS

Details of movements during the year in the
share capital and the share option schemes
of the Company are set out in notes 32 and
33 to the consolidated financial statements
respectively.

RESERVES

Movements in the reserves of the Group and
the Company during the year are set out in
consolidated statement of changes in equity
and note 44 to the consolidated financial
statements respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As of 31 March 2020, the Company has
no reserves available for distribution to
shareholders.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and
liabilities of the Group for the past five financial
years is set out on pages 271 and 272.

Culturecom Holdings Limited  Annual Report 2019-2020

BE - AREFRBERE

FEERRNARARBRESE 2BHFED 5
BHRRE M BIRRMEEI2R 33

it 1
R AEERFOARBEZZHHIBRAES
ARBDRERGAUBRAMTA4 -

A2 ks
BE-_Z_ZF=A=+—HB AATLEAH
DIRTRER 2 HME -

PR

FEERBEABAMBFECXEREERARE
BIEHNE271 ERE272H



[T -

DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the year
and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors:

Ms. Chow Lai Wah Livia (Vice Chairman)

Mr. Huang Mingguo (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Kwan Kin Chung (Managing Director)

Mr. Yuen Kin

Independent Non-executive Directors:

Mr. Wong Kwan Kit
Mr. Fan Chun Wah Andrew
Mr. Mung Yat Lik

The Directors of the Company, including
Executive, and Independent Non-executive
Directors ("INEDs”) are subject to retirement by
rotation and re-election at the annual general
meeting of the Company. In accordance
with Clauses 101, T10(A) and 190(v) of the
Company’s Bye-Laws, Messrs. Huang Mingguo,
Yuen Kin, Wong Kwan Kit and Fan Chun Wah
Andrew will retire and, being eligible, offer
themselves, for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting.

None of the Directors proposed for re-election
at the forthcoming annual general meeting
has a service confract which is not terminable
by the Group within one year without payment
of compensation (other than statutory
compensation).

The Company has received the annual
confirmation of independence from each of
the INEDs as required under Rule 3.13 of Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing
Rules”). The Company considered all INEDs to
be independent.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF
DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Executive Directors

Ms. Chow Lai Wah Livia, aged 59, joined the
Company in April 2008 and was appointed as
an Executive Director on 17 May 2011, and as
Vice Chairman of the Company on 26 March
2012. Currently, Ms. Chow is a member of
the Corporate Governance Committee, the
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee of the Company. Ms. Chow is the
Director of L&W Holding Limited which is one of
the substantial shareholders of the Company.
Ms. Chow presently is responsible for corporate
management of the Group. Ms. Chow holds a
Master of Business Administration from Stillman
School of Business at Seton Hall University and
has more than 26 years of extensive experience
in executive development and corporate
management,
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF
DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT (Confinued)

Executive Directors (Continued)

Mr. Huang Mingguo, aged 48, was appointed
as an Executive Director and Chief Executive
Officer of the Company in July 2018. Mr. Huang
is a member of the Corporate Governance
Committee of the Company and is a Director
of certain subsidiaries of the Group. He holds
a Bachelor Degree in Chemistry from Peking
University and a Certificate of Advanced
Management Program from Harvard Business
School. Mr. Huang was the project manager of
market research division in P&G, China. He has
also set up and operated numerous companies
which were engaged in advertising media,
market research, capital management and
investment business. In 2010, he was appointed
as the Chairman of Panmedia Institute which
is the first nonprofit making think tank in China
established to undertake the development and
study of media knowledge and management.
In 2011 to 2014, he served as an Executive
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of
Shanghai Midas Media Limited. In August 2015,
Mr. Huang set up the venture fund - BREHE
LHREHAIERELE(BREM) investing in new
business startups. Mr. Huang has equity interest
in ETMHRBEZAREEEEMR A A, of which is
a general partner of KEHBEZHEH A ER
BiZE(BERAXK). Mr. Huang is also a limited
partner of BRBHEBHZPASHRAIERELE(BRE
££) which holds a 6.75% equity interest in Egmen
Technology Limited ("Egmen®), a non-wholly
owned subsidiary of the Company. Mr. Huang
is the legal representative and a Director of
Egmen.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF
DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Executive Directors (Continued)

Mr. Kwan Kin Chung, aged 51, joined the
Group in 1998 and was appointed as an
Executive Director and Managing Director
of the Company in March 2008. Mr. Kwan is
the Chairman of the Corporate Governance
Committee of the Company and is a Director
of certain subsidiaries of the Group. Mr. Kwan
held the position of Vice President of the Group
from 1998 to 2002 and was appointed as an
acting Chief Executive Officer of the Company
in April 2007. During the period of serving as
the Vice President of the Group, Mr. Kwan was
also the vice publisher of Tin Tin Daily News
where he gained wealth of experience in the
media industry. He holds a Bachelor Degree of
Arts in Economics from Zhongshan University,
Guangzhou, PRC. Mr. Kwan has extensive
experience in businesses restructuring and
corporate investment.,
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF
DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT (Confinued)

Executive Directors (Continued)

Mr. Yuen Kin, aged 65, was appointed as
an Executive Director of the Company in
September 2017 and Mr. Yuen is a Director of
certain subsidiaries of the Group. Mr. Yuen holds
a Master of Business Administration degree
from the University of Toronto, Canada. He is a
Chartered Professional Accountant in Canada
and he is a fellow member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and
of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants. He has extensive experience in
corporate finance, financial planning, reporting
and management.

He is an Independent Non-executive Director
of Lafe Corporation Limited (SGX:AYB), a
company listed on the Singapore Exchange.
He is also an Independent Non-executive
Director of Emerson Radio Corporation
(NYSEMKT: MSN), a company listed on The
American Stock Exchange. He is currently an
Independent Non-executive Director of Huayi
Tencent Entertainment Limited (stock code:
0419), a company listed on the Main Board of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. Mr.
Yuen had been a Non-executive Director of
Kong Sun Holdings Limited from January 2017 to
November 2017 (stock code: 0295), the shares
of which are listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF
DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Wong Kwan Kit, aged 48, was appointed
as an Independent Non-executive Director
of the Company in July 2018. Mr. Wong is
the Chairman of the Audit Committee, a
member of the Remuneration Committee and
the Nomination Committee of the Company.
Mr. Wong is currently an Independent Non-
executive Director of Man Sang International
Limited (stock code: 0938) and Sprocomm
Intelligence Limited (stock code: 1401), both
of companies listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

Mr. Wong holds a Master of Business
Administration degree from the Chinese
University of Hong Kong. He is a fellow member
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Mr. Wong has over 19 years
of experience in accounting and financial
management, mergers and acquisitions gained
from certain finance related positions in
companies listed in Hong Kong.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF
DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Independent Non-executive Directors
(Continued)

Mr. Fan Chun Wah Andrew JP, aged 41, was
appointed as an Independent Non-executive
Director of the Company in April 2015. Mr.
Fan is a member of the Audit Committee, the
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee of the Company. Mr. Fan is a
practicing certified public accountant in Hong
Kong with over 13 years of experience. He holds
a Bachelor Degree of Business Administration
(Accounting and Finance) from The University
of Hong Kong and a Bachelor Degree in
Laws from the University of London. Mr. Fan
is a member of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants in the United Kingdom
and an associate member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. He
is also a committee member of the tenth to
tfwelfth Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference of the Zhejiang Province, the fourth
and fifth Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference of Shenzhen and the Tenth Vice
Chairman of Zhejiang Province United Young
Association.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF
DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT (Confinued)

Independent Non-executive Directors
(Continued)

Mr. Fan is currently an Independent Non-
executive Director of Fulum Group Holdings
Limited (stock code: 1443), Chuang’s China
Investments Limited (stock code: 0298), Space
Group Holdings Limited (stock code: 2448),
Nameson Holdings Limited (stock code: 1982),
and Universal Star (Holdings) Limited (stock
code: 2346), all of which are companies listed
on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited. Mr. Fan is also currently
an Independent Non-executive Director of
Omnibridge Holdings Limited (stock code: 8462)
and CNC Holdings Limited (stock code: 8356)
listed on the Growth Enterprise Market of the
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. Mr.
Fan had been an Independent Non-executive
Director of Sinomax Group Limited fromm March
2014 to June 2020 (stock code: 1418) and Hong
Kong Resources Holdings Company Limited
from July 2015 to May 2017 (stock code: 2882),
the shares of all companies are listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited, and Sanbase Corporation Limited
from January 2018 to December 2019 (stock
code: 8501), the shares of the company are
listed on the Growth Enterprise Market of the
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

Culturecom Holdings Limited  Annual Report 2019-2020

BYFATES(E)

BELEERKAEGREEAZRARQIAKRHA
5% 0 1443) ~ T HERRERR AT (RMOMAR -
0208) - EFEEZRABR R AR MK :
2448) FEREZERBMRIB(ROMANR 1 1982) K

FER)BRQA (RMAR : 2346) (ZERQ
TE’\\%E/%H A*‘%Fﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁjf*ﬁim)Z’@L;F
HITES - BAERBTABRERERAT (R
BRI - 8462) R MBI EERIERER AR (R
B 8356)(Exﬁ"?ﬁ’\élﬁﬂﬁﬁA*%FﬁﬁFE
RARIFERE™) 2 BT o SBREEER
—E-ME=A E:gigiﬁﬁ %@?ﬁ%ﬁ
RABRMDNRE  1418) 2BUFHITES » T
R-ZB-HAFLtRAE-Z-—tERLAAEBER
ERAERDT (RO  2882) 2B UFHTE
E(ZELAZROINEBBERZAERLAE
WED)  YRZB-NFE-BEZF-hF+=
AHAEHEEE LA (RHAR  8501) (AL
ZRONEBBEXZMERLBARIERLT) 2
BYFHTES -



BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF
DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Independent Non-executive Directors
(Continued)

Mr. Mung Yat Lik, aged 62, was appointed as
an Independent Non-executive Director of
the Company in December 2018. Mr. Mung
is a member of the Audit Committee of the
Company.

He has 31 years of experience in investment
management, tourism, logistics and investment
property. In particular, he has extensive
experience in cooperation with state-owned
enterprises in investment and operations, as
well as cable media management. Mr. Mung
acted as the Vice President and general
manager of Guangdong Southern Yinshi Cable
Media Company Limited (ERmE AR K EE
BPBR2AT)and as a Director of Hoteline Network
Limited. Mr. Mung is currently the Managing
Director of Guangdong Guoye Greenhouse
Technology Limited (BRBEIE#ZEREERAF),
the vice president and investment director of
Xiamen Xinyou Logistics Company Limited (&
FIZERYREBEMR AT ) and the Vice President and
investment director of Hainan Shenxing Travel
Limited CERM{THRITLBRA A .
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF
DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Senior Management

Ms. Zhang Jingyu, aged 48, joined Culturecom
Group as Vice President in October 2018.
Ms. Zhang was the Chief Operating Officer
f EMXMEGLEEREAERAR from 2016 to
2018, the Senior Vice President of /8% &
AR A A from 2012 to 2014 and the Chief
Operating Officer of BERFAEFEEAER AT from
2010 to 20712. She holds a Bachelor Degree
in Accounting and Audit from Zhongshan
University, Guangzhou, PRC, and a Master of
Business Administration degree from Alliance
Manchester Business School, The University of
Manchester, in United Kingdom. Ms. Zhang has
over 21 years of extensive experience in the
marketing industry.

Mr. Gao Yu, aged 45, is one of the founders
of kR ZHMEHFEBMR AR (Egmen Technology
Limited), a subsidiary of the Group. Mr. Gao
was one of the founders of Dopod, a high-
end smartphone brand now acquired by HTC
in China. Prior to being an entrepreneur, he
worked for over 12 years in Microsoft and
acted as the marketing director of Windows
in the Greater China region, he was in charge
of the marketing and business development of
Windows OS and Windows Phone in Microsoft
Greater China.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF
DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Senior Management (Continued)

Mr. Gao has a good understanding of customer
needs, a strong systematic and execution
ability and many years of tfeam management
experience. He holds Bachelor Degrees in
Business Administration (& % & 12 £ £ )and in
Chemistry and Environmental Engineering
({LEERIBETIE), both from Beijing University of
Technology. Beijing., PRC.

Ms. Lee Yuk Ping, aged 52, joined the Group
in September 1997. Ms. Lee holds a Master
Degree of Professional Accounting. She is a
fellow member of both the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants and the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
She has extensive experience in auditing,
accounting and corporate finance.

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

The Company adopted its share option scheme
(the "2013 Scheme”) on its 2013 annual general
meeting held on 12 August 2013.

No shares are available for issue under 2013
Scheme as of the date of this Annual Report.
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ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE BERONEEFE 2T H
SHARES OR DEBENTURES

At no time during the year was the Company ARABREEATHE D B ERE A EET
or any of its subsidiaries, a party to any NEMZH BERABESAEBEAKRDT
arrangements to enable the Directors of the FAEMER 2RO SEEIZMER -
Company to acquire benefits by means of the

acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the

Company or any other body corporate.

DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS EREE

(A) Interests of the Directors (A) EEZCER
As of 31 March 2020, the interests and R-ZZE-EF=ZRA=+—H KQARARES
short positions of each Director of the RAEAQAARERBEIE(EEZERBSREE
Company in the shares, underlying shares 15k f50 (T 38 5 R ERE 1R B 1) 5B XV ) 2R3 ~
or debentures of the Company and HEROAEEZTFHEEEQ)RERZESER
its associated corporations (within the HERBIEXVHEIRESHBANELRRD
meaning of Part XV of the Securities and ARBRA(BERERSRAGHRAEE
Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”)) which are BRIXWEEIRBEEZERZIAR) ) =
required (a) to be notified to the Company (L) REBEFFRAEMRGIEIS2RALHETE
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to FriZ s MA s HE)RBELTRARAESE
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO TREEFRGBRETHANG A DA R
(including interests or short positions ZREERRAE

which he/she is taken or deemed to have
under such provisions of the SFO); or (b)
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be
entered in the register referred to therein;
or (c) pursuant to the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Companies to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange:
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ESEHREE

DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS REEE(E)
(Continued)
(A) Interests of the Directors (A) ESzfEam(E)
(Continued)
Interests in the shares of the Company RAERGR G2 Ew
Approximate
percentage
Number of of issued share
Name of Director Capacity Nature of interest shares held capital
EERTRE
EEps L) BEtE FEROHE ZBAESH
Ms. Chow Lai Wah Livia (i) Beneficial owner Personal interest 32,962,800 23.25%
BEEZL BRBA BARER
(i) Interests of a controlled Corporate interest 271,502,312
corporation DEER (Note 1)
SRRz ER (Hy=E1)
(i) Interests of spouse Personal interest 18,895,000
[ E BARER (Note 2)
(Hyz£2)
Mr. Huang Mingguo (i) Beneficial owner Personal interest 14,460,000 1.08%
ERELE EREAA 18 ARz
(i) Interests of a controlled Corporate Inferest 500,000
corporation (Note 3)
RENRzER NEER (KH3£3)
Notes: Mz :

Uo

Ms. Chow Lai Wah Livia (“Ms. Chow”) has
conftrolling interests in L&W Holding Limited
(“L&W”), L&W is beneficially interested in
271,502,312 shares in the Company. Accordingly,
Ms. Chow is deemed to be inferested in
271,502,312 shares in the Company under the
SFO.

Mr. Dizon Basilio (“Mr. Dizon”), the spouse of
Ms. Chow, is beneficially interested in 18,895,000
shares. Therefore, Ms. Chow is deemed fo be
interested in 18,895,000 shares in the Company
under the SFO.

Mr. Huang Mingguo has controlling interests in
Jet Victory Investments Limited (“Jet Victory™).
Jet Victory is beneficially interested in 500,000
shares in the Company. Accordingly, Mr. Huang
is deemed to be interested in 500,000 shares in
the Company under the SFO.

All interests stated above represent long
positions.

1. BAEFELZE(AZL)RL&W Holding Limited
TLawW) EEEHEEE  LAWEREH
271,602,312 A R AR 9 2 & &= ° ;A
BEZFSRPERG Bt R BERES
271,602,312 B AR A TR R 2z o

2. ZREELE(ZEEREDDRAZLZERR BRE
518,895,000 | ifn - it - RIFFEHZRPE K
Bl » Bz ¥R A B 18,895,000 RAA B R D
2 o

S FHHE LR Jet Victory Investments Limited
(MJet Victory N EEZHIMERER © Jet Victory
BEREBEL00000 ARG 2R B
I REIFSRBEGRS  EXERERES
500,000 B A A B R 2 2 o

LIPTE R TRBIFE ©
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DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS
(Continued)
(A) Interests of the Directors

(B)

(Continued)

Save as disclosed above, as of 31
March 2020, none of the Directors of the
Company had interests or short positions
in any securities of the Company or any
of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which are
required (a) to be nofified fo the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including inferests or short positions
which he/she is taken or deemed to have
under such provisions of the SFO); or (b)
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be
entered in the register referred to therein;
or (c) pursuant to the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Companies to be notified fo the Company
and the Stock Exchange.

Interests of Substantial Shareholders

As of 31 March 2020, so far as is known to
any Director or Chief Executive Officer of
the Company, the following person had
an interest or short position in the shares or
underlying shares of the Company which
would fall to be disclosed to the Company
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of
Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded
in the register to be kept by the Company
under Section 336 of the SFO:
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DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS ERKEE)

(Continued)

(B) Interests of Substantial Shareholders B) FEREER(F)
(Continued)
Interests in the shares and underlying RERGRGRIEER G 2w

shares of the Company

Approximate

Number percentage of
of shares issued share
Name Capacity held capital
HEBITRA
=8 5% RO E ZERBEDL
L&W Holding Limited Beneficial owner 271,502,312 19.52%
ERBEBA
Mr. Dizon Basilio Beneficial owner, interests in a 323,360,112 23.25%
FHBEE controlled corporation and
interests of spouse (Note 1)
ERERA - ZEATF
2R KA EER (M)
Ms. Chow Lai Wah Livia Beneficial owner, interests in a 323,360,112 23.25%

BAEEZL controlled corporation and
interests of spouse (Note 2)
ERERA - ZEATF
2R KA EER (HEE2)



38

DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS

(Continued)

(B) Interests of Substantial Shareholders

(Continued)

Interests in the shares and underlying
shares of the Company (Continued)

Notes:

1. Mr. Dizon Basilio ("Mr. Dizon”) is beneficially
interested in 18,895,000 shares in the Company.
Mr. Dizon also has confrolling interests of 65% in
L&W Holding Limited ("L&W"). L&W is beneficially
interested in 271,502,312 shares in the Company.
Ms. Chow Lai Wah Livia (*Ms. Chow"), the spouse
of Mr. Dizon and the Director of the Company,
is beneficially interested in 32,962,800 shares in
the Company. Accordingly, Mr. Dizon is deemed
to be interested in 323,360,112 shares in the
Company under the SFO.

2. Ms. Chow is beneficially interested in 32,962,800
shares in the Company. Ms. Chow is the spouse
of Mr. Dizon and has controlling inferests in L&W.
Accordingly, She is deemed to be inferested in
323,360,112 shares in the Company under the
SFO.

All interests stated above represent long
positions.

Save as disclosed above, as of 31 March
2020, the Directors and the Chief Executive
Officer of the Company were not aware
of any person who had an interest or
short position in the shares or underlying
shares of the Company which would fall
to be disclosed to the Company under the
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV
of the SFO, or which were recorded in the
register to be kept by the Company under
Section 336 of the SFO.
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DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS

(Continued)

(C) Interests in shares of associated
corporations of the Company

Name of the

associated corporation
HELE S B

Espns

Name of Director

'ORS’ REPORT
EEEREE

EmiE(E

(C) RARFMEEE 2R 2B

Approximate percentage of
shareholding on the associated

corporation
REBEZEREZBNE DL

Egmen Technology Limited
ERZHPIRZERAF

Note:

1.

=RELE

Mr. Huang Mingguo (“Mr. Huang”) has equity
interest in EKEHM A BLHREEEFBR A A, of
which is a General Partner of %kEHPEEHE
HAERELEERAEI). Mr. Huang is also a
Limited partner of %k BHF B PSS HAXERE R
#(B R4 ), which holds a 6.75% interest in
Egmen Technology Limited ("Egmen”), of which
the Company holds a 55% indirect interests.
Mr. Huang is the legal representative and the
Director of Egmen.

All interests stated above represent long
positions.

Mr. Huang Mingguo

FEEE -

1. EREEE(EEEDRKETHEEZAREE
BEERADEERE MAJKESHHZAZH
RIERECE(EREMN ZEBEENA - BEE
TARKEBTELASHAXRELE(BREN)
ZEREUAN  BELRSTMRKEBRLTF
TZHM12675% % MARBFESZT
P1565% MiE#ERE - EXERZHFMIZEERERA

k&S -

LT R BIFR o
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN
CONTRACTS

No confracts of significance to which the
Company or any of ifs subsidiaries was a party
and in which a Director of the Company had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time
during the year.

CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

The Group had carried on a continuing
connected transaction ("CCT”) on 24 May
2019, the details of which are disclosed below
in compliance with the requirement of Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules.

On 24 May 2019, a subsidiary of the Company,
Beijing Skyvior Technology Co. Ltd* (dtZEEE
BB AR DT ) ("Beijing Skyvior”) and Beijing
WeiResearch Info Technology Limited* (4t 3 #%
HERAGERERMBGAERALT)(WeiResearch”)
entered into the Servicing Agreement and the
Licensing Agreement ("CCT Agreements”).
WeiResearch holds 45% in the Beijing Skyvior
and is a connected person of the Company
as it is a substantial shareholder of Beijing
Skyvior. Other than the holding of a 45% equity
interest in the Beijing Skyvior, WeiResearch
is otherwise not a connected person of the
Company. WeiResearch is a connected person
at the subsidiary level whilst the fransactions
contemplated under the CCT Agreements will
be a continuing connected fransactions of the
Company.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

On 30 September 2019, Culturecom (Zhuhai)
Investments (Limited Partnership)* (3 & (% & )
RELEERSENK)) a wholly-owned indirect
subsidiary of the Group, entered into the
Equity Transfer Agreement (the “Agreement”)
with WeiResearch, a connected person of
the Company at the subsidiary level, to
purchase from WeiResearch 45% of equity
interest in Beijing Skyvior at a consideration of
RMB450,000. The Equity Transafer Agreement is
effective on 30 September 2019, Beijing Skyvior
became a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Group and WeiResearch would no longer be a
connected person of the Company.

The Board has approved the CCT Agreements
and the fransactions contemplated thereunder.
The Independent Non-executive Directors
confirmed that the proposed terms of the
CCT Transactions which will be conducted
pursuant to the CCT Agreements are fair and
reasonable, on normal commercial terms or
better and in the interests of the Company and
the Shareholders as a whole.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(a) Servicing Agreement

HEBEXS(E)

(o) R iHh=

42

Pursuant to the Servicing Agreement
signed on 24 May 2019, the Group
will be given priority by WeiResearch
in the procurement of the Services
to WeiResearch provided that the
material terms offered by the Group
are comparable to those offered by
independent third parties. The Scope of
the Services will be determined based on
WeiResearch’s or its customers’ marketing
campaign specifications fo be agreed
on project-based terms. The proposed
monetary cap of the Services from the
date of the Servicing Agreement up to 31
December 2019 is RMB80,000,000. After
signing the service agreement on 24 May
2019, no service to WeiResearch offered by
the Group. WeiResearch would no longer
be a connected person of the Group
after the Equity Transfer agreement was
executed.

(b) Licensing Agreement

Pursuant to the Licensing Agreement
signed on 24 May 2019, WeiResearch
licenses the use of its Software to the
Group exclusively and irrevocably for three
years. The Group shall have access to the
Software to carry out digital marketing
data analysis for the purpose of its ordinary
and usual course of business. The proposed
annual caps of the licensing fee payable
by the Beijing Skyvior to WeiResearch
pursuant to the Licensing Agreement for
the 12 months ending on the first, second
and third anniversary of the date of the
Licensing Agreement are RMB750,000,
RMB750,000 and RMB750,000 respectively.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(b) Licensing Agreement (Continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2020, the
licensing fee paid to WeiResearch was
approximately RMB187,500. After the Group
acquired 45% equity interest of Beijing
Skyvior from WeiResearch on 30 September
2019, WeiResearch would no longer be a
connected person of the Group.

The auditors of the Company have provided a
letter to the Board of Directors of the Company
confirming the matters stated in Rule 14A.56
of the Listing Rules in respect of the continuing
connected transactions under Servicing
Agreement and Licensing Agreement took
place during the year.

Save as the above disclosed, no other
contracts of significance to which the
Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party
and in which a Director of the Company had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time
during the year.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN
COMPETING BUSINESS

None of the Directors nor their respective
associates had any business which competed
or was likely to compete, either directly or
indirectly, with the business of the Group at the
end of the year or at any time during the year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights
under the Company’s Bye-Laws, or the laws of
Bermuda, which would oblige the Company to
offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing
shareholders.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY

Pursuant to the Company’s Bye-Laws, every
Director or other officers of the Company shall
be entitled to be indemnified out of the assets
of the Company against all losses or damages
which he may sustain or incur in or about
the execution of the duties of his office, or
otherwise in relation thereto.

The Company has arranged appropriate
Directors’ and Officers’ liability insurance
coverage for the Directors and Officers of the
Group.

REPURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION
OF LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor its subsidiaries have
repurchased, sold or redeemed any of the
listed securities in the Company during the year
ended 31 March 2020.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee of the Company,
with written terms of reference in line with
the code provisions set out in the Code on
Corporate Governance Practices (the "Code”)
as stipulated in Appendix 14 to the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing
Rules”) on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the "Stock Exchange”), currently
comprises of three INEDs, namely Mr. Wong
Kwan Kit, Mr. Fan Chun Wah Andrew and Mr.
Mung Yaft Lik.

The Audit Committee of the Company
has reviewed with the management the
accounting principles and practices adopted
by the Group and discussed the infernal
conftrol, risk management and financial
reporting matters including the review of the
audited financial statement for the year ended
31 March 2020.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

During the year, the Group has complied
with the relevant laws and regulations that
have a material impact on the business of the
Group in all material aspect and there were
no circumstances of material breach or non-
compliance of applicable laws and regulations.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE REPORT

Regarding the ESG performance, the Group
strictly complied with applicable regulations,
laws, and standards related to environmental
and social aspects. For the year ended 31
March 2020, managerial focus on digitalization
continues to assist the Group to achieve long-
term business resilience, fulfilling its economic,
environmental and social sustainability.
Engagement with stakeholders has resulted
in raised concerns on key material issues
on various social aspects. The Group will
contfinue to identify areas of improvement
for the concerned aspects and keep close
communication with its stakeholders for
advancing ESG management.

A separate environmental, social and
governance report is expected to be published
on the website of the Stock Exchange no later
than three months after the publication of this
report,

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

A report on the principle corporate governance
practices adopted by the Company is set out
on pages 48 to 66 of the annual report.
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COMPLIANCE WITH THE

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS OF
LISTED ISSUERS

The Company has adopted the "Model Code
for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers” as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing
Rules as its own code for dealing in securities
of the Company by the Directors (the “Model
Code”). Having made specific enquiry of all
Directors, the Company confirmed that all
Directors have complied with the required
standard as set out in the Model Code during
the year ended 31 March 2020.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly
available to the Company and within the
knowledge of the Directors, as at the date
of this report, the Company has maintained
sufficient public float as required under the
Listing Rules.

AUDITOR

The financial statements of the Company for
the year ended 31 March 2020 were audited by
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, who will retire and a
resolution to re-appoint Deloitte Touche
Tohmatsu as auditors of the Company will be
proposed at the forthcoming annual general
meeting.

On behalf of the Board

Huang Mingguo
Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 30 June 2020
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INTRODUCTION

The Group is committed to achieving high
standards of corporate governance which
is crucial to the development of the Group
and safeguard the interests of the Company’s
shareholders. To accomplish this, the Group has
adopted practices which meet the Code as set
out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules. During
the year, the Company has complied with the
Code except for the following deviations:

CODE PROVISION A.4.1

Under the code provision A.4.1, Non-
executive Directors should be appointed for
a specific term, subject to re-election. The
current Independent Non-executive Directors
of the Company are not appointed for a
specific term. However, all Directors (including
Executive and Non-executive) of the Company
are subject to retirement by rotation at the
Annual General Meeting in accordance
with Bye-Law 110(A) and 190(v) of the Bye-
Laws of the Company. As such, the Company
considers that sufficient measures have been
taken to ensure that the Company’s corporate
governance practices are no less exacting than
those in the Code.
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CODE PROVISION E.1.2

Under the code provision E.1.2, the Chairman
of the Board should attend the Annual General
Meeting. The position of the Chairman of the
Board was not filled before the Company’s
Annual General Meeting held on 28 August
2019. However, an Executive Director, present
at the annual general meeting who then took
the chair of that meeting in accordance with
the Bye-Laws of the Company.

The Company will arrange for the election of
the new Chairman of the Board as soon as
practicable in order to fill up the vacancy of
Chairman.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code
as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules
as its own code for dealing in securities of
the Company by the Directors. Having made
specific enquiry of all Directors, the Company
confirmed that all Directors have complied with
the required standard as set out in the Model
Code during the year ended 31 March 2020.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

As at 31 March 2020, the Board comprises
of the Vice Chairman, the Chief Executive
Officer, the Managing Director, one Executive
Director and three Independent Non-executive
Directors. The Board of Directors is principally
accountable to the shareholders and is
responsible for the leadership and conftrol of
the Group including overseeing the Group’s
businesses, strategic directions, financial
performance, setting objectives and business
development plans, and monitoring the
performance of the senior management.

s
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued) EEE(4&)

The Board of Directors meets regularly EEEEFeCHAMEEE USRI RERE -
throughout the year to formulate overall EEREECERRERMBERE  XHEEE
strategy, monitor business development as well EBRAREERAERREF EEGEETS
as the financial performance of the Group BREBAEBETHAUEEARAEBEZHEEE -

and has formal procedures on matters for EENFRAETESEEE2HEREUOT
consideration and decision-making. The Board

of Directors has delegated certain authorities

to the senior management for the day-to-day

management of the Group’s operations. The

attendance of Directors at the board meetings

held during the year is as follows:

Attendance/
Number of
Directors Meetings
HERE
= BERH
Executive Directors BITES
Ms. Chow Lai Wah Livia (Vice Chairman) BEELZL (FIZE) 3/14
Mr. Huang Mingguo (Chief Executive Officer) ERELE (fTHEH) 14/14
Mr. Kwan Kin Chung (Managing Director) BARER 4 (EEAACHE) 9/14
Mr. Yuen Kin ® BXxE 12/14
Independent Non-executive Directors BYFHTES
Mr. Wong Kwan Kit BEEAEE 14/14
Mr. Fan Chun Wah Andrew TBERERLE 14/14
Mr. Mung Yat Lik R—hEE 14/14
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

The Company has received the annual
confirmation of independence from each of
the Independent Non-executive Directors as
required under Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
The Company considered all Independent Non-
executive Directors to be independent.

DIRECTORS’ CONTINUOUS TRAINING
AND PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

Pursuant to code provision A.6.5 of the CG
Code, all Directors should participate in
continuous professional development to refresh
their knowledge and skills. This is fo ensure
that their confribution to the Board remains
informed and relevant. Reading materials on
relevant topics are issued to Directors where
appropriate. Each Director received induction
on the first occasion of his/her appointment,
so as to ensure that he/she has appropriate
understanding of the business and operations
of the Group and that he/she is sufficiently
aware of his/her responsibilities and obligations
under the Listing Rules and other relevant legal
and regulatory requirements.

During the year ended 31 March 2020,
all Directors participated in continuous
professional development relevant to the duties
and responsibilities of the Directors under the
relevant legal and regulatory requirement.
Such continuous professional development was
delivered via reading materials in relation to
legal or regulatory updates and/or attending
fraining courses provided by the legal advisors.

B
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has established an Audit
Committee with written terms of reference
which is aligned with the code provisions set
out in the Code.

The Audit Committee meets at least twice
a year for reviewing the reporting of annual
and interim results and other information to
the shareholders, and the effectiveness and
objectivity of the audit process. Additional
meetings may be held by the Audit Committee
from time to time to discuss special projects
or other issues which the Audit Committee
considers necessary. The external auditors
of the Company may request a meeting
if they consider that one is necessary. The
Audit Committee also provides an important
link between the Board and the Company’s
auditors in matters coming within the scope of
its terms of reference and keeps under review
the independence and objectivity of the
auditors.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE (Continued)

Currently, the Audit Committee comprises of
three Independent Non-executive Directors.
The Audit Committee was chaired by Mr. Wong
Kwan Kit.

During the year, the Audit Committee reviewed
with the management the accounting
principles and practices adopted by the Group
and discussed about auditing, infernal control,
risk management and financial reporting
matters including the review of the audited
financial statements and unaudited interim
financial statements.

During the year, the members and attendance
of the meetings of the Audit Committee are as
follows:
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Attendance/

Number of

Directors Meetings
HERE,

BEE BREXRH
Mr. Wong Kwan Kit BEEAREE 5/5
Mr. Fan Chun Wah Andrew SBERELLE 5/5
Mr. Mung Yat Lik S—H%%E 5/5
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ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES OF
CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER

Under Code Provision A.2.1, the roles of
Chairman and Chief Executive Office ("CEQO")
should be separated and should not be
performed by the same individual. The division
of responsibilities between the Chairman
and CEO should be clearly established and
set out in writing. The Chairman’s roles are
convening meetings of the Board and make
decision of the Group’s business strategies.
Currently, the CEO, Mr. Huang Mingguo, is
primarily responsible for the daily operations of
the Group in accordance with the goals set
up by the Board and no Chairman has been
designated yet.

The CEO is also supported by other Executive
Directors and Senior Management. The Board
believes that the Company has already a
strong corporate governance structure in place
to ensure effective oversight of management.
The Board will continue to review the
effectiveness of current management structure
from time to time and may make changes
if and when appropriate. The Board will also
continue fo monitor and review the Company’s
corporate governance practices to ensure
compliance with the Code.
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TERMS OF NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Under the code provision A.4.1, Non-executive
Directors should be appointed for a specific
term, subject to re-election. The current
Independent Non-executive Directors of the
Company are not appointed for a specific
term. However, all Directors (including
Executive, and Independent Non-executive
Directors) of the Company are subject to
retirement by rotation at the annual general
meeting in accordance with Bye-Law 110(A)
and 190(v) of the Bye-Laws of the Company.
As such, the Company considers that sufficient
measures have been taken to ensure that the
Company’s corporate governance practices
are no less exacting than those in the Code.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee of the Group
has been established in November 2005 with
written terms of reference in line with the
Code. The Remuneration Committee will
meet as and when necessary or as requested
by any Committee member to consider
and recommend to the Board the Group’s
remuneration policy and structure and to
review and determine the remuneration
packages of the Executive Directors and senior
management. The Directors are remunerated
with reference to their respective duties
and responsibility with the Company, the
Company’s performance and current market
situation.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
(Continued)

Currently, the Remuneration Committee
comprises of two Independent Non-executive
Directors and one Executive Director. The
Remuneration Committee was chaired
by Mr. Fan Chun Wah Andrew. Details of
emoluments of the Directors from the Group
for the year are as disclosed in note 15 of the
consolidated financial statements.

Statistics of each Remuneration Committee
member’s attendance at the Remuneration
Committee Meeting:

FMEEE(A)

FHEESRHM AR UFHITESR —EHT
ESEM - FHEES 2 ERERBRERE X
FEREEESCMEcHBERGESMBRERN
AE 15K -

By MEEENELETHNEEEEEZ2HATH
b

Attendance/

Directors No. of Meetings
HERE

BE= =N
Mr. Fan Chun Wah Andrew SBERESE /1
Ms. Chow Lai Wah Livia BEEZL /1
Mr. Wong Kwan Kit BEERAEE /1
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

According to the Bye-laws of the Company,
the Company established a Nomination
Committee on 26 March 2012 with written tferms
of reference, to formulate nomination policy
for the Board’s consideration and implement
the Board’s approved nomination policy. The
Board of Directors has the power from time to
time to appoint any person as a Director either
to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to
the Board of Directors. The nomination shall
be taken in consideration of the nominee’s
qualification, ability and potential contribution
tfo the Company.

According to the written terms of reference,
the Nomination Committee shall consist of
three Directors, a majority of whom shall
be Independent Non-executive Directors
appointed by the Board of Directors from time
tfo fime. Currently, the Nomination Committee
comprises of one Executive Director, Ms.
Chow Lai Wah Livia, and two Independent
Non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Fan Chun
Wah Andrew and Mr. Wong Kwan Kit.

Nomination Policy

During the year under review, in response to
the amendment to the CG Code effective
on 1 January 2019, the Company has also
adopted the Director Nomination Policy.
Such policy sets out the selection criteria and
process and the Board succession planning
considerations in relation to nomination and
appointment of Directors of the Company, and
aims to ensure that the Board has a balance of
skills, experience and diversity of perspectives
appropriate to the Company, the continuity of
the Board and appropriate leadership at Board
level.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE
(Continued)

Nomination Policy (Continued)

The Director Nomination Policy sets out
the factors for assessing the suitability and
the potential contribution to the Board of
a proposed candidate, including but noft
limited to the following: character and
integrity; qualifications including professional
qualifications, skills, knowledge and experience
that are relevant to the Company’s business
and corporate strategy; diversity in all aspects,
including but not limited to gender, age (18
years or above), cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional experience,
skills, knowledge and length of service;
requirements of Independent Non-executive
Directors on the Board and independence
of the proposed Independent Non-executive
Directors in accordance with the Listing Rules;
and commitment in respect of available time
and relevant interest to discharge duties
as a member of the Board and/or Board
committee(s) of the Company.

Board Diversity Policy

The Board has adopted its own board diversity
policy ("Board Diversity Policy”). The Board
Diversity Policy aimed to achieve diversity of
the Board through consideration of a number
of factors, including but not limited to gender,
age, cultural, educational background and
professional experience. The Nomination
Committee of the Company shall review the
Board Diversity Policy as appropriate and make
recommendations on any proposed revisions to
the Board.

Board appointments will be based on objective

criteria having due regard to the benefits of
diversity of the Board.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
COMMITTEE

According to the Bye-laws of the Company, the
Company established a Corporate Governance
Committee (the "CGC") on 26 April 2010
with written terms of reference. The CGC
obligates to advise upon any transaction of the
Company which the Board is proposed to enter
or transact for and on behalf of the Company,
and give a collective opinion to the Board as
to the propriety, feasibility and prudence of
entering into such transactions.

According to the written terms of reference,
the CGC comprised of 4 members. Currently
the CGC is chaired by Mr. Kwan Kin Chung.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Directors’ Responsibilities for the
Financial Statements

The Directors are responsible for the
preparation of the financial statements for
each financial period which give a true and
fair view of the state of affairs of the Group
and of the results and cash flows for that
period. In preparing the financial statements
for the year ended 31 March 2020, the
Directors have selected suitable accounting
policies and applied them consistently, made
judgments and estimates that are prudent, fair
and reasonable and prepared the financial
statements on a going concern basis. The
Directors are also responsible for keeping
proper accounting records which disclose with
reasonable accuracy at any time the financial
position of the Group, for safeguarding the
assets of the Group and for taking reasonable
steps for the prevention and detection of fraud
and other irregularities.

B

l\_lﬂ iEﬂ:

TEEREES

REAQFZ2FHAA  ARFAER=-F-FF
MA-ZtHARERMYGXERZES  WBEHSE
HEESE CRXELRZESEERESEAL
RAHRRANR B FAER] LHET ZEMARRQF
3‘5%?&'1 BRR UBRTLUZERZZEEME T
THEREEMDESSRUARER -

REEEBESE CXEREETEBENER
8 B tEERZEESG2TFEABARRBELL

FERE&
EEHPBRR2ER
EFASRRRLYBPHAEAFRRAEE

RZPBE 2 BRARFEEERERE 2V BR
R MNRRBE-ZT-EF=-A=T-HILFE
ZHBHRRE  EFCEERERERSEZS
f—I'IBZ% 1’EtH§TE ’D\$&AIEZ¥U§E&{E§+

E’M_Icﬂﬁvf's‘iﬁéiiﬁﬁﬁiﬁzﬁﬂxﬁlﬂﬂﬁﬂkzﬂzjc
EGRRE  URBEAEEZEERRKDNAER
Fefr It REFERFR EMERITS -

£ 2019-2020 ZILBEEBERAT 59

MEGGVERNANCE REPORT



60

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT
(Continued)

Auditor’s Responsibilities and
Remuneration

During the year, the audit fee for the Group
amounted to approximately HKS1,950,000.

The statement of the auditor of the Company
regarding their reporting responsibilities is set
out in the Independent Auditor’s Report on
pages 67 to 77.

Risk Management and Internal control

The Board acknowledges its responsibility to
ensure sound and effective risk management
and internal contfrol systems and reviewing
their effectiveness on an ongoing basis. The
risk management and internal control systems
are reviewed at least annually to ensure the
adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and
experience, training programs and budgeft
of the Group’s infernal audit and financial
reporting functions.

Risk Management and Internal
Control Systems

The Group’s risk management and internal
control systems are designed to manage and
mitigate risks, rather than eliminate risks, and
can only provide reasonable and not absolute
assurance against material misstatement or loss.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT
(Continued)

Risk Management and Internal
Control Systems (Continued)

Through the Audit Committee and Corporate
Governance Committee, the Board conducts
annual review of the effectiveness of the
Group’s risk management and internal
control systems, covering the material
control, including financial, operational
and compliance confrols. The management
are primarily responsible for applying and
for supporting the risk management and
internal control processes. The operating units
and support functions are facilitated and
coordinated by the management, and ensure
that risk management processes and mitigation
plans follow good practices and guidelines
established in their day-to-day operations. Any
risk events and incidents idenftified are reported
by the operating units and support functions to
the management in a timely manner.

Main Features of Risk Management
and Internal Control Systems

The key elements of the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems
include the establishment of strategic risk
register fo monitor the identified risks, the
assessment and evaluation of risks, the
continuous updating of risk responses for each
key risk identified to ensure the effectiveness of
the mitigation procedures on an ongoing basis.
A risk maftrix approach is adopted to determine
the significance of the risk after evaluation
of the risk in accordance to the likelihood
of occurrence and severity of the risk event
identified. The significance of the risks reflects
the level of management’s attention and risk
responses.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT
(Continued)

Main Features of Risk Management
and Internal Control Systems
(Continued)

Risk management process is integrated with
the internal control systems, so that the
Group’s ability to handle risks that hinder the
achievement of financial, operational and
compliance goals are strengthened and the
allocation of resources are more adequate.

Process used to identify, evaluate
and manage significant risks

The Group develops a preliminary inventory of
events that could influence the achievement
of the Group’s business objectives. The
Group identifies outside and inside events by
reviewing its external and internal environment
and stakeholders, that have an influence or
potential influence on the Group’s ability to
achieve its strategy and business objectives.
The risk identification process takes place at
least once a year. Furthermore, any risk events
and incidents identified by the operating units
and support functions will be reported to the
management in a fimely manner.

The risks identified are evaluated with a
risk matrix which prioritises risks according
to the likelihood of their occurrence and
the significance of their impact on the
achievement of the Group’s business
objectives. Following the review of the risk
matrix, the Group selects and deploys the
corresponding risk responses and investigates
the mitigation procedures to be executed
to ensure the identified significant risks were
managed to an acceptable level.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT
(Continued)

Process used to review the effectiveness
of the Risk Management and Internal
Control Systems

The Group does noft have an internal audit
function due to the size of the Group and for
cost effectiveness consideration. The Board
would be directly responsible for internal
control of the Group and for reviewing its
effectiveness. The Group continues to review
the need for an internal audit function annually.
An independent consultant (“the Consultant”)
was engaged to perform a review on the risk
management and infernal control systems. The
Consultant has reported findings and areas for
improvement to the Board and management.
The Board and management are of the view
that no material defects are noted in the
Group’s risk management and internal conftrol
systems.

The recommendations from the Consultant are
properly followed up by the Group to ensure
that they are implemented within a reasonable
period of time. The Board considers the Group’s
risk management and internal control systems
are adequate and effective and no significant
control failings or weaknesses was identified for
the year ended 31 March 2020.

Inside Information Policy

The Group has established policies for
the handling and dissemination of inside
information. Such policy is set out inside the
staff manual and all staff is required to comply.
In addition, each personnel are granted a
specific level of access to the price sensitive
and inside information. The Directors, senior
management and employees are informed with
the latest regulatory updates.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Lee Yuk Ping, the company secretary of
the Company, is a full time employee of the
Company. During the year, the company
secretary has duly complied with the relevant
professional training requirement under Rule
3.29 of the Listing Rules.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

The Company is aware of ifs responsibility to
look affer the interests of its Shareholders.
Pursuant to the Company’s Bye-laws 70 and
section 74 of Bermuda Companies Act 1981
(as amended) (the “Act”), the Board, on the
requisition of Shareholders of the Company
holding not less than one-tenth of the paid-
up capital of the Company carrying the
right of voting at general meetings of the
Company, can convene a special general
meeting ("SGM") to address specific issues of
the Company within 21 days from the date of
deposit of written notice to the registered office
of the Company. If the Board fails to proceed
to convene a meeting, the requisitionists,
or any of them representing more than one
half of the total voting rights of all of them,
may themselves convene a meeting, but any
meeting so convened shall not be held after
the expiration of three months from the said
date.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS
(Continued)

The written requisition must state the purposes
of the meeting together with proposals to be
put forward at such meeting, signed by the
Shareholder(s) concerned and may consist of
several documents in like form, each signed by
one or more of those Shareholders. Besides, the
writfen requisition must be valid in pursuant to
section 79 and 80 of the Act. The requisition will
be verified with the Company’s share registrar
and upon their confirmation that the requisition
is proper and in order, the Company Secretary
will ask the Board of the Company to convene
the SGM after the deposit of such requisition
by serving sufficient notice in accordance with
the statutory requirements to all the registered
Shareholders. Shareholders are encouraged
by the Company to attend the Company’s
general meeting.

All resolutions put forward at shareholder
meetings will be voted on by poll pursuant to
the Listing Rules and poll results will be posted
on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company after each shareholder meeting.

Shareholders are provided with contact details
of the Company, such as telephone number,
fax number, postal address and the Company’s
website address in order to enable them to
make any query that they may have with
respect to the Company. Shareholders may
make enquiries to the Board by writing to the
Company at the Company’s head office in
Hong Kong at Suite 1502, 15/F, Far East Finance
Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Admiralty, Hong
Kong. In addition, Shareholders can contact
the share registrar of the Company, if they
have any enquires about their shareholding
issues.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board has adopted a dividend policy
(the "Dividend Policy”) which does not have
any pre-determined dividend payout ratio. In
considering dividend payment, the Board will
take intfo account factors such as depending
on results of operations, working capital,
financial position, future prospects, and capital
requirements, as well as any other factors which
the Directors of the Company may consider
relevant from time to time. The Board will
review the Dividend Policy from time to time
and the Dividend Policy does not constitute
any commitment or obligation of the Company
to declare dividends.

INVESTORS RELATIONS

The Board gives high priority to balanced, clear
and fransparent communications which allow
shareholders and investors to understand the
Group’s prospects and the market environment
in which it operates. The Company engages
with shareholders and other investors through
various channels of communication to help
ensure that their views and concerns are
understood and addressed in a constructive
way.

The Company’s constifutional documents
have been posted on the Company’s website
at www.culturecom.com.hk. During the year,
there had been no significant change in the
Company’s constitutional documents.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

Deloitte

To the Shareholders of
Culturecom Holdings Limited
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial
statements of Culturecom Holdings Limited (the
“*Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the "Group”) set out on pages
78 to 270, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 March
2020, and the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income,
consolidated statement of changes in equity
and consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial
statements give a true and fair view of the
consolidated financial position of the Group
as at 31 March 2020, and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards ("HKFRSs”) issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants ("HKICPA”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with
Hong Kong Standards on Auditing ("HKSAs™)
issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described
in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Consolidated Financial Statements
section of our report. We are independent of
the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants
(the "Code”), and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code. We believe that the audit evidence we
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.
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Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those maftters that,
in our professional judgment, were of most
significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period.
These matters were addressed in the contfext
of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a
separate opinion on these maftters.

Key audit matters
ARETSE

We identified the NRV assessment of
inventories as a key audit matter due to their
significance to the consolidated statement
of the financial position as a whole and
the significant judgment and assumptions
involved in the estimation of NRV of the
Group’s inventories which comprise premium
wine.
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How our audit addressed the key audit matters
BMEARINAEEERETSE

Our procedures in relation to the NRV
assessment of the inventories included:
EMEBRAAFEN TSR FEEEENEFREEUT

K17 :

J Discussing with the management’s
process for evaluating the product-by-
product regular NRV assessment view and
challenging the judgment exercised in
determining the allowances of inventories
as at the end of reporting period,
including their key control and policy on
estimating the inventories allowances;

s HEEENWAMRENEREETHISRZ
BEFTEFRR  RERBEEREHAFTERE
RATAZHE BREGHEFERGER ZEREZES
RBER
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Key audit matters
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How our audit addressed the key audit matters
EMEGRINAEEERETSE

As set out in Note 4 to the consolidated
financial statements, the management
carries out inventory review on a product-
by-product basis at the end of the reporting
period. As further disclosed in Nofte 23 to
the consolidated financial statements, the
carrying amount of premium wines and other
inventories were approximately HK$34,909,000
and approximately HK$735,000, respectively.
The management performed the inventory
review including the estimation of the
respective NRV which was determined as the
estimated selling price in the ordinary course
of business less the estimated costs necessary
to make the sale.

BAGRENBRERMTAE > EEBRBMESHBAR
RENERETHEEESE - MW%A%ﬁﬁ%m?
WVE-—TEE BEEREREMFENREES B
# 534,909,000 Tk £735000& T - EEE A
EHFEEE  BREAEXEBRBENMGTEERE
M EFTE R RABEMN S AT R FEMET -

The estimation of the respective NRV
takes intfo account a number of factors
including prices of actual sales during and/
or subsequent to the reporting period and
independent market information in relation to
each of the inventories held by the Group.
BUSRFENGTNEHARZEEE  BREREH
Bk SHENBEREEERREHEEERFERE
BFENBILTHEER -

Assessing the reasonableness of the
estimation of the NRV of inventories
performed by management by:
ZBUTHAMEEEBHFE SR FEM
WEEM

1. festing the actual sales, on a sample
basis, during and/or subsequent to
the reporting period to assess the
reasonableness of the estimated
selling price;

1. BREAEEAREREHEAR SH2EH
ERHEER  LFhETTEENSEMYE

2, evaluating management’s
identification of any inventories
requiring specific write downs due to
damage or other quality issues with
reference to the information obtained
during our inventory count; and

2. BERMEFERHTPESHNERRIMLE
BEHNEER &Emgéﬁ%ﬁmgﬁﬁ
EERBNEFEZRA ;

3. conducting an interview with the
relevant winery and performing
independent market research to
evaluate the market information used
by management to estimate the
latest selling prices of the wines; and

3. HMBERETEHARLETEYLDSHASE
LAt EEEANMEHBESRNEEMER
MHSER . R

Assessing the accuracy of the allowance
for inventories in those instances where
the estimated NRV is lower than respective
carrying amount of the inventories.
EhRFUEZRFECNREBREFEREENSER
T FHMEFERERERMYE -
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Key audit matters
BRETSE

We identified the impairment assessment
of goodwill as a key audit matter due
to significant judgment exercised and
assumptions involved in the projections of
future performance of the cash-generating
units (“CGUs”™).

RSB ERENAENA - HRRETSE  KE
ARFEARSELEN(REELEN ) 2 RRKR
e I B KRB R RER o

As set out in Note 4 to the consolidated
financial statement, the management is
required to carry out impairment assessment
of goodwill annually and whenever there
is an indication that the relevant CGU may
be impaired. The management performed
the impairment assessment which take
intfo consideration the estimation of the
recoverable amount of respective CGUs
which were determined as the higher of its
fair values less costs of disposal and its value
in use.
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How our audit addressed the key audit matters
BPERRUNAEERARENSE

Our procedures in relation to the impairment
assessment of goodwill included:
KMEEREREIANEFEREATEIE:

. Understanding the management’s process
for estimating the recoverable amount of
the CGUs and challenging the judgment
exercised in the idenftification of the CGUs
containing the goodwill;

s THEEENMGATREELBENUNATKWEESE
REFRBNEERENRSEEBEURTET
Fl 2B

. Assessing the reasonableness of key
assumptions used in the cash flow
projections, including growth rates,
budgeted sales and gross margin, based
on the future business plan and/or industry
frend;

o MEBERREBHER HITEBZ FEHRER
EEATFEANTIERR(BEERE HERE
RERR)NEEM
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How our audit addressed the key audit matters
EMEGRINAEEERETSE

The recoverable amount of each of the
CGUs has been determined based on value
in use calculation. The calculation uses cash
flow projection based on financial budget
approved by management and certain
key assumptions which included discount
rates, growth rates, budgeted sales and
gross margin and their related cash inflow
and outflow patterns. The management also
engaged an independent professional valuer
to assist in determining the recoverable
amounts. As further disclosed in Note 18 to
the consolidated financial statements, the
cost of goodwill was HKS$21,067,000 before
any accumulated impairment losses. During
the year ended 31 March 2020, there is
approximately HK$8,941,000 of impairment
made to one of the CGUs containing the
goodwill. The carrying amount of goodwill
as at 31 March 2020 was HKS$12,126,000 after
impairment.
REELEENNATKREERBNRECABETEME
Eeo it BEERAENEEBHENMBEEENRER
EEARETIERR  SBFEMERAE BRI W HE
FEREMNEURMBRSAARTHES - EBfE
TEFEVEXMEMBBETTREEE - HW
REMBMRMT 18E—SHE  EERA(HKRE
ARFHRERBEA)H21,067,0008 T - RBZ_-F
“EF=ZA=+-HULEFE ERHI—EEEHE
ZEESE4HENIEEHF 8,941,000 TR E © KRR
B BER-ZE-_TF=-A=+-BZKEHEAR
12,126,000 % 5T °

OTHER INFORMATION

Evaluating the competence, capabilities
and objectivity of the independent
professional valuer and involving our
infternal valuation experts to assess
reasonableness of the cash flow
projections, including the discount rates
applied by the independent professional
valuer by developing an independent
estimation based on market data and
certain specific parameters of the Group
and comparing such estimation to the
discount rates used by the management;
and

FEBYSEMGEMN TR RHIREERME X
ﬁﬁ*ﬁﬁm%?ﬁﬁ&ZF%l%:FﬁE%ﬁ itz
BYGTAREBEEEEREARREFEME
HABEEESRIGARSRERN(EEBLEE
HREMERNBRE)NEESE &

Evaluating the historical projection of the
forecasted future cash flows by comparing
them to actual results in the current year
and understanding the causes for the
significant variances.

EREAFENERXFRETHERETHRERE
ENRE  FHEBAIRRRSRENELTER -

Hftfs 8
EAREE(ES)BYEMEREE - £

The directors of the Company ("Directors”) are
responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises the information included
in the annual report, but does not include the
consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

EEENNERFRANEES  ETREFSME
BRREPIOLEERE -

Our opinion on the consolidated financial RMYGEEYBRRNERTTREHMER
statements does not cover the other BMF R ZEHEMEERRTARRNERLE
information and we do not express any form of -1

assurance conclusion thereon.
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OTHER INFORMATION (Confinued)

In connection with our audit of the
consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other
information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude
that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report
that fact. We have nothing to report in this
regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS
AND THOSE CHARGED WITH
GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial
statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine
is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial
statements, the directors are responsible for
assessing the Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors either intend to liquidate the Group
or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS
AND THOSE CHARGED WITH
GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

Those charged with governance are responsible
for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting
process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the consolidated
financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that
includes our opinion solely to you, as a body,
in accordance with Section 90 of the Bermuda
Companies Act, and for no other purpose. We
do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of
this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level
of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when
it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or
error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Confinued)

As part of an audit in accordance with
HKSAs, we exercise professional judgment and
maintain professional skepticism throughout the
audit. We also:

. Identify and assess the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit
procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud
is higher than for one resulting from error,
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal
control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group’s
internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by the
directors.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the
directors’ use of the going concern basis
of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we
are required to draw attention in our
auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report.
However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as
a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation,
structure and content of the consolidated
financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated
financial statements represent the
underlying fransactions and events in a
manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit
evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business
activities within the Group fo express an
opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the
direction, supervision and performance
of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

We communicate with those charged with
governance regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit
and significant audit findings, including any
significant deficiencies in internal control that
we idenftify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with
governance with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence, and to communicate
with them all relationships and other matters
that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, related
safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those
charged with governance, we determine those
matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the
key audit matters. We describe these matters
in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter
or when, in extremely rare circumstances,
we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the
adverse consequences of doing so would
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

The engagement partner on the audit resulting
in the independent auditor’s report is Tsang Kai
Tai.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

30 June 2020
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020

78

2020 2019
“ECEE —E-hF
NOTES HK$°000 HK$'000
MiEE TERT TET
(Restated)
(BE5)
Continuing operations BEREXK
Revenue A 5 154,099 18,206
Cost of sales SHERA (129,767) (6,447)
Gross profit EF 24,332 11,765
Other income Hitg A 6 2,520 2,511
Other gains or losses Rtz a8 7 (4,218) (3.134)
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHEER (11,890) (2,805)
Administrative expenses THER (46,097) (29.588)
Finance cost BKER 8 (1,404) =
Other impairment losses HiREEE 9 (20,733) —
Impairment loss under expected credit ﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁ&iﬁ(ﬁﬁﬁﬂ%ﬁ
loss ("ECL") model BRDERT ZREEFSE (3,629) (215)
Share of (loss) profit of an associate B —REE 2 8 (& 1]) a7 (172) 247
Loss before tax BB AIE R 11 (61,291) (21,219)
Income tax credit FEBiER 12 155 6
Loss for the year from continuing REFECEELE
operations FEBSE (61,136) (21,213)
Discontinued operations RIEREEL
Loss for the year from discontinued REREREER Y
operations FEER 35 (2,601) (10,827)
Loss for the year FEER (63,737) (32,040)
Other comprehensive (expense) income H#t2HE (B3 ) W&
Item that may be reclassified BEHEBEHEZ
subsequently to profit or loss: BmzBEE -
Exchange (loss) gain on translation BREBINER
of financial statements of foreign B REZER
operations (B8 ks (6,666) 689
Other comprehensive (expense) income FEHM2HE(BX)
for the year g (6,666) 689
Total comprehensive expense for FEXHEMAXEE
the year (70,403) (31,351)
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F PROFIT OR LOSS AND
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
GARARAMEENE R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020
BE—_Z-SEFE=-A=1+—HLEE

2020 2019
“ECEE “E-NE
NOTE HK$°000 HK$’000
Bt TER THERT
(Restated)
(&E5)
Loss for the year attributable to owners  RAREEABGEEE
of the Company: g
— from continuing operations — REHELEXK (55,634) (20,508)
— from discontinued operations — RERILEEER (2,601) (10,827)
(58,235) (31,335)
Loss for the year attributable to REBBEEEXH
non-controlling interests from FEREREMN
continuing operations FEFE (5,502) (705)
(63,737) (32,040)
Total comprehensive (expense) @{Eéﬁ(ﬁﬁi)ﬂﬁl
income attributable to: FCE
Owners of the Company ZIS"W?EE)\ (63,739) (31,392)
Non-controlling interests FERER (6,664) 41
(70,403) (31,351)
Loss per share SRER 14
From continuing and discontinued REFERRLEE
operations £/
Basic (HK cents) EAR (L) 4.2) (2.3)
From continuing operations REFELSEER

Basic (HK cents) HAR (L) (4.0 (1.5)
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AT 31 MARCH 2020
R-ZB-ZEF=A=+—H

2020 2019
—E-EF —ZE-hEF
NOTES HK$’000 HK$'000
s FET FET
Non-current assets FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment M- BERZE 16 993 837
Right-of-use assets ERAEEE 17 1,825 —
Goodwill mE 18 12,126 19,949
Interest in an associate R—BEEE Qa2 ER 19 1,218 1,390
Intangible assets B EE 20 7,454 6,162
Film right TR 21 — 117
Rental deposits Hewme 25 108 555
Financial assets at BATEEFABER
fair value through (MzAFEETTAER
profit or loss ("FVTPL") KIzEMEE 22 715 5,379
24,439 34,389
Current assets REEE
Inventories BE 23 35,644 35,786
Trade receivables W E 5 R 24 23,128 9,969
Other receivables, deposits and HihEWARIE - ZER
prepayments FEfTRRIE 25 24,813 12,583
Tax recoverable EIAEE 3 1,262 1,262
Pledged bank deposit SIRIFRITER 26 23,261 —
Bank balances and cash RTEFRRS 26 154,000 220,370
262,108 279,970
Current liabilities nREEE
Trade payables B 5 BRX 27 6,236 737
Other payables and accrued HihERHRIER
charges FEFTE A 27 29,911 9,932
Contract liabilities EHERE 28 1,384 114
Lease liabilities HEaE 29 1,994 —
Bank borrowings RITHER 30 8,749 —
48,274 10,783
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 FINANCIAL POSITION

e e A i =

AT 31 MARCH 2020
RZE-ZEF=F=+—H

2020 2019

—E-EF —E-NF

NOTES HK$’000 HK$'000

B FEx FBT

Net current assets REBEEFE 213,834 269,187

Total assets less current liabilities #EERTBEE 238,273 303,576
Non-current liabilities FRBEE

Deferred tax liabilities EEBIREE 31 1,742 1,384

Lease liabilities HEEE 29 812 _

2,554 1,384

Net assets BEEFE 235,719 302,192
Capital and reserves EAXR#EE

Share capital [N 32 13,907 13,907

Share premium and reserves REERFEE 206,962 270,842

Equity aftributable to owners of ARAREE A

the Company FE(L = 220,869 284,749

Non-controlling interests FERER 14,850 17,443

Total equity R 235,719 302,192

The consolidated financial statements on pages
78 to 270 were approved and authorised for

issue by the board of directors on 30 June 2020 EEARREZE

and are signed on its behalf by:

HUANG MINGGUO
=2HE
DIRECTOR
EE

YUEN KIN
=i
DIRECTOR
EE

EI8HEF2IOEZHEUKBRERNR-_Z_EF
ANA=Z+REEESHETIBETZE AT



FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020
BE—_Z-SF=-A=+—HLEE

Attibutable to owners of the Company

FATREARL
Capital Non-
Shore Share Contribution redemption Translafion Ofher  Accumuloted controling Total
capital premium surplus esenve Tesenve eseve losses Sub-fofal inferests equity
b vl BfRR  EAREER EXGR EftRE BifER Dt HhEE as

kS 000 HKS'000 HkS'000 HKS'000 K000 HKS'000 K000 HKS000 HKS'000 HKS'000
i1 7 i 7 i 7 i 7 it A7

(Note q)
(Kita)

AFT Aprl 2018 HZ5-NERA-8 13907 2025611 m.6n L) 50 081 (1,89,699) 36,141 (5459) 310682
Loss for e year T - - - - - = 0139 (313%) %) (R200)
Other comprefensive expense AHAERR
Exchonge (oss) gain on fransafion of EERNERERRRL

financial statements of foreign Ei(FEE

operations = = = = (o = = o0 I} 689
Tofol comprehensive (expense)  EEB2A(ER)UA

income for e year = = = = ) = (313%) @39 a k)
Aoquiston of a subsicary (Nofe 34)  HE-BHBAAK3) = = = = = = = = 2801 81
At 31 Morch 2019 N-E-1E=Az1-R 13907 202,611 m.6n ) 163 881 (1,926,030) 84789 17443 0219
Loss for e year i - - - - - - (2% (582%) 650) )
Other comprefensive expense LR
Bchonge losson fonslofion of - EEEASREEHR2

finoncial stofemenfs of forelgn~~~ B8

operfions = = = = (500 = = (500 (116 (869
Total comprehensive expense for the  EEB2ERR

Jear = = = = (5 = (525) 79 (64 7043)
Acquiston of oddiional inferestin o WE-BRBATHEN

subsiolary (Note b) Eallo) - - = = 312 (495) (19 20) (29) (49)
Acquistion o @ subsidiory (Note 34)  WE-EHEAA(KRY = = = = 165 4082 813) ) kol 408
Disposal of subsidiories (\ote 35) ~ SENBAZ(KER) = - - - - - - - 1) )
Deregisretion of a HiR-EHELD

subsidiry (Note 3) (K335 = = = = = = = = 06 b
At 31 March 2020 H-5225=3=1-8 13907 2005611 ngn Up (4564) 4218 (1990420) 20869 14830 85719
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Notes:

(@)

©)

Contribution surplus represents the difference between
the nominal value of the share capital of the acquired
subsidiaries and the nominal amount of Culturecom
Holdings Limited’s (the “Company”) share capital
issued as consideration for the acquisition as at the
date of the group reorganisation in prior years.

On 30 September 2019, the Company and its
subsidiaries (the “Group”) acquired an additional
equity inferest of 45% of Beijing Skyvior Technology
Co., Limited* (L XEZEERBFFR D F) (“Beijing
Skyvior”) from non-controlling inferest with a
cash consideration of RMB450,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$495,000). After the acquisition,
Beijing Skyvior became a wholly owned subsidiary of
the Group.

* English name is for idenftification purpose only
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020

2020 2019
—E-EF —ZE-hEF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
OPERATING ACTIVITIES mEER
Loss for the year BRELRIES 18 (63,737) (32,040)
Adjustments for: BTIRIE AL
Amortisation of film right B REEE 117 540
Amortisation of intangible assets B EE#H 557 295
Depreciation of property, plant ME - BERZEBINE
and equipment 613 405
Depreciation of right-of-use FRAREERE
assets 4,974 —
Loss (gain) on disposal of HERB A REE ()
subsidiaries 136 473)
Gain on deregistration of a B —REREARZ
subsidiary g (792) =
Loss on fair value change of RAVEBETFABRERZ
financial assets at fair value TREEZATERE
through profit or loss SEEE 4,393 1,701
Impairment losses recognised in BT IR IERA ZRE
respect of: 5=
— film right — EERE — 963
— goodwill — HE 8,941 —
— prepayments — FEfI®IE 10,574 —
— property, plant and — ¥ BERRKE
equipment 167 —
— right-of-use assets — EAREE 1,051 —
Impairment losses on frade and REFEHEEEBEENZ
other receivables under ECL EWE SRR HAfE
model WK IE R E 18 3,629 215
Income tax credit FrEHiKs (155) )
Interest expense AMEFAX 1,404 —
Interest income FEWA (2,414) (1,459)
Share of loss (profit) of an L —REE A RNEE
associate O=A) 172 (247)
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ENT OF CASH FLOWS
HReleRER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020
BE—_Z-SEFE=-A=1+—HLEE

2020 2019
—E-EF —E-hEF
NOTE HK$’000 HK$'000
Bt =E FET FBT
Operating cash flows before EEESRHAI2KERSE
movements in working capital mE (30,370) (30,106)
Decrease in inventories FEERD 142 25
(Increase) decrease in frade Y E 5 BRFX (38 Hn) R
receivables (15,873) 14,652
Decrease (increase) in other HMERHIE - BER
receivables, deposits and FETFRIEIR A (38 00)
prepayments 10,540 (1,760)
Increase in trade payables FE{S B Z BRFE 0 5,499 300
(Decrease) increase in other HithENREBERETER
payables and accrued charges ORLA) #8 (2,515) 42
Increase (decrease) in contract EHaEEmORL)
liabilities 1,270 (654)
NET CASH USED IN OPERATING REEBHACHEESFE
ACTIVITIES (31,307) (17,501)
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REXHK
Placement of pledged bank FABEKFRITER
deposit (23,261) =
Placement of financial assets at BERAFEBETTABRR
FVTPL ZEMEE (38,404) —
Purchase of property, plant and BEVE BRERSKE
equipment (491) 410)
Net cash outflow on disposal of HENBRARZRE FEE
subsidiaries pingas] (381) 1,227)
Proceeds from redemption of BEZAFEBETABRE
financial assets at FVTPL ZERMEEZFR 38,725 —
Acquisition of a subsidiary W b — B FfT B A = 34 9,382 (2,692)
Interest received 2 WFE 2,414 1,459
Purchase of intangible assets BERLEE — (2,208)
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING BREEKRFTAZRSFE
ACTIVITIES (12,016) (56,078)
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020
BE—_Z-SF=-A=+—HLEE
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2020 2019
—E-EF —ZE-hEF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET

FINANCING ACTIVITIES s R
New bank loan raised FriERITER 8,749 —
Repayment of lease liabilities EEHEAE (4,894) —
Interest paid 2R E (1,404) —
Advance from a shareholder —ERRZER — 2,971
Advance from an independent —EBAUE=F 28R

third party — 1,275
Repayment to independent third EEFBIE=FH

parties (20,204) —
NET CASH (USED IN) FROM MEXY (A FE2ES

FINANCING ACTIVITIES HEE (17,753) 4,246
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH Be&RRE&ZEBYRLD FHE

EQUIVALENTS (61,076) (18,333)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT REWNZRERBESEEY

BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 220,370 238,393
Effect of foreign exchange rate EXxgp s

changes (5,294) 310
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT REXRZRERBELEEY

END OF THE YEAR, REPRESENTED EIERTEERES

BY BANK BALANCES AND CASH 154,000 220,370




GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company is incorporated in Bermuda
as an exempted company with limited
liability and ifs shares are listed on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the "Stock Exchange”). The address
of the Company’s registered office is
Victoria Place, 5th Floor, 31 Victoria Street,
Hamilton HM10, Bermuda and its principal
place of business is Suite 1502, 15/F, Far
East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road,
Admiralty, Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding
company. The principal activities of itfs
principal subsidiaries are set out in Note 41.
The Group’s principal places of business
are in Hong Kong and the People’s
Republic of China (the “"PRC").

In prior years, the Group was engaged in
catering business through Sai Van Club
Management Services Co. Ltd* (7 & & fr &
ER#EBR DA )(CSa Van Club”), a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Group. The operation
for catering business was discontinued with
effect from 10 March 2020. Accordingly,
the results of the subsidiary’s operation for
the period ended 9 March 2020 and year
ended 31 March 2019 have been separately
presented as a discontinued operation in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020
BE—_Z-SEFE=-A=1+—HLEE
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AARRBREIMALAEREBERER
AR MERGOREBBEEXZAERDTR
(MEEXPr) b - HEMPBE MUV R
Victoria Place, 5th Floor, 31 Victoria
Street, Hamilton HM 10, Bermuda * 1
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020

1.

GENERAL INFORMATION
(Continued)

During the year ended 31 March 2019,
the operation for development of
multi-media application through Ucan
Commercial Limited ("Ucan Commercial”)
and its subsidiary (collectively referred
fo as the “Ucan Commercial Group”),
was discontinued with effect from 29
March 2019. Accordingly, the results
of the subsidiaries’ operation for the
period ended 28 March 2019 have been
separately presented as a discontinued
operation in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income.

Details of the above discontinued
operations are set out in Note 35.

In view of the Group’s contfinuous
expansion in digital marketing business
in the PRC, the Directors reassessed the
functional currency of the Company and
considered paragraph 9 of HKAS 21 The
Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange
Rates ("HKAS 21") together with the other
factors set out in paragraph 10 of HKAS 21.
The Directors have determined that RMB
better reflects the economic substance
of the Company and its business activities
as an investment holding company with
subsidiaries mainly operating in the PRC.
Accordingly, the functional currency of the
Company was prospectively changed from
HKS to RMB.

The consolidated financial statements are
presented in Hong Kong dollars.
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GENERAL INFORMATION
(Continued)

In order to provide a more comprehensive
and informative presentation of the
results of the Group fto the financial
statements users, the management
has reconsidered the presentation of
the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income.
During the year ended 31 March 2020,
all the expenses have been presented
according to their function on the face
of the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income.
As a result, the relevant amounts of
salaries and allowances, other expenses
and depreciation expenses have been
presented as direct costs as part of “cost
of sales” or according fto their function
as “Selling expenses” or “Administrative
expenses”. Accordingly, the relevant
comparative amounts of salaries and
allowances, other expenses, depreciation
expenses, operating lease rentals in
respect of rental premises and impairment
loss on film right have been represented
to conform with the current year’s
presentation.

*

English name is for identification purpose only
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020
BE—_Z-SF=-A=+—HLEE

2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

New and Amendments to HKFRSs
that are mandatorily effective for
the current year

The Group has applied the following new
and amendments to HKFRSs issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants ("HKICPA") for the first time in
the current year:

HKFRS 16 Leases
HK({FRIC) — Uncertainty over Income
Int 23 Tax Treatments
Amendments Prepayment Features with
to HKFRS 9 Negative Compensation
Amendments Plan Amendment,
to HKAS 19 Curtailment or
Settlement
Amendments Long-term Interests in
to HKAS 28 Associates and Joint
Ventures
Amendments Annual Improvements
tfo HKFRSs to HKFRSs 2015 — 2017

Cycle

Except as described below, the application
of the new and amendments to HKFRSs
in the current year has had no material
impact on the Group’s financial positions
and performance for the current and prior
years and/or on the disclosures set out in
these consolidated financial statements.
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2. ER#HAIERAVBRBEEAN(E
MR EED ) REBET

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING (%)
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(Continued)

REFEBFNER T ERYH
HEEAREERT (&)

New and Amendments to HKFRSs
that are mandatorily effective for
the current year (Continued)

2.1 HKFRS 16 Leases 2] BERUBHEZEREI6HHEE

The Group has applied HKFRS 16 for
the first time in the current year. HKFRS
16 superseded HKAS 17 Leases ("HKAS
177), and the related interpretations.

Definition of a lease

The Group has elected the practical
expedient to apply HKFRS 16 to
contfracts that were previously
identified as leases applying HKAS
17 and HK{FRIC)-Int 4 Determining
whether an Arrangement contains
a Lease and not apply this standard
to contracts that were not previously
identified as containing a lease.
Therefore, the Group has noft
reassessed contracts which already
existed prior to the date of initial
application.

For confracts entered into or modified
or arising from business combinations
on or affer 1 April 2019, the Group
applies the definition of a lease in
accordance with the requirements set
out in HKFRS 16 in assessing whether a
contract contains a lease.
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I ANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020
BE—_Z-SF=-A=+—HLEE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND 2. ERHIERAUBREENTE

AMENDMENTS TO HONG BUEREER]) REEE
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING (48)

STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

(Continued)

RAFEBEHERZHIBTRBYHK
HEEAREERT (&)

New and Amendments to HKFRSs
that are mandatorily effective for
the current year (Continued)

2.1 HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued) 2] BEUBEHETEREI6HHEE(E)

92

As a lessee

The Group has applied HKFRS 16
refrospectively with the cumulative
effect recognised at the date of initial
application, 1 April 2019.

As at 1 April 2019, the Group
recognised additional lease liabilities
and right-of-use assefs at amounts
equal to the related lease liabilities
adjusted by any prepaid or accrued
lease payments by applying HKFRS
16.C8(b)(ii) transition. Any difference
at the date of initial application
is recognised in the opening
accumulated losses and comparative
information has not been restated.

When applying the modified
retfrospective approach under HKFRS
16 at fransition, the Group applied
the following practical expedients
to leases previously classified as
operating leases under HKAS 17, on
lease-by-lease basis, to the extent
relevant to the respective lease
contracts:

i. elected not to recognise right-of-
use assets and lease liabilities for
leases with lease term ends within
12 months of the date of initial
application;
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(Continued)

New and Amendments to HKFRSs
that are mandatorily effective for

the current year (Continued)
2.1 HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued)

As a lessee (Continued)

i. excluded initial direct costs from
measuring the right-of-use assets
at the date of initial application;
and

iii. applied a single discount rate
to a portfolio of leases with a
similar remaining terms for similar
class of underlying assefts in
similar economic environment.
Specifically, discount rate for
certain leases of properties in
Hong Kong and certain leases
of properties in the PRC were
determined on a portfolio basis
respectively.

When recognising the lease liabilities
for leases previously classified as
operating leases, the Group has
applied incremental borrowing rates of
the relevant group entities at the date
of initial application. The weighted
average incremental borrowing rate
applied by the relevant group entities
is 4.89%.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020
BE—_Z-SF=-A=+—HLEE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND 2. ERHIEBVMBREERN(F
AMENDMENTS TO HONG BUEHREER ) REERT
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING (#8)

STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(Continued)
New and Amendments to HKFRSs RAFEREERZHITEBHE
that are mandatorily effective for HEER R EHEET (8)
the current year (Continued)
2.1 HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued) 2] BRERUBHEERFICHEHE ()
As a lessee (Continued) tEBRFAN ()
At 1 April
2019
R-ZE-hI&F
mA—H
HK$’000
FET

Operating lease commitments disclosed as RZZE—AF=A=+—HAEKE

at 31 March 2019 ZEREHEAE 7.870
Lease liabilities discounted at relevant REBAEEEENRUREE
incremental borrowing rates =R 7,338
Less: Recognition exemption — short-term it - BRE%E — BHHEE
leases (289)
Practical expedient — leases with ATREERE — HERER
lease term ending within 12 months ERABHEI2EARKLE
of the date of initial application ZHE @11

Lease liabilities relating to operating leases ERAEBHBREEDE 1695 %
recognised upon application of HKFRS 16 HERZEBELLHECHEEE 6,138

Analysed as ki)
Current B 4,470
Non-current ERE 1,668

6,138

94 Culturecom Holdings Limited  Annual Report 2019-2020
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020
BE—_Z-SEFE=-A=1+—HLEE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND 2. @ﬁ%ﬁﬂ%%ﬂtiﬁ&%&ﬂﬂ(ré
AMENDMENTS TO HONG BREHREED]) RHEET
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING (%)

STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(Continued)
New and Amendments to HKFRSs REFEBRBERZHTE BT B
that are mandatorily effective for HEERI R EHEET (8)
the current year (Continued)
2.1 HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued) 2.1 EBUBHEEREICHHE (E)
As a lessee (Continued) 1EBARFAA ()
Right-of-use
Notes assets
k54 EREEE
HK$000
FERT
Right-of-use assets relating to FERE B RS
operating leases recognised upon FI6HEBEIAZEE
application of HKFRS 16 KREHEZEAEEE 6,138
Reclassified from prepaid rent BFENEEEHIE (a) 172
Adjustments on rental deposits at R-ZE-NAFNA—A%H
1 April 2019 HEkEMEZRAZE (b) 59
6,369
By class: BER

Leased buildings HERZF 6,369



FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020
BE—_Z-SF=-A=+—HLEE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(Continued)

New and Amendments to HKFRSs
that are mandatorily effective for
the current year (Continued)

2.1 HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued)

As a lessee (Continued)

Notes:

(@

®)

Prepaid rent for office premises in the PRC
was classified as prepayment as at 31
March 2019. Upon application of HKFRS 16,
the prepaid rent was reclassified to right-
of-use assets.

Before the application of HKFRS 16, the
Group considered refundable rental
deposits paid as rights and obligations
under leases to which HKAS 17 applied
under other receivables. Based on the
definition of lease payments under HKFRS
16, such deposits are not payments
relating to the right to use of the
underlying assets and were adjusted tfo
reflect the discounting effect at transition.
Accordingly, HK$59,000 in aggregate was
adjusted to refundable rental deposits paid
and right-of-use assefs.

The transition to HKFRS 16 has no
impact to the Group’s accumulated
losses as at 1 April 2019.
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ANCIAL STATEMENTS
FaMEERME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020
BE—_Z-SEFE=-A=1+—HLEE

2. BAFMRERAVBREEN(SE
MR EER ) R EBET

(&)

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(Continued)

REFEBFNER T ERYH
W|E A & EAER] ()

New and Amendments to HKFRSs

that are mandatorily effective for

the current year (Continued)

2.1 HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued) 2] BEUBHREERAEI6HHEE (E)
TERAHA ()

UTDHRR=-ZF-NFWEAE— A2
EUBURRRER2EEFE R
B - AXBPHECHENEGREHE

As a lessee (Continued)

The following adjustments were made
to the amounts recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial

position at 1 April 2019. Line items that A o
were not affected by the changes
have not been included.
Carrying Carrying
amounts amounts
previously under
reported at HKFRS 16
31 March at 1 April
2019  Adjustments 2019
RiE
ERMBRE
ERTA ERIE165%
—E-NE R=B—-NI*F
=HA=+-AR mA—-BZ
ERZKREE AE REE
HK$’000 HK$'000 HKS$'000
TExT THERT TR
Non-current Assets FRBEE
Rental deposits Heke 555 31 524
Right-of-use assets CREEE — 6,369 6,369
Current Asset RBEE
Other receivables, deposits ~ HtEWFIE &K
and prepayments BEARIEB 12,583 (200) 12,383
Current Liability nEBaE
Lease liabilities HEEE — (4,470) (4,470)
Non-current Liability FRBEE
Lease liabilities HEaRE — (1,668) (1,668)



FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020
BE—_Z-SF=-A=+—HLEE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND

AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(Continued)

New and Amendments to HKFRSs
that are mandatorily effective for
the current year (Continued)

2.1 HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued)

As a lessee (Continued)

Note:For the purpose of reporting cash flows
from operating activities under indirect
method for the year ended 31 March 2020,
movements in working capital have been
computed based on opening consolidated
statement of financial position as at 1 April
2019 as disclosed above.

New and Amendments to HKFRSs
in issue but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the
following new and amendments to HKFRSs
that have been issued but are not yet
effective:

Insurance Contracts and the
related amendments'

HKFRS 17

2. ER#HAIERAVBBEEAN(E
M EREER ) R AT

(&)

RAFEBEHERZHIBTRBYHK
s A & EERT (&)

2.1 BEMBEHEERFI165HEE (EF)

1EREBA ()

M RBE—T-FF=A=t-ALFEZ
BESABEEEETIREREMNS - &
EEHBORBELXAEEZ-2 -1
FNA—-BFENFEHBRRERTE

C MR {E 15 R £ BV ¥ 5] & 78 B 5%
&R RAEET

AE@MIERFEATIICEME R REN
ZHET B AN REENRIES

Amendment o

Covid-19-Related Rent

HKFRS 16 Concessions®

Amendments fo  Definition of a Business’
HKFRS 3

Amendments to  Sale or Confribution of
HKFRS 10 and Assets between an Investor
HKAS 28 and its Associate or Joint

Amendments to
HKAS 1 and
HKAS 8

Venture®
Definition of Material*

Interest Rate Benchmark
Reform?

Amendments to
HKFRS 9,
HKAS 39 and
HKFRS 7
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(Continued)

New and Amendments to HKFRSs
in issue but not yet effective
(Continued)

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2021.

Effective for business combinations and asset
acquisitions for which the acquisition date is on
or after the beginning of the first annual period
beginning on or after 1 January 2020.

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after
a date to be determined.

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2020.

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 June 2020

2

In addition to the above new and
amendments to HKFRSs, a revised
Conceptual Framework for Financial
Reporting was issued in 2018. Ifs
consequential amendments, fhe
Amendments to References to the
Conceptual Framework in HKFRS Standards,
will be effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2020.

Except for the amendments to HKFRSs
mentioned below, the directors of the
Company (the "Directors”) anticipate
that the application of all other new
and amendments to HKFRSs will have
no material impact on the consolidated
financial statements in the foreseeable
future.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition
of a Business

The amendments:

J add an optional concentration
tfest that permits a simplified
assessment of whether an acquired
set of activities and assets is not a
business. The election on whether
to apply the optional concentration
test is available on transaction-by-
fransaction basis;

J clarify that to be considered a
business, an acquired set of activities
and assefs must include, at a
minimum, an input and a substantive
process that together significantly
contfribute to the ability to create
outputs; and

J narrow the definitions of a business
and of outputs by focusing on goods
and services provided to customers
and by removing the reference to an
ability fo reduce costs.

The Group will apply the amendments
prospectively to all business combinations
and asset acquisitions for which the
acquisition date is on or after 1 April 2020.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS
8 Definition of Material

The amendments provide refinements
to the definition of material by including
additional guidance and explanations in
making materiality judgments. In particular,
the amendments:

o include the concept of “obscuring”
material information in which
the effect is similar fo omitting or
misstating the information;

U replace threshold for materiality
influencing users from “could
influence” to “could reasonably be
expected to influence”; and

o include the use of the phrase “primary
users” rather than simply referring
fo “users” which was considered
too broad when deciding what
information to disclose in the financial
statements.

The amendments also align the definition
across all HKFRSs and will be mandatorily
effective for the Group’s annual period
beginning on 1 April 2020. The application
of the amendments is not expected fo
have significant impact on the financial
position and performance of the Group
but may affect the presentation and
disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020
BE—_Z-SF=-A=+—HLEE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(Continued)

Amendments to References to the
Conceptual Framework in HKFRS
Standards

Conceptual Framework for Financial
Reporting 2018:

J reinfroduces the terms stewardship
and prudence;

. infroduces a new asset definition that
focuses on rights and a new liability
definition that is likely to be broader
than the definition it replaces, but
does not change the distinction
between a liability and an equity
instrument;

. discusses historical cost and current
value measures, and provides
additional guidance on how to select
a measurement basis for a particular
asset or liability;

e states that the primary measure of
financial performance is profit or
loss, and that only in exceptional
circumstances other comprehensive
income will be used and only for
income or expenses that arise from
a change in the current value of an
asset or liability; and

e discusses uncertainty, derecognition,

unit of account, the reporting entity
and combined financial statements.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(Continued)

Amendments to References to the
Conceptual Framework in HKFRS
Standards (Continued)

Consequential amendments have been
made so that references in certain HKFRSs
have been updated to Conceptua
Framework for Financial Reporting 2018,
whilst some HKFRSs are still referred to
the previous versions of the framework.
These amendments are effective for the
Group’s annual period beginning on 1
April 2020. Other than specific standards
which sftill refer to the previous versions of
the framework, the Group will rely on the
Conceptual Framework in determining
the accounting policies especially for
fransactions, events or conditions that
are not otherwise dealt with under the
accounting standards.

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020
BE—_Z-SF=-A=+—HLEE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have
been prepared in accordance with HKFRSs
issued by the HKICPA. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include
applicable disclosures required by the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Listing Rules”) and by disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance ("CO").

The consolidated financial statements have
been prepared on the historical cost basis
except for certain financial instruments
that are measured at fair values at the
end of each reporting period, as explained
in the accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the
fair value of the consideration given in
exchange for goods and services.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Fair value is the price that would be
received to sell an asset or paid to transfer
a liability in an orderly tfransaction between
market participants at the measurement
date, regardless of whether that price
is directly observable or estimated
using another valuation fechnique. In
estimating the fair value of an asset or
a liability, the Group takes into account
the characteristics of the asset or liability
if market participants would take fthose
characteristics info account when pricing
the asset or liability at the measurement
date. Fair value for measurement and/or
disclosure purposes in these consolidated
financial statements is determined on such
a basis, except for share-based payment
tfransactions that are within the scope of
HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment, leasing
transactions that are within the scope
of HKFRS 16 (since 1 April 2019) or HKAS
17 (before application of HKFRS 16), and
measurements that have some similarities
to fair value but are not fair value, such
as net realisable value ("NRV™") in HKAS
2 Inventories or value in use in HKAS 36
Impairment of Assets.

A fair value measurement of a non-
financial asset takes into account a market
participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest
and best use or by selling it to another
market participant that would use the
asset in its highest and best use.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

In addition, for financial reporting
purposes, fair value measurements are
categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on
the degree to which the inputs to the fair
value measurements are observable and
the significance of the inputs to the fair
value measurement in its entirety, which
are described as follows:

J Level 1 inputs are quoted prices
(unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities that the
entity can access at the measurement
date;

. Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than
quoted prices included within Level
1, that are observable for the asset
or liability, either directly or indirectly;
and

. Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs
for the asset or liability.

The principal accounting policies are set
out below.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements
incorporate the financial statements of the
Company and entities confrolled by the
Company and its subsidiaries. Conftrol is
achieved when the Company:

e has power over the investee;

o is exposed, or has rights, fo variable
returns from its involvement with the
investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to
affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not
it controls an investee if facts and
circumstances indicate that there are
changes to one or more of the three
elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins
when the Group obtains conftrol over the
subsidiary and ceases when the Group
loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically,
income and expenses of a subsidiary
acquired or disposed of during the year
are included in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income from the date the Group gains
control until the date when the Group
ceases to control the subsidiary.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Profit or loss and each item of other
comprehensive income are attributed
to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling inferests. Total
comprehensive income of subsidiaries is
attributed to the owners of the Company
and to the non-confrolling interests even
if this results in the non-conftrolling interests
having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made
to the financial statements of subsidiaries
to bring their accounting policies into line
with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity,
income, expenses and cash flows relating
to fransactions between members of
the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.

Non-confrolling interests in subsidiaries are
presented separately from the Group’s
equity therein, which represent present
ownership interests entitling their holders to
a proportionate share of net assets of the
relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Changes in the Group’s interests in existing
subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s interests in
subsidiaries that do not result in the Group
losing control over the subsidiaries are
accounted for as equity transactions.
The carrying amounts of the Group’s
relevant components of equity including
reserves and the non-confrolling interests
are adjusted to reflect the changes in
their relative interests in the subsidiaries,
including re-aftfribution of relevant
reserves between the Group and the non-
conftrolling interests according to the
Group’s and the non-controlling interests’
proportionate interests.

Any difference between the amount
by which the non-conftrolling interests
are adjusted, and the fair value of
the consideration paid or received is
recognised directly in equity and afttributed
to owners of the Company.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Changes in the Group’s interests in existing
subsidiaries (Continued)

When the Group loses control of a
subsidiary, the assets and liabilities of that
subsidiary and non-conftrolling interests
(if any) are derecognised. A gain or
loss is recognised in profit or loss and is
calculated as the difference between
(i) the aggregate of the fair value of
the consideration received and the
fair value of any retained interest and
(i) the carrying amount of the assets
(including goodwill), and liabilities of the
subsidiary attributable to the owners of
the Company. All amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive
income in relation to that subsidiary are
accounted for as if the Group had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities
of the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit
or loss or transferred to another category
of equity as specified/permitted by
applicable HKFRSs). The fair value of any
investment retained in the former subsidiary
at the date when control is lost is regarded
as the fair value on initial recognition for
subsequent accounting under HKFRS 9
Financial Instruments ("HKFRS 9“) or, when
applicable, the cost on initial recognition
of an investment in an associate or a joint
venture.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted
for using the acquisition method. The
consideration transferred in a business
combination is measured at fair value,
which is calculated as the sum of the
acquisition-date fair values of the assets
tfransferred by the Group, liabilities incurred
by the Group to the former owners of the
acquiree and the equity inferests issued
by the Group in exchange for control of
the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are
generally recognised in profit or loss as
incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable
assets acquired and the liabilities assumed
are recognised at their fair value, except
that:

o deferred tax assets or liabilities, and
assets or liabilities related to employee
benefit arrangements are recognised
and measured in accordance with
HKAS 12 Income Taxes and HKAS 19
Employee Benefits respectively;

o liabilities or equity instruments
related to share-based payment
arrangements of the acquiree or
share-based payment arrangements
of the Group entered into to replace
share-based payment arrangements
of the acquiree are measured in
accordance with HKFRS 2 at the
acquisition date (see the accounting
policy below);

y
/

\W\““ %5 2019-2020 XALEEEBERAT 111

'FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBHEREE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020
BE—_Z-SEFE=-A=1+—HLEE

EXRETBEGAE)

EBa 6t

W iE R AW B E AR - RIS OEATE R
ZREEQAFEENE  MAELEREE
BfERcEE  ARERARBELRES
ABEZBERAEERRBRBEKBES 22
FEBRT2REENUBRHZAFEREZA

58 o A RIULHE 2 BB A B A S A 3 o
e

RURE B > TS 2 AT BIEE R AT&IE
CEERELATEERI  HTHEARK
I

s EEBBEENEGEREEERANZ
HEBANEERREIRIRETES
SHERIEI12AEH REBEER
BN ESHEFRARE

s HFPUBFTURDINARHEIAEH
&1 3 SRR A7 2 A 22 BEER A H U B8 75 BA
BROXNLZHEENEEIRAT
E RUBRURBEEBMBREE
RAIE 2578 (R T XEREE)



112
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Business combinations
(Continued)

assets (or disposal groups) that
are classified as held for sale in
accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current
Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued
Operations are measured in
accordance with that standard; and

lease liabilities are recognised and
measured at the present value of the
remaining lease payments (as defined
in HKFRS 16) as if the acquired leases
were new leases at the acquisition
date, except for leases for which ()
the lease term ends within 12 months
of the acquisition date; or (b) the
underlying asset is of low value. Right-
of-use assets are recognised and
measured at the same amount as the
relevant lease liabilities, adjusted to
reflect favourable or unfavourable
terms of the lease when compared
with market terms.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Business combinations
(Continued)

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the
sum of the consideration transferred, the
amount of any non-controlling inferests
in the acquiree, and the fair value of
the acquirer’s previously held equity
inferest in the acquiree (if any) over the
net amount of the identifiable assets
acquired and the liabilities assumed as at
acquisition date. If, affer re-assessment,
the net of the identifiable assets acquired
and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum
of the consideration transferred, the
amount of any non-controlling inferests
in the acquiree and the fair value of the
acquirer’s previously held interest in the
acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised
immediately in profit or loss as a bargain
purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present
ownership interests and entitle their holders
to a proportionate share of the relevant
subsidiary’s net assets in the event of
liquidation are initially measured at the
non-conftrolling interests’ proportionate
share of the recognised amounts of the
acquiree’s identifiable net assets or at fair
value. The choice of measurement basis
is made on a fransaction-by-transaction
basis.

y

| A
@ | R 20192020 X{LEEEEARAT 113

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBHEREE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020
BE—_Z-SEFE=-A=1+—HLEE

EXRETBEGAE)
B a6t (&)

BB R UFERZAE - FEREZNEK
BLPEERE  RBBHUERFEREE
FEEZAFEBEE) 2B  BRUFTR
BB EERMAE2EENKRERS
ZEFEE > THEEEZEE - HEBER
% WBzTRREERRAREEDF
BHERERRE  FERESREEER
PG EER BB T UEREREB L ERS
ZAFEE(WE) AN BIZFHAFRIE
HmAERBRERIBWE -

BREEAEREZARFEATERNER
KRR P DG EEMBE AR EEFR 2R
s NS RFERESEGREES
ARAEEFENCEIASHELHNEAF
BEFE FHEEERFSEIZMELE
2o



114

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a
business is carried at cost as established
at the date of acquisition of the business
(see the accounting policy above) less
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing,
goodwill is allocated to each of the
Group’s cash-generating units ("CGUs") (or
group of CGUs) that is expected to benefit
from the synergies of the combination,
which represent the lowest level at which
the goodwill is monitored for internal
management purposes and not larger than
an operating segment.,

A CGU (or group of CGUs) to which
goodwill has been allocated is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently
when there is indication that the unit may
be impaired. For goodwill arising on an
acquisition in a reporting period, the CGU
(or group of CGUs) to which goodwill has
been allocated is tested for impairment
before the end of that reporting period.
If the recoverable amount is less than
its carrying amount, the impairment loss
is allocated first to reduce the carrying
amount of any goodwill and then to the
other assets on a pro-rata basis based on
the carrying amount of each asset in the
unit (or group of CGUs).

The Group’s policy for goodwill arising on
the acquisition of an associate is described
below.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Investment in an associate

An associate is an entity over which the
Group has significant influence. Significant
influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions
of the investee but is not control or joint
control over those policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of
the associates are incorporated in these
consolidated financial statements using the
equity method of accounting. The financial
statements of associate used for equity
accounting purposes are prepared using
uniform accounting policies as those of
the Group for like transactions and events
in similar circumstances. Under the equity
method, an investment in an associate
is initially recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position at cost
and adjusted thereafter to recognise
the Group’s share of the profit or loss
and other comprehensive income of the
associates. When the Group’s share of
losses of an associate exceeds the Group’s
intferest in that associate (which includes
any long-term interests that, in substance,
form part of the Group’s net investment
in the associate), the Group discontinues
recognising ifs share of further losses.
Additional losses are recognised only to the
extent that the Group has incurred legal or
constructive obligations or made payments
on behalf of the associate.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Investment in an associate
(Continued)

An investment in an associate is accounted
for using the equity method from the
date on which the investee becomes an
associate. On acquisition of the investment
in an associate, any excess of the cost of
the investment over the Group’s share of
the net fair value of the identifiable assets
and liabilities of the investee is recognised
as goodwill, which is included within the
carrying amount of the investment. Any
excess of the Group’s share of the net
fair value of the identifiable assets and
liabilities over the cost of the investment,
after reassessment, is recognised
immediately in profit or loss in the period in
which the investment is acquired.

The Group assesses whether there is an
objective evidence that the inferest in
an associate may be impaired. When
any objective evidence exists, the entire
carrying amount of the investment
(including goodwill) is ftested for
impairment in accordance with HKAS
36 as a single asset by comparing its
recoverable amount (higher of value in
use and fair value less costs of disposal)
with its carrying amount. Any impairment
loss recognised is not allocated to any
assets including goodwill, that forms part
of the carrying amount of the investment.
Any reversal of that impairment loss is
recognised in accordance with HKAS 36 to
the extent that the recoverable amount of
the investment subsequently increases.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Investment in an associate
(Continued)

When the Group ceases to have
significant influence over an associate, it is
accounted for as a disposal of the entire
interest in the investee with a resulting
gain or loss being recognised in profit or
loss. The difference between the carrying
amount of the associate and any proceeds
from disposing the relevant interest in the
associate is included in the determination
of the gain or loss on disposal of the
associate. In addition, the Group accounts
for all amounts previously recognised in
other comprehensive income in relation to
that associate on the same basis as would
be required if that associate or had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities.
Therefore, if a gain or loss previously
recognised in other comprehensive income
by that associate would be reclassified to
profit or loss on the disposal of the related
assets or liabilities, the Group reclassifies
the gain or loss from equity to profit or loss
(as a reclassification adjustment) upon
disposal of the relevant associate.

When a group entity fransacts with its
associate of the Group, profits and losses
resulting from the transactions with the
associate are recognised in the Group’s
consolidated financial statements to the
extent of interests in the associate that are
not related to the Group.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with
customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or
as) a performance obligation is satisfied,
i.e. when “conftrol” of the goods or services
underlying the particular performance
obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a
good or service (or a bundle of goods
or services) that is distinct or a series
of distinct goods or services that are
substantially the same.

Except for granting a licence that is
distinct from other promised goods or
services, conftrol is fransferred over fime
and revenue is recognised over fime
by reference to the progress towards
complete satisfaction of the relevant
performance obligation if one of the
following criteria is met:

J the customer simultaneously receives
and consumes the benefits provided
by the Group’s performance as the
Group performs;

J the Group’s performance creates or
enhances an asset that the customer
controls as the Group performs; or

e the Group’s performance does not
create an asset with an alternative
use to the Group and the Group has
an enforceable right to payment for
performance completed to date.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with
customers (Continued)

Ofherwise, revenue is recognised at a point
in fime when the customer obtains control
of the distinct good or service.

For granting of a licence that is distinct
from other promised goods or services, the
nature of the Group’s promise in granting
a licence is a promise to provide a right to
access the Group’s intellectual property
C'IP™) if all of the following criteria are met:

U the contract requires, or the
customer reasonably expects,
that the Group will undertake
activities that significantly affect
the IP to which the customer has
rights;

e the rights granted by the licence
directly expose the customer
to any positive or negative
effects of the Group’'s activities
identified above; and

o those activities do not result in the
fransfer of a good or a service to the
customer as those activities occur.

If the criteria above are met, the Group
accounts for the promise to grant a
licence as a performance obligation
satisfied over time. Otherwise, the Group
considers the grant of licence as providing
the customers the right to use the Group’s
IP and the performance obligation is
satisfied at a point in time at which the
licence is granted.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with
customers (Continued)

A contract asset represents the Group’s
right to consideration in exchange for
goods or services that the Group has
fransferred to a customer that is not yet
unconditional. It is assessed for impairment
in accordance with HKFRS 9. In conftrast,
a receivable represents the Group’s
unconditional right to consideration, i.e.
only the passage of time is required before
payment of that consideration is due.

A confract liability represents the Group’s
obligation to transfer goods or services
to a customer for which the Group has
received consideration (or an amount of
consideration is due) from the customer.

A confract asset and a contract liability
relating to the same contract are
accounted for and presented on a neft
basis.

Collaboration arrangement

A counterparty to the contract would not
be a customer if the counterparty has
confracted with the Group to participate
in an activity or process in which the
parties to the contfract share in the risks
and benefits that result from the activity
or process rather than to obtain the
output of the Group’s ordinary activities.
The Group recognises revenue of which
it will be entitled in accordance to the
collaboration arrangement.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with
customers (Continued)

Contracts with multiple performance
obligations (including allocation of
transaction price)

For contracts that contain more than
one performance obligations, the Group
allocates the transaction price to each
performance obligation on a relative
stand-alone selling price basis.

The stand-alone selling price of the
distinct good or service underlying each
performance obligation is determined at
contract inception. It represents the price
at which the Group would sell a promised
good or service separately to a customer,
If a stand-alone selling price is not directly
observable, the Group estimates it using
appropriate techniques such that the
fransaction price ultimately allocated to
any performance obligation reflects the
amount of consideration tfo which the
Group expects to be entitled in exchange
for transferring the promised goods or
services to the customer.

Over time revenue recognitions:
measurement of progress towards
complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation

Output method

The progress towards complete satisfaction
of a performance obligation is measured
based on output method, which is to
recognise revenue on the basis of direct
measurements of the value of the goods
or services transferred to the customer to
date relative to the remaining goods or
services promised under the contract.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020
BE—_Z-SF=-A=+—HLEE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. EXEHEE)
POLICIES (Continued)
Revenue from contracts with BEFEEHWER (&)
customers (Continued)
Variable consideration TEE
For contracts that contain variable REEUEREZEAMS  AEERXRAR
consideration, the Group estimates the NESE(EEENRRAEEEEESZ
amount of consideration to which it will RELZE)  LULstEHEEEESZRESEE -

be entitled using the most likely amount,
which better predicts the amount of
consideration to which the Group will be

entitled.

The estimated amount of variable AE#REZGETSEETARZER  HU
consideration is included in the transaction BWERAUgEIAERETEREHBE T
price only to the extent that it is highly BRZHZMABEREERBREERKRRS
probable that such an inclusion will not R o

result in a significant revenue reversal
in the future when the uncertainty
associated with the variable consideration
is subsequently resolved.

At the end of each reporting period, the REBRSHR  *REEHEAHRZE(E
Group updates the estimated fransaction EEHHEUTEREGATREESR 2T
price (including updating its assessment ) UMEEBRMRBSHRFEZBERNL
of whether an estimate of variable RARERRZIERNEE -

consideration is constrained) to represent
faithfully the circumstances present at
the end of the reporting period and the
changes in circumstances during the
reporting period.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with
customers (Continued)

Variable consideration (Continued)

Notwithstanding the above criteria, the
Group shall recognise revenue for a sales-
based or usage-based royalty promised in
exchange for a licence of IP only when (or
as) the later of the following events occurs:

. the subsequent sale or usage occurs;
and

d the performance obligation to
which some or all of the sales-based
or usage-based royalty has been
allocated has been satisfied (or
partially satisfied).

Principal versus agent

When another party is involved in providing
goods or services to a customer, the
Group determines whether the nature of
its promise is a performance obligation to
provide the specified goods or services
itself (i.e. the Group is a principal) or to
arrange for those goods or services to
provided by the other party (i.e. the Group
is an agent).

The Group is a principal if it controls the
specified good or service before that good
or service is fransferred to a customer.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020
BE—_Z-SF=-A=+—HLEE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with
customers (Continued)

Principal versus agent (Continued)

The Group is an agent if its performance
obligation is to arrange for the provision
of the specified good or service by
another party. In this case, the Group
does not confrol the specified good or
service provided by another party before
that good or service is tfransferred to
the customer. When the Group acts as
an agent, it recognises revenue in the
amount of any fee or commission fo which
it expects to be entitled in exchange
for arranging for the specified goods or
services to be provided by the other party.

Costs to fulfil a contract

The Group incurs costs to fulfii a contract
in its digital marketing business. The Group
first assesses whether these costs qualify
for recognition as an asset in ferms of
other relevant standards, failing which it
recognises an asset for these costs only if
they meet all of the following criteria:

a) the costs relate directly to a contract
or to an anticipated contract that the
Group can specifically identify;

b) the costs generate or enhance
resources of the Group that will be
used in satisfying (or in continuing to
satisfy) performance obligations in the
future; and

c) the costs are expected to be
recovered.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with
customers (Continued)

Costs to fulfil a contract (Continued)

The asset so recognised is subsequently
amortised in to profit or loss on a
systematic basis that is consistent with the
fransfer to the customer of the goods or
services to which the assets relate. The
asset is subject to impairment review.

Leases

Definition of a lease (upon application of
HKFRS 16 in accordance with transitions in
Note 2)

A confract is, or contains, a lease if the
contfract conveys the right fo control the
use of an identified asset for a period of
fime in exchange for consideration.

For contfracts entered intfo or modified or
arising from business combinations on or
after the date of initial application, the
Group assesses whether a contract is or
contains a lease based on the definition
under HKFRS 16 at inception, modification
date or acquisition date, as appropriate.
Such contract will not be reassessed unless
the terms and conditions of the contract
are subsequently changed.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020
BE—_Z-SF=-A=+—HLEE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (upon application of
HKFRS 16 in accordance with transitions in
Note 2) (Continued)

Allocation of consideration to components
of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease
component and one or more additional
lease or non-lease components, the Group
allocates the consideration in the contract
to each lease component on the basis of
the relative stand-alone price of the lease
component and the aggregate stand-
alone price of the non-lease components.
The Group also applies practical expedient
not to separate non-lease components
from lease component, and instead
account for the lease component and any
associated non-lease components as a
single lease component.

Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease
recognition exemption to leases that have
a lease term of 12 months or less from the
commencement date and do not contain
a purchase option. Lease payments on
short-term leases assets are recognised as
expense on a straight-line basis or another
systematic basis over the lease term.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (upon application of
HKFRS 16 in accordance with transitions in
Note 2) (Continued)

Right-of-use assefs

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

° the amount of the initial measurement
of the lease liability;

o any lease payments made at or
before the commencement date, less
any lease incentives received; and

o any initial direct costs incurred by the
Group.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cosft,
less any accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a
straight-line basis over the shorter of its
estimated useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as
a separate line item on the consolidated
statement of financial position.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are
accounted under HKFRS 9 and initially
measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair
value at initial recognition are considered
as additional lease payments and included
in the cost of right-of-use assets.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020
BE—_Z-SF=-A=+—HLEE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (upon application of
HKFRS 16 in accordance with transitions in
Note 2) (Continued)

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease,
the Group recognises and measures the
lease liability at the present value of
lease payments that are unpaid at that
date. In calculating the present value
of lease payments, the Group uses the
incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date if the inferest
rate implicit in the lease is not readily
determinable.

The lease payments include:

* fixed payments (including in-substance
fixed payments) less any lease
incentives receivable; and

. payments of penalties for terminating
a lease, if the lease term reflects
the Group exercising an option to
terminate the lease.

After the commencement date, lease
liabilities are adjusted by interest accretion
and lease payments.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a
separate line item on the consolidated
statement of financial position.

Culturecom Holdings Limited  Annual Report 2019-2020

3. EXRSRTEERGE)

HE (&

EEEERSERBAANRRERK Z2218%
BREBYBREERE165E) (F

HERE

RAEBMG BN AEBREBHRZA
HENHRERIR G EAEAE - R H
HENRZRERS  HESES2FRE
B AEEAREENEREBEAEEE
BFIE o

HEMRERE
s EBRMNRN(BEBEEEHMNT)REM
TRHEEE &

s fESNKRAEESTEEEELL
HER RILHEEZEN -

REHAHE  HEEEREBEANSERKE
ENRELFEE -

TEBRGEMBRAREEEEEUB Y
HB 2% -



SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (upon application of
HKFRS 16 in accordance with transitions in
Note 2) (Continued)

Lease modifications

The Group accounts for a lease
modification as a separate lease if;

o the modification increases the scope
of the lease by adding the right to use
one or more underlying assets; and

. the consideration for the
leases increases by an amount
commensurate with the stand-
alone price for the increase in scope
and any appropriate adjustments
tfo that stand-alone price fto reflect
the circumstances of the particular
contract.

For a lease modification that is not
accounted for as a separate lease, the
Group remeasures the lease liability based
on the lease term of the modified lease
by discounting the revised lease payments
using a revised discount rate at the
effective date of the modification.

The Group accounts for the
remeasurement of lease liabilities by
making corresponding adjustments to
the relevant right-of-use asset. When
the modified contract contains a lease
component and one or more additional
lease or non-lease components, the Group
allocates the consideration in the modified
contract to each lease component on the
basis of the relative stand-alone price of
the lease component and the aggregate
stand-alone price of the non-lease
components.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020
BE—_Z-SF=-A=+—HLEE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (prior to 1 April
2019)

Operating lease payments are recognised
as an expense on a straight-line basis over
the lease terms.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of
each individual group entity, transactions
in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies)
are recognised at the rates of exchanges
prevailing on the dates of the transactions.
At the end of the reporting period,
monetary items denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates
prevailing at that date.

Exchange differences arising on the
settlement of monetary items, and on
the retranslation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the
consolidated financial statements, the
assets and liabilities of the Group’s
operations are translated into the
presentation currency of the Group (i.e.
Hong Kong dollars) using exchange rates
prevailing at the end of each reporting
period. Income and expenses items are
franslated at the average exchange
rates for the year. Exchange differences
arising, if any, are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated
in equity under the heading of franslation
reserve (attributed to non-controlling
interests as appropriate).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

On the disposal of a foreign operation
(that is, a disposal of the Group’s entire
inferest in a foreign operation, or a disposal
involving loss of control over a subsidiary
that includes a foreign operation, or
a partial disposal of an interest in an
associate that includes a foreign operation
of which the retained interest becomes
a financial asset), all of the exchange
differences accumulated in equity in
respect of that operation attributable to
the owners of the Company are reclassified
to profit or loss.

Exchange differences relating to the
retranslation of the Group’s net assets
in Renminbi to the Group’s presentation
currency (i.e. Hong Kong dollars) are
recognised directly in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in translation
reserve. Such exchange differences
accumulated in the franslation reserve
are not reclassified to profit or loss
subsequently.

\NCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBERRIE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020
BE—_Z-SEFE=-A=1+—HLEE

EXRETBEGAE)
SN ()

HEBMEB K (BN HERKBERBIEK
AR REEFSRRAEZETHEIN
EBHME D RAESE > RHES KB
EBNBENTNBIER - MERBEDK
REMEE)  IREAEXEBEAQAER AEMN
MBFREENFEELREZREEN I EE

B e

BERAREUARB 2 2EEFEERN
BESTEEZIER(NBLT) cEREH
HEERHME2EWEER  LEEZFET
it - ERfEETRANWERZRAERTS
ENoEERE -

i 2019-2020 XLEERMBERAF 131



132

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020
BE—_Z-SF=-A=+—HLEE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

In addition, in relation to a partial disposal
of a subsidiary that does not result in the
Group losing control over the subsidiary,
the proportionate share of accumulated
exchange differences are re-attributed
to non-controlling interests and are noft
recognised in profit or loss. For all other
partial disposals (i.e. partial disposals
of associates that do not result in the
Group losing significant influence), the
proportionate share of the accumulated
exchange differences is reclassified to
profit or loss.

Change in functional currency is
accounted for prospectively from the
date of change. All items were franslated
info the new functional currency at
the exchange rate on that date. The
cumulative currency franslation differences
which had arisen from the translation of
foreign operations up to the date of the
change in functional currency were not
reclassified from equity to profit or loss until
the disposal of the relevant operations.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs not directly attributable to
the acquisition, construction or production
of qualifying assets which are assets that
necessarily take a substantial period of
fime to get ready for their infended use or
sale are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to the Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme and the state-managed refirement
benefit plans are recognised as an
expense when employees have rendered
service entitling them to the contributions.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are
recognised at the undiscounted amount of
the benefits expected to be paid as and
when employees rendered the services.
All short-term employee benefits are
recognised as an expense unless another
HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion of
the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits
accruing to employees (such as wages
and salaries), after deducting any amount
already paid.
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3.

Cultu

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Share-based payments

Equity-settled share-based payment
fransactions

Share options granted to employees and
others providing similar services

Equity-settled share-based payments to
employees and others providing similar
services are measured at the fair value of
the equity instruments at the grant date.

For share options that vest immediately
at the date of grant, the fair value of
the share options granted is expensed
immediately to profit or loss.

When share options are exercised, the
amount previously recognised in share
options reserve will be transferred to
share premium. When the share options
are forfeited after the vesting date or are
still not exercised at the expiry date, the
amount previously recognised in share
options reserve will be fransferred to
accumulated losses.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum
of the tax currently payable and deferred
tax.

The tax currently payable is based on
taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit
differs from ‘loss before tax’ because of
income or expense that are taxable or
deductible in other years and items that
are never taxable or deductible. The
Group’s liability for current tax is calculated
using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary
differences between the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and
the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred
tax liabilities are generally recognised for
all taxable temporary differences. Deferred
tax assets are generally recognised for
all deductible temporary differences to
the extent that it is probable that taxable
profits will be available against which those
deductible temporary differences can be
utilised. Such deferred assets and liabilities
are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from the initial recognition
(other than in a business combination) of
assets and liabilities in a transaction that
affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit. In addition, deferred
tax liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for
taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries and
inferests in an associate, except where
the Group is able to control the reversal
of the temporary difference and it is
probable that the temporary difference
will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
Deferred tax assets arising from deductible
temporary differences associated with
such investments and interests are only
recognised to the extent that it is probable
that there will be sufficient taxable profits
against which to utilise the benefits of
the temporary differences and they are
expected to reverse in the foreseeable
future.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020
BE—_Z-SF=-A=+—HLEE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets
is reviewed at the end of each reporting
period and reduced to the extent that it is
no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profits will be available to allow all or part
of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred ftax assets and liabilities are
measured at the tax rates that are
expected to apply in the period in which
the liability is settled or the asset is realised,
based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by
the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities
and assets reflects the tax consequences
that would follow from the manner in which
the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, tfo recover or settle the
carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax
for leasing transactions in which the Group
recognises the right-of-use assets and the
related lease liabilities, the Group first
determines whether the tax deductions are
attributable to the right-of-use assets or the
lease liabilities.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

For leasing fransactions in which the fax
deductions are attributable fo the lease
liabilities, the Group applies HKAS 12
requirements to the leasing transaction as
a whole. Temporary differences relating
to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities
are assessed on a net basis. Excess of
depreciation on right-of-use assets over the
lease payments for the principal portion of
lease liabilities resulting in net deductible
temporary differences.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset
when there is a legally enforceable right
to set off current tax assets against current
tax liabilities and when they relate to
income taxes levied to the same taxation
entity by the same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in
profit or loss. Where current tax or deferred
tax arises from the initial accounting for
a business combination, the tax effect is
included in the accounting for the business
combination.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020
BE—_Z-SF=-A=+—HLEE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment held
for use in the production or supply of
goods or services, or for administration
purpose are stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position at cost less
subsequent accumulated depreciation
and subsequent accumulated impairment
losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write
off the cost of assets less their residual
values over their estimated useful lives,
using the straight-line method. The
estimated useful lives, residual values and
depreciation method are reviewed at
the end of each reporting period, with
the effect of any changes in estimate
accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment
is derecognised upon disposal or when no
future economic benefits are expected to
arise from the confinued use of the asset.
Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or
retirement of an item of property, plant
and equipment is deftermined as the
difference between the sales proceeds
and the carrying amount of the asset and
is recognised in profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assetfs with finite useful lives
that are acquired separately are carried
at costs less accumulated amortisation
and any accumulated impairment losses.
Amortisation for intangible assets with finite
useful lives is recognised on a straight-
line basis over their estimated useful lives.
The estimated useful life and amortisation
method are reviewed at the end of each
reporting period, with the effect of any
changes in estimate being accounted for
on a prospective basis. Intangible assefts
with indefinite useful lives that are acquired
separately are carried at cost less any
subsequent accumulated impairment
losses.

Intangible assets acquired in a business
combination

Infangible assets acquired in a business
combination are recognised separately
from goodwill and are initially recognised
at their fair value at the acquisition date
(which is regarded as their cost).
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020
BE—_Z-SF=-A=+—HLEE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Intangible assets (Contfinued)

Intangible assets acquired in a business
combination (Continued)

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible
assets acquired in a business combination
with finite useful lives are reported at
costs less accumulated amortisation
and any accumulated impairment losses
on the same basis as intfangible assets
that are acquired separately. Intfangible
assets acquired in a business combination
with indefinite useful lives are carried at
cost less any subsequent accumulated
impairment losses.

An intangible asset is derecognised on
disposal, or when no future economic
benefits are expected from use or disposal.
Gains or losses arising from derecognition
of an intangible asset, measured at the
difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset, are recognised in profit or loss in the
period when the asset is derecognised.

Film rights

Film right is stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and accumulated impairment
losses, if any. Amortisation for the film right
is charged so as to write off the cost of the
asset based on usage by way of various
distribution channels, such as ftheatrical
release, felevision release or infernet
release, and other licensing arrangement.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment losses on property,
plant and equipment, right-of-use
assets and intangible assets (other
than goodwill)

At the end of the reporting period, the
Group reviews the carrying amounts of its
property, plant and equipment, right-of-
use assets and intangible assets with finite
useful lives to determine whether there
is any indication that these assets have
suffered an impairment loss. If any such
indication exists, the recoverable amount
of the relevant asset is estimated in order
to determine the extent of the impairment
loss, if any. Intfangible assets with indefinite
useful lives and intangible assets not yet
available for use are tested for impairment
at least annually, and whenever there is an
indication that they may be impaired.

The recoverable amount of property, plant
and equipment, right-of-use assets, and
intangible assets are estimated individually.
When it is not possible to estimate the
recoverable amount individually, the
Group estimates the recoverable amount
of the CGU to which the asset belongs.

In testing a CGU for impairment, corporate
assets are allocated fto the relevant CGU
when a reasonable and consistent basis of
allocation can be established, or otherwise
they are allocated to the smallest
group of CGUs for which a reasonable
and consistent allocation basis can be
established. The recoverable amount is
determined for the CGU or group of CGUs
to which the corporate asset belongs, and
is compared with the carrying amount of
the relevant CGU or group of CGUs.

B
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020
BE-Z-_ZEF=A=+—HILEFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment losses on property,
plant and equipment, right-of-use
assets and intangible assets (other
than goodwill) (Continued)

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair
value less costs of disposal and value
in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted
to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the asset for which
the estimates of future cash flows have not
been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset
(or a CGU) is estimated to be less than
its carrying amount, the carrying amount
of the asset (or a CGU) is reduced to
its recoverable amount. For corporate
assets or portion of corporate assets which
cannot be allocated on a reasonable
and consistent basis to a CGU, the Group
compares the carrying amount of a group
of CGUs, including the carrying amounts
of the corporate assets or portion of
corporate assets allocated to that group
of CGUs, with the recoverable amount
of the group of CGUs. In allocating the
impairment loss, the impairment loss is
allocated first to reduce the carrying
amount of any goodwill (if applicable)
and then to the other assets on a pro-
rata basis based on the carrying amount
of each asset in the unit or the group of
CGUs. The carrying amount of an asset is
not reduced below the highest of its fair
value less costs of disposal (if measurable),
its value in use (if determinable) and zero.
The amount of the impairment loss that
would otherwise have been allocated to
the asset is allocated pro rata to the other
assets of the unit or the group of CGUs. An
impairment loss is recognised immediately
in profit or loss.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment losses on property,
plant and equipment, right-of-use
assets and intangible assets (other
than goodwill) (Continued)

Where an impairment loss subsequently
reverses, the carrying amount of the asset
(or CGU or a group of CGUs) is increased
to the revised estimate of its recoverable
amount, but so that the increased carrying
amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined
had no impairment loss been recognised
for the asset (or a CGU or a group of
CGUs) in prior years. A reversal of an
impairment loss is recognised as other
gains immediately.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of
cost and NRV. Costs of inventories are
determined on weighted average method.
NRV represents the estimated selling price
for inventories less costs necessary to make
the sale.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are
recognised when a group entity becomes
a party to the contractual provisions of
the instruments. All regular way purchases
or sales of financial assets are recognised
and derecognised on a frade date
basis. Regular way purchases or sales
are purchases or sales of financial assets
that require delivery of assets within the
time frame established by regulation or
convention in the market place.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets and financial liabilities
are initially measured at fair value
except for trade receivables arising from
contracts with customers which are initially
measured in accordance with HKFRS 15
Revenue from Contracts with Customers
("HKFRS 15"). Transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition
or issue of financial assets and financial
liabilities (other than financial assets or
financial liabilities at FVTPL) are added
to or deducted from the fair value of
the financial assets or financial liabilities,
as appropriate, on initial recognition.
Transaction costs directly atfributable
to the acquisition of financial assets or
financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method
of calculating the amortised cost of a
financial asset or financial liability and of
allocating interest income and interest
expense over the relevant period. The
effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash
receipts and payments (including all fees
and points paid or received that form an
integral part of the effective interest rate,
transaction costs and other premiums or
discounts) through the expected life of
the financial asset or financial liability, or,
where appropriate, a shorter period, to the
net carrying amount on initial recognition.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent
measurement of financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following
conditions are subsequently measured at
amortised cost:

o the financial asset is held within a
business model whose objective is to
collect contractual cash flows; and

e the contractual terms give rise on
specified dates to cash flows that
are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount
outstanding.

Financial assefs that meet the following
conditions are subsequently measured at
fair value through other comprehensive
income ("FVTOCI"):

e the financial asset is held within a
business model whose objective
is achieved by both selling and
collecting contractual cash flows; and

. the confractual terms give rise on
specified dates to cash flows that
are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount
outstanding.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020

S
3.

—E_EF=A=t+—HLEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent
measurement of financial assets
(Continued)

All other financial assets are subsequently
measured at FVTPL, except that at the
date of initial application of HKFRS 9/
initial recognition of a financial asset the
Group may irrevocably elect to present
subsequent changes in fair value of an
equity investment in other comprehensive
income if that equity investment is not held
for trading.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably
designate a financial asset that are
required to be measured at the amortised
cost or FVTOCI as measured at FVTPL if
doing so eliminates or significantly reduces
an accounting mismatch.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)
Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the
effective interest method for financial
assets measured subsequently at amortised
cost. Interest income is calculated by
applying the effective interest rate to
the gross carrying amount of a financial
asset, except for financial assets that
have subsequently become credit-
impaired (see below). For financial assets
that have subsequently become credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by
applying the effective interest rate to the
amortised cost of the financial asset from
the next reporting period. If the credit risk
on the credit-impaired financial instrument
improves so that the financial asset is no
longer credit-impaired, interest income
is recognised by applying the effective
interest rate to the gross carrying amount
of the financial asset from the beginning
of the reporting period following the
determination that the asset is no longer
credit-impaired.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020
BE—_Z-SF=-A=+—HLEE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the
criteria for being measured at amortised
cost or FVTOCI or designated as FVTOCI
are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at
fair value at the end of each reporting
period, with any fair value gains or losses
recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or
loss recognised in profit or loss includes any
dividend or interest earned on the financial
asset and is included in the “other gains or
losses” line item.

Impairment of financial assefts

The Group performs impairment assessment
under ECL model on financial assefts
(including trade receivables, other
receivables, deposits, pledged bank
deposit and bank balances) which are
subject to impairment under HKFRS 9.
The amount of ECL is updated at each
reporting date to reflect changes in credit
risk since initial recognition.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will
result from all possible default events
over the expected life of the relevant
instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL ("12m
ECL") represents the portion of lifetime
ECL that is expected to result from default
events that are possible within 12 months
after the reporting date. Assessment are
done based on the Group’s historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for factors
that are specific fo the debtors, general
economic conditions and an assessment
of both the current conditions at the
reporting date as well as the forecast of
future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL
for trade receivables. The ECL on these
assets are assessed individually.

For all other instruments, the Group
measures the loss allowance equal to
12m ECL, unless when there has been
a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition, the Group recognises
lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether
lifetime ECL should be recognised is based
on significant increases in the likelihood
or risk of a default occurring since inifial
recognition.
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NANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020
BE—_Z-SF=-A=+—HLEE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. EXESFTHEK(E)

POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued) ERMITE(E)

Financial assets (Continued) THEEE)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued) A E R e (4E)

() Significant increase in credit risk () EERAKE-LFH
In assessing whether the credit risk FEEERBBOLTEIAUREEKX
has increased significantly since initial B LEAR AEESHBRNBREAH
recognition, the Group compares ERMIEREENNERRRIDSE
the risk of a default occurring on REPeMmIEBLEENNERR - R
the financial instrument as at the BENFAMEE ARESERESEAE
reporting date with the risk of a NWEEREMER  EBEBELEEK
default occurring on the financial EBENEBERASBZ HAAES
instrument as at the date of initial RTREEE R o

recognition. In making this assessment,
the Group considers both quantitative
and qualitative information that is
reasonable and supportable, including
historical experience and forward-
looking information that is available
without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information AER EFHEERRBRES KIEIG

is faken into account when assessing s > BEEUTER :

whether credit risk has increased

significantly:

« an actual or expected significant e EZWMIEBEMMHI(WE)RAB
deterioration in the financial FEFSLRERSFEREERE
instrument’s external (if available) 1t

or internal credit rating;

e« significant deterioration in e HNBTMEEERBEERER
external market indicators of it MEENE - BEAGHE
credit risk, e.g. a significant #im B ERE RIBIE N

increase in the credit spread, the
credit default swap prices for the
debtor;
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

®

Significant increase in credit risk
(Continued)

e existing or forecast adverse
changes in business, financial or
economic conditions that are
expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to
meet its debt obligations;

e an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the operating
results of the debtor;

. actual or expected significant
adverse change in the regulatory,
economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that
results in a significant decrease
in the debtor’s ability to meet its
debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of
the above assessment, the Group
presumes that the credit risk has
increased significantly since initial
recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past
due, unless the Group has reasonable
and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.
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NANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020
BE—_Z-SF=-A=+—HLEE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. EXESFTHEK(E)

POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued) ERMITE(E)

Financial assets (Continued) THEEE)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued) A E R e (4E)

() Significant increase in credit risk () fEERKELAGE)
(Continued)
The Group regularly monitors the AEBEHERBNEERREERE
effectiveness of the criteria used ELAMAEERSER  XEWEE
to identify whether there has been 2] LARE 1R 3242 2E 68 40 12 7K 18 38 HA A 38
a significant increase in credit risk PIEERBNEZE EF -

and revises them as appropriate to
ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit
risk before the amount becomes past

due.
(i) Definition of default (i EXNNER

For internal credit risk management, BRANCEERREEMS  AEER
the Group considers an event of B WMATERRBIISRREES 2
default occurs when information ERNBETEBRATATROEGEEA
developed internally or obtained from (BREAEE)2EER(FZEREAEAE
external sources indicates that the BiEEz2EMiEFRR)  BBHEENS
debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, # o

including the Group, in full (without
taking into account any collaterals
held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group mm bR aM . XEERE M
considers that default has occurred SREEAHBBOOX  AIBEEY
when a financial asset is more than E4 BRELEEESEETEER R
90 days past due unless the Group HRPEFEERNENEZEEFTASE A
has reasonable and supportable {ERIER °

information to demonstrate that a
more lagging default criterion is more
appropriate.
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BE—_Z-SEFE=-A=1+—HLEE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. EXRSFHEE)

POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued) @I A(E)

Financial assets (Continued) THEEE)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued) THEERE(E)

(i) Credit-impaired financial assets (i FERESMEE
A financial asset is credit-impaired ERLE-—EHYZEHEMEEMET R
when one or more events of default REEREFANZ2EHE eREE
that have a detrimental impact on HECERE SREELBEESER
the estimated future cash flows of ENEBREREUTUERRSH

that financial asset have occurred.
Evidence that a financial asset is
credit-impaired includes observable
data about the following events:

(o) significant financial difficulty of () BTARBRALBREHER
the issuer or the borrower; B,

(b) a breach of contract, such as a (b) BERAH(MELNSBEHREH) ;
default or past due event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for (©) BRAMERA  EERAME
economic or contractual reasons REgEB2SERSHNEHE
relating to the borrower’s financial ERARMEBE(EEMERT T
difficulty, having granted to the FERE) ; R

borrower a concession(s) that
the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider; or

(d) it is becoming probable that the () BRAREBUESEWESRET
borrower will enter bankruptcy or HihBr s -
other financial reorganisation.



FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020
BE—_Z-SF=-A=+—HLEE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. EXESFTHEK(E)

POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued) @I A (E)

Financial assets (Continued) THEEE)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued) T EERE (E)

(iv) Write-off policy (iv) HSEBR
The Group writes off a financial asset HMEERBETRHFFEREVKEEH
when there is information indicating BEERKRE TR flmEFLHEE
that the counterparty is in severe TEEICEARERRF  IFER
financial difficulty and there is no BEZRAMS  EHRSECAHEB
realistic prospect of recovery, for SFEUBRBEREEARE) AEEE
example, when the counterparty has WiEEMEE EZRBEEERER
been placed under liquidation or has % CHEEZREENIRELAEER
entered into bankruptcy proceedings, U E R FE RSB IT o MSEER
or in the case of trade receivables, HIERASE - TMWEZETHRE
when the amounts are over three HRIBEER ©

years past due, whichever occurs
sooner. Financial assets written off
may still be subject to enforcement
activities under the Group’s recovery
procedures, taking into account legal
advice where appropriate. A write-off
constitutes a derecognition event. Any
subsequent recoveries are recognised
in profit or loss.
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BE-—F-_FF=A=t-HLHFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. EXETHEGE)
POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued) ERMITAEE)

Financial assets (Continued) THEEE)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued) THEERE(E)

(V) Measurement and recognition of ECL (v) EHEESENTERER

The measurement of ECL is a function
of the probability of default, loss
given default (i.e. the magnitude of
the loss if there is a default) and the
exposure at default. The assessment
of the probability of default and loss
given default is based on historical
data adjusted by forward-looking
information. Estimation of ECL reflects
an unbiased and probability-weighted
amount that is determined with the
respective risks of default occurring as
the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference
between all contractual cash
flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the confract and
the cash flows that the Group expects
to receive, discounted at the effective
interest rate determined at initial
recognition.
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EHNBBER(AHMENSIREENE
E)RENRBORE - FEEQR
EREVNERERBBEIHEAFL -
EREAMELERARE - BRHMEES
B fh AT R B R AR AR R R R IR A B
B HDREMENEEEDRRE
E o

—RMs BAGEESREAEARER
BEWNRUAMESNREREBELE
ERHERENREREZBENE
B WRDKREIREENERFE
BHER o



156

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020
BE—_Z-SF=-A=+—HLEE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL
(Continued)

Where ECL is measured on a collective
basis or cater for cases where
evidence at the individual instrument
level may not yet be available, other
receivables are grouped on the
following basis:

. Nature, size and industry of
debtors; and

. External credit ratings where
available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed
by management to ensure the
constituents of each group continue to
share similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based
on the gross carrying amount of the
financial asset unless the financial
asset is credit-impaired, in which case
interest income is calculated based on
amortised cost of the financial asset.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL
(Continued)

The Group recognises an impairment
gain or loss in profit or loss for all
financial instruments by adjusting their
carrying amount, with the exception
of frade receivables and other
receivables where the corresponding
adjustment recognised through a loss
allowance account.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset
only when the contractual rights to the
cash flows from the asset expire.

On derecognition of a financial asset at
amortised cost, the difference beftween
the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of
the consideration received and receivable
is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified
as either financial liabilities or as equity
in accordance with the substance of
the contractual arrangements and the
definitions of a financial liability and an
equity instrument.

\NCIAL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020
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(v) EHEEBENTERER(E)
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020
BE—_Z-SF=-A=+—HLEE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)
Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that
evidences a residual interest in the assets
of an entity affter deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the
Company are recognised at the proceeds
received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including trade and
other payables and bank borrowings are
subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method.

Derecognition

The Group derecognises financial liabilities
when, and only when, the Group’s
obligations are discharged, cancelled or
have expired. The difference between the
carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration paid
and payable is recognised in profit or loss.
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4. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the accounting
policies, which are described in Note
3. the Directors are required to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions
about the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. The estimates and
associated assumptions are based on
historical experience and other factors
that are considered to be relevant. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions
are reviewed on an ongoing basis.
Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the
estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision
affects both current and future periods.

The key estimates and assumptions that
may have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the
next financial year are discussed below.

4.

‘<

ANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020

4.

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

NRV assessment for inventories

At the end of the reporting period, the
management carries out inventory review
on a product-by-product basis. The Group
performed the inventories review including
estimation of the respective NRV which
was determined as the estimated selling
price in the ordinary course of business
less the estimated costs necessary to
make the sale. The Group estimates the
NRV for inventories by taken into account
a number of factors including prices of
actual sales during and/or subsequent
to the reporting period and independent
market information in relation to each of
the inventories held by the Group. The
amount of allowance would be changed
as a result of changes in current market
conditions subsequently.

As at 31 March 2020, the carrying
amount of the Group’s inventories was
HK$35,644,000, net of allowance of Nil
(2019: HKS$35,786,000, net of allowance of
Nil).
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KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Estimated impairment of goodwill

The management is required to carry
out impairment assessments of goodwill
irrespective of whether there is any
indication that the relevant CGUs may be
impaired. Determining whether goodwill
is impaired requires an estimation of
the recoverable amount of the CGUs
to which goodwill has been allocated,
which is the higher of its fair value less
costs of disposal and the value in use. The
recoverable amount of each of the CGUs
has been determining based on value in
use calculation. The calculation requires
the Group to estimate the future cash
flows expected to arise from the CGUs
based on financial budget approved by
management and certain key assumptions
which included discount rates, growth
rates, budgeted sales and gross margin
and their related cash inflow and outflow
patterns. Where the actual future cash
flows are less than expected, or change
in facts and circumstances which results in
downward revision of future cash inflows,
further impairment loss may arise.

As at 31 March 2020, the carrying amount
of goodwill is HK$12,126,000 (2019:
HK$19,949,000) (net of accumulated
impairment loss of HK$8,941,000 (2019:
Nil)). Details of the recoverable amount
calculation are disclosed in Note 18.

Provision of ECL for trade
receivables and other receivables

Trade receivables are assessed for ECL
individually and other receivables are
assessed for ECL individually or on a
collective basis. The provision of ECL is
sensitive to changes in estimate. The
information about the ECL and the Group’s
tfrade receivables and other receivables
are disclosed in Note 39%9b.

4.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020
BE—_Z-SF=-A=+—HLEE

5. REVENUE
Continuing operations

(i) Disaggregation of revenue from
contracts with customers

5. kKA

RECERK
() BEFEHUAZHHT

Year ended 31 March 2020
BE-E-ZE-B-t-PLEE

Publishing  Online and Retailing
and IPs social Digital and
licensing business  marketing  wholesales Total
TV BEIR HEl
EREE RREH nEkE  BEEHE it
HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$:000
ThT TR Tén Tén THT
Time of revenue recognised: BRABAZRE
At a point in time RE-KE
— Comic books sales - BEERHE 4,449 - - - 4,449
— Royalty income from IPs licensing ~ — RENBERRE
IR 3,884 - - - 3,884
— Operation of digital cinema —EBYEEIR - 811 - - 811
— New media advertising revenue — FEBESUA - - 121,762 - 121,762
— IPs digitalisation for production - EmNAER
{14 - - 9,358 - 9,358
— Sales of wine — BEHE - - - 134 134
Qver time R-BKH
— Social media marketing — HRBEIGEE - - 13,701 - 13,701
Total it 8,333 81 144,821 134 154,099
Principal IZA 8,333 811 144,377 134 153,655
Agent RE - - 444 - 444
Total o) 8,333 811 144,821 134 154,099
Geographical markets: HWERS
Hong Kong (place of domicile) B (EEMTH) 8,333 - - 134 8,467
The PRC HE - 811 144,821 - 145,632
Total it 8,333 81 144,821 134 154,099
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5. REVENUE (Continued) 5. WAGE)
Continuing operations BEREEK(E)
(Continued)
() Disaggregation of revenue from () BEFEARAZDH (&)

contracts with customers (Continued)

Year ended 31 March 2019
BE-E-NEZ-B=t-HLEE

Publishing  Online and Retailing
and IPs social Digital and
licensing business  marketing  wholesales Total
R BER S
EERE  RREHF  THEE  TEEME L
HK$’000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THR THR TEr THER THR
(Restated)
(&E5)
Time of revenue recognised: BRARA KRS :
At a point in time RE-BEH
— Comic books sales — BEERHE 4,688 - - - 4,688
— Royalty income from IPs — REANBER
licensing REZIR
ERA 6,371 — — — 6,371
— Operation of digital — EEYE
cinema g%k - 1,337 - - 1,337
— Digital marketing revenue — BB(LmS
:3-{ON — — 5,784 — 5,784
— Sales of wine — BEHE — - - 26 26
Total @it 11,059 1,337 5,784 26 18,206
Principal FEA 11,059 1,337 4,703 26 17,125
Agent RE - - 1,081 - 1,081
Total st 11,059 1,337 5,784 26 18,206
Geographical markets: WEHE
Hong Kong (place of domicile) — &i# (& £ftih) 11,059 - - 26 11,085
The PRC HE — 1,337 5,784 - 7,121

Total act 11,059 1,337 5,784 26 18,206
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020
BE—_Z-SF=-A=+—HLEE

5. REVENUE (Continued)

Continuing operations
(Continued)

(ii) Performance obligations for confracts

with customers
Publishing and IPs licensing

The revenue from publishing and IPs
licensing includes comic book sales
to the wholesale market and IPs
licensing.

For comic book sales, revenue is
recognised at a point in time when
control of the goods has transferred
according to respective agreed ferms
of delivery, i.e. the goods have been
delivered to the wholesaler’s specific
location. Following delivery, the
wholesaler has full discretion over the
manner of distribution and price to sell
the goods and has the right to refurn
unsold goods within 60 days under the
Group’s standard contract terms. The
normal credit term is 60 days upon
delivery.

For licensing business, the Group
grants its IPs to customers. Without
any promise to deliver other goods
or services, the customer can benefit
from the license that are readily
available and the license is considered
as a distinct performance obligation.
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5. REVENUE (Continued) 5. WA(E)
Continuing operations BFEKEXK(E)
(Continued)

(i) Performance obligations for contracts (i) BEFEHZBHYENL(E)

with customers (Continued)

Publishing and IPs licensing
(Continued)

The performance obligation provides
the customers with a right fo use the
Group’s IPs as they exist at the point
in time at which the license is granted.
Given there is no explicit or implied
obligation for the Group to undertake
activities during the license period
to change the form or functionality
of the IPs, or support or maintain the
value of the IPs, revenue is recognised
at a point in time.

The Group generally collects 1) the full
amount of contracted royalty income
before or when the IPs are provided
to customers; or 2) sales-based royalty
income that are aftributable to a
license of the IPs when the subsequent
sales occurs. For sales-based royalty,
customers agree the sales volume with
the Group each month and setftle the
royalty with a credit term of 60 days.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020

5. REVENUE (Continued)

Continuing operations
(Continued)

(ii) Performance obligations for confracts

5. KA(E)
FECEER(E)

(i) BEFEXNZENEME(E)

166

with customers (Continued)
Online and social business

Revenue from online and social
business is primarily derived from
collaborative arrangement with a
cinema circuit on the operation of a
digital cinema, in which the Group
provides the infrastructure of the
digital cinema while the source of
movies is provided by the cinema
circuit. The Group and the cinema
circuit jointly determine the manner
of ticketing, such as ticket price and
timing of release. The Group shares
and recognises 50% of the ficket
box office income according to the
agreed confract ferms. Revenue is
recognised at a point in time when
the related services have been
rendered to the end customers. Ticket
box office income is normally settled
in cash or by electronic payment, but
the Group normally grants credit terms
for 0-30 days to the cinema circuit for
the portion of ticket box office income
entitled by the Group in which the
tickets are sold and setftled through
online platform of the cinema circuit.
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5. REVENUE (Continued) 5. WA(E)
Continuing operations FEKEEK(E)
(Continued)

(i) Performance obligations for contracts (i) BEFEHZBHYENL(E)

with customers (Continued)
Digital marketing
As a principal

Revenue from digital marketing is
primarily derived from the marketing
services provided to the customer
through internet channel including
social media and infternet website.
The marketing services include 1)
design and coordination of new
media advertising; 2) IP digitalisation
for production and 3) social media
marketing with content development.

For new media advertising and IPs
digitalisation for production, since the
Group does not have an enforceable
right to payment for performance
completed to date, revenue is
recognised at a point in time when
the control of services or goods is
transferred to the customer, being
when the services are rendered and
contfrol of goods are transferred to
the customers. Certain confracts with
customers contain multiple distinct
performance obligations to be
performed by the Group. The Group
uses its best estimate of selling prices
by expected cost plus approach of
these service obligations as the basis
for the allocation of the transaction
price.

BT SHE
EREEA

BETSEEIEEBEHARE(R
BRHXEEREBARL) OFEFR
HehmBHEBRRBEELERA - mi5HE
ERBEFEDHERES 2R R
ADERABERBBLRIYER
REDSHEREARME -

BRI EEEERERANBERED
ft HRAEBEYEEEMRESHIL
EEMZBENBOESNRZTHIT
BA - HERBEIERZEFHECER
FTEF(HIEREFREHRBERERE
HECERTEFRE)  RZHEEE
BRAWE HEFZETANEES
SRS TERZZEHRABRBHNELE -
AEBEEREHEE 2 &EMT - U
ZERBEE2APEAMLEETE
ERTEMRZERZEE -
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020
BE—_Z-SF=-A=+—HLEE

5. REVENUE (Continued)

Continuing operations
(Continued)

(ii) Performance obligations for confracts

with customers (Continued)
Digital marketing (Continued)
As a principal (Continued)

For social media marketing, revenue
is recognised over time when the
customer simultaneously receives
and consumes the benefits provided
by the Group’s performance as the
Group performs, i.e. the broadcast of
the advertisement.

The Group normally grants credit
period of 30 to 120 days (2019:
30 to 60 days) to customers and
requires certain customers to provide
upfront deposits. When the Group
receives a deposit before production
commences, this will give rise to
contract liabilities which represent the
Group’s obligation to transfer goods or
services to a customer for which the
Group has received consideration (or
an amount of consideration is due)
from the customer. Conversely, the
contract is an asset if the measure
of remaining conditional rights to
consideration exceeds the satisfied
performance obligations. The contract
assets are transferred to frade
receivables when the rights become
uncondifional, i.e. upon completion of
all performance obligations within a
contract.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020
BE—_Z-SEFE=-A=1+—HLEE

5. REVENUE (Continued) 5. IKA(#E)
Continuing operations BFEKEXK(E)

(Continued)

(i) Performance obligations for contracts (i) BEFEHZBHYENL(E)

with customers (Continued)
Digital marketing (Continued)
As an agent

For certain new media advertising
revenue stream, the Group mainly
assists customers, i.e. advertising
companies, in sourcing digital
marketing products on online
platforms, such as mobile applications
or social media platforms, in the
capacity of an agent rather than
as the principal in a tfransaction,
revenue recognised is the net amount
of commission made by the Group
on a monthly basis. The credit terms
granted by the vendors may or may
not be consistent with the credit
period of 30 to 60 days granted by the
Group to the customers.

Retailing and wholesales

Revenue from retailing and wholesales
is primarily derived from sales of wine.
Revenue is recognised at a point in
time when the goods are delivered
and titles have passed. The normal
credit term is 60 days upon delivery.

BT S HE(E)
FERHREA

HRELHEBESWARE A&
BEXEURZREASOD(MEELE
ENBBEF(IEEQR)AELF
ERHBETSHERE(WFHRERRES
FHRERFE) MEBIAZWER
REBEBAMAETZREFR -EF
T2 EERRTERTETSE
AEERTEFIVEOBZEEHN—
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020
BE-"E-ZF=-A=1tT—-HLEE

5. REVENUE (Continued) 5. WA(&E)

Continuing operations BFEKEX£K(E)

(Continued)

(iii) Transaction price allocated to the (i) ?HEFEHAEFENTIGBHEEZ
remaining performance obligation for XZEH
conftracts with customers
All goods or services provided by the FERAEERRHEzERLRBERER
Group are for contracts with original SN TERAHS —FERUR - RIEF B
expected duration of one year or B IS SREERISE 1655 2 R - HIER
less. As permitted under HKFRS 15, the BEOMEZSERERENZRZER -

fransaction price allocated to these
unsatisfied contracts is not disclosed.

6. OTHER INCOME 6. Hfulg A
Continuing operations BFEREER
During the year ended 31 March RBE-ZE-_ZFEF=ZA=+—-HLFE"
2020, other income included bank Hitlh ABIERITFIEUA 2,414,000 T
interest income of HK$2,414,000 (2019: (ZZE—N%F :1,459,00087T) °
HK$1,459,000).
7. OTHER GAINS OR LOSSES 7. HbWssiEiE
Continuing operations BEREEK
2020 2019
—E-EF —Z2-hEF
HK$’000 HK$000
FET FET
(Restated)
(LE))
Loss on fair value change of financial #&RAFEEFABZRZ
assets at FVTPL eREEZAFER
BB EE (4,393) (1,7017)
Net foreign exchange loss (N 7= bR C (684) (1,433)
Gain on deregistration of a subsidiary MM — BB L T
el & 792 —
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEMB ARz WS 67 —
(4,218) (3,134)
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INCIAL STATEMENTS
& M B R M

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020
BE—_Z-SEFE=-A=1+—HLEE

8. FINANCE COST 8. MBEH

Note:During the year ended 31 March 2020, a full

impairment loss of HK$10,574,000 (2019: Nil) was
made in respect of prepayments to suppliers
in digital marketing business (the “Suppliers”)
due fo civil complaints by the Group against
the Suppliers for their suspected misconduct
behaviour.

Continuing operations BFEREEK
2020 2019
—E-EF —E-NEF
HK$°000 HK$000
FERT FET
Interests on bank borrowings RITERZAE 453 —
Interests on lease liabilities HEEEBEZRER 190 —
Interests on advances from BNYE=FFENARK
independent third parties 2ZFE 761 —
1,404 —
9. OTHER IMPAIRMENT LOSSES 9. HimERIE
Continuing operations FEKEXER
2020 2019
—E-EF —E-NEF
HK$°000 HK$000
FHT FET
Impairment loss recognised in BTHREERZ
respect of REEE
— goodwill (Note 18) — EE(MIsE18) (8,941) —
— prepayments (Note) — B RRIB () (10,574) —
— property, plant and equipment — ¥ BERKE
(Note 16) (KFEE106) (167) —
— right-of-use assets (Note 17) — ERAREE(ME17) (1,051) —
(20,733) —

M RBE-Z-ZF=ZA=+-HLFE ARK
AEMBB T RERER 2 HEB(ZSHE
BHD2ARTETAFHRBENR  BRATZ
EHED 2 AMREEL 10,674,000 T (=%
—hEF ) 2 2FRESE -
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020

10. SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information reported to the executive
directors, being the Group’s chief
operating decision maker ("CODM"), for
the purposes of resource allocation and
assessment of segment performance
focuses on types of goods or services
delivered or provided. This is also the
basis upon which the Group is organised
and specifically focuses on the Group’s
operating divisions. No operating segments
identified by the CODM have been
aggregated in arriving at the reportable
segments of the Group.

Specifically, the Group’s operating and
reportable segments from continuing
operations under HKFRS 8 Operating
Segments are as follows:

— Publishing and IPs licensing:
publication of comic books and
royalty income from licensing IPs of
comics.

— Online and social business: operation
of digital cinema and film production.

— Digital marketing: providing digital
marketing and communication, [P
digitalisation and agency of IP services
in the PRC.

— Retailing and wholesales: retailing of
wine in Hong Kong.
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10. SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2020, Sai
Van Club was disposed and its operation
in catering services is presented as a
discontinued operation. Prior year segment
disclosures have been represented. Details
of the discontinued operation is further set
out in Note 35.

During the year ended 31 March 2019,
the Group commenced the business in
digital marketing through acquisition of a
subsidiary as detailed in Note 34,

For the year ended 31 March 2019, Ucan
Commercial Group was disposed and its
operation in development of multi-media
application under the online and social
business is presented as a discontinued
operation. Details of the discontinued
operation is further set out in Note 35.

Segment revenue and results

The following is an analysis of the Group’s
revenue and results from contfinuing
operations by operating and reportable
segments.

10.

‘<

JANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBERERME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020
BE—_Z-SEFE=-A=1+—HLEE

ZEER (&)

RBE-Z-ZF=-A=+t—HLFE &
EBEMCRHERERERB 2 LLERE
IR —HERIEEEREE - L —FEZ2OHE
PRBC TUEHZY - RUEKEXK 2 E
—HFHIBRRMEESS

REE-ZZ-NF=ZA=T-HLFE &
SEEBWE BB QR (RN
AR BIS (L HBHERERT

BEZE-Z-AE=A=+t—-HLEE"
Ucan Commercial SEEHHEREE
PREREBEET 2 HEZHEBEARZ
BEOESINARIERCEER - RIEEEE
B2 E—DSHBEHNAMEEIS -

DEBARFEE

UTAREEFESEEB 2 MARFER
KERAMED M2
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020
BE—_Z-SF=-A=+—HLEE

10. SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

10. 7 #RE R (/&)

Segment revenue and results DEWMAREE(E)
(Continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2020 BE—E-_FEF=-HA=1+—HILFE
Continuing operations FFEEEE
Publishing  Online and Retailing
and IPs social Digital and
licensing business ~ marketing  wholesales  Consolidated
ERR AR BLR (4[4
ERRE RREH mEER  TEEME &R
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000
TEn TEn TR Thn Tén
Revenue WA
External salles MpsE 8,333 811 144,821 134 154,099
Segment results PREE (3,344) (657) (24,603) (418) (29,022)
Unallocated expenses RABREX (19,178)
Unallocated income ROBHA 1,233
Other gains and losses HtWERER (14,324)
Loss before tax from continuing RELEEHKL
operations BHaES (61,291)
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10. SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

Segment revenue and results
(Continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2019
(restated)

Continuing operations

\NCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBERRIE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020
BE—_Z-SEFE=-A=1+—HLEE

10. Z&RER ()

DEBRARFEEE)

BE_F-NF-A=1T—-HILFE

(BE2)
-‘tﬁé'ﬁ(«.—é:%ﬁ
Publishing ~ Online and Refailing
and IPs social Digital and
licensing business marketing  wholesales  Consolidated
R A BLIR ({4
ERRE HREH TR TEEHE e
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS"000 HKS'000

TiEn TiEn TR TiEn TR

Revenue KA
External sales MPRE
Segment resulfs PHEE
Unallocated expenses AAREX
Unallocated income RABMA
Other losses =033
Loss before tax from continuing RELEEEZRBNER

operations

The accounting policies of the operating
segments are the same as the Group’s
accounting policies as described in Note
3. Segment results represent the (loss) profit
before tax incurred by each segment
without the allocation of certain other
income, gain on disposal of subsidiaries,
gain on deregistration of a subsidiary, loss
on fair value change of financial assets at
FVTPL, share of (loss) profit of an associate
and unallocated corporate expenses. This
is the measure reported to the CODM for
the purposes of resource allocation and
performance assessment.

11,009 1337 5784 2 18,206

2,585 (1.481) (5,396) (927) (5.219)

(15319)
2128
2.809)

21.219)

KRED BB RRENEIMf 2 NEH

SEFEEAR - ’“"B%ﬁ ?a%’“‘ﬁﬁﬁ?iz
BRBLAT (B3 1R) A - TEREETHMK

A tH%BﬁE’AEZLI&I%E * WEERE R — M
BLoRzWE BRAFEESARSERZE
MEEZQAVEEZD2ERE - BE— BB
ENAZ(BE)ERRARDEEHEMZ o It
ROETBREERREBRESUEERDBER K
Bih 2Bk -
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020
BE—_Z-SF=-A=+—HLEE

10. SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

As the Group’s assets and liabilities are
only reviewed by the CODM as a whole
and hence no analysis of the Group’s
assets and liabilities by operating segments
is disclosed.

Other segment information
For the year ended 31 March 2020

Continuing operations

10.

NANCIAL STATEMENTS

ZEEFR (&)

HRAKEEEREEERREBERATE
HRERREEN BAUBRELIEBEER
BEREEDBED 2D °

Publishing ~ Online ond Retailing
and IPs sociol Digital and Segment
licensing busingss  marketing  wholesales fofol  Unallocated  Consolidoted
RRAR 8Lk HEL
3] xR TREE  REEME pi:) il 3R &8
HK§'000 HK§'000 HK§'000 HK§ 000 HK§'000 HK§ 000 HK§'000
i1 7 A7 7 in 7 7
Amounts included in the measwe of ~ EABERFER S
seqment profitor loss:
Amortisation of infangible assefs BrEeas - - 57 - 3] - 557
Amortisation of fim right EH L £ - n - - nm - m
Bank inferest income BARERA (62 @) (658) - (123) (1,691) (2414)
Depreciafion of property, plont and 0% BERZE
equipment bt 162 144 03 - 509 104 013
Depreciafion of right-of-use asefs FREEENE 81 - 1,862 - 248 23 494
Impoiment loss under ECL mociel FHEEEREET,
HEEE AL - 898 - 3,609 - 3,009
Impaiment loss on property, plant 0% BRRREL
and equipment il 116 - 51 - 167 - 167
Impaiment logs on fight-ofuse ossets  REEEZBER ] - %2 - 1,061 - 1,061
Amounts requlary provided fo the CODM  Em:EREH%ERE
248
Adaition to non-current ossets (Note) ~ AEERHER () 194 13 8,140 - 841 1% 6,909
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10. SEGMENT INFORMATION

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020

BE—_Z-SEFE=-A=1+—HLEE

10. 7 BER (&)

(Continued)
Other segment information Hih A HER (&)
(Continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2019 B -—_E—-NF=ZHA=Z=+—HIULEFE
(restated) (&)
Continuing operations B EER
Pudlishing ~~ Onling and Refaling
andl IPs social Digtal and Segment
licensing business markefing  wholesoles fofol  Unallocated ~ Consolidated
HARAR BLR {1
ERRE hyEDS THEE  REEMR P 5 il &a
HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS000 HKS000 HKS000 HKS 000 HKS000
Tin Tin i1 tin Tin Tin Tin
Amounts included in the measure of  itEADRRA A4
segment profit or loss:
Amorfisation of infangible assets Brezas = - 1% - pi - his
Amortisation of fim right EYnERE - 50 - - 540 - 50
Bank nfrest ncome LD ®) 0 ® - (an (139) (145)
Depreciofion of property, plant and 0% BRRREL
equipment fig 19 13 13 B 88 ] 38
Impaiment logs on firm right EYNELAERE - 93 - - 93 — 93
Impaiment loss under ECL model RHEERRRATY
HEEE Q0 - 175 - Pl - 5
Amounts requlary provided fo the CODM  Efm:EREHRERY
248
Addtion fo non-curent assefs (Note)  FERHEEE(MR) hik o U - 25,063 3 2100

Note:Non-current assets excluded those relating to
discontinued operations and excluded financial

instruments.

M FRBEEFTBRHECRLIEEXBERERT

BELRIA -
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020
BE—_Z-SF=-A=+—HLEE

10. SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)
Geographic information

The Group’s continuing operations are
located in the PRC, including Hong Kong.

Information about the Group’s revenue
from external customers is presented
based on the location of goods physically
delivered to or location of services
provided to the customers and information
about its non-current assets is based on
geographical location of the assets.

10. 7 BE# (&)

EE R

FEBHFEREXBUNTRE(EES
) e

ERARERENDESZRAZEB TR
BEREBR 2 BROE S REBEZ
W25 MABEERDEEZANDE
WREZFEHE -

Revenue from external
customers from

continuing operations Non-current assets

REFESEER
HNBEFHWA FRBEE
2020 2019 2020 2019
ZBIBRE —T-NEFE ZB-BF —T-hF
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HKS$'000
FEx BT FExT TiEx
(Restated)
(&)
Hong Kong 58
(place of domicile) (EXF1EH) 8,467 11,085 2,340 3,975
The PRC P 145,632 7,121 21,276 24,840
Macau s — = — 195
154,099 18,206 23,616 29,010

Note:Non-current assets excluded those relating to
financial instruments including financial assets at
FVTPL and rental deposits (2019: financial assets
at FVTPL).
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10. SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

Information about major
customers

Revenue from customers of the
corresponding years conftributing over 10%
of total sales of the Group are as follows:

10.

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020
BE—_Z-SEFE=-A=1+—HLEE

7 EE R ()

FREEREFZEH

HEFERBEMASEAHERR
BEEZWAMT :

10% 2

2020 2019

—E-EF —Z2-hF

HK$°000 HK$000

THERT FET

Customer A? BEER? 64,789 N/A®

TEMA®

Customer B! EFZ' N/A* 3,180
rEA

Customer C' EFR' N/A* 3,439
rEAR

Customer D? BEET? N/A* 3,640
TER*

Customer E' EFK' N/A* 2,907
TEA

i Revenue from publishing and IPs licensing ! WARE ERRABEREED L -

segment.

Revenue from digital marketing segment.

No revenue is recognised in profit or loss for the
corresponding year.

The corresponding revenue did not contribute
over 10% of the total revenue of the Group.

: WARBHBHEEREDE -
: HERFELENES PEREFBA

! HEREGAEBEREAE BB 10% -



FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020
BE—_Z-SF=-A=+—HLEE

10. SEGMENT INFORMATION 10. 7 EPER(F)
(Continued)
Revenue from major products and FEERRBRBEWA
services
The following is an analysis of the Group’s AEENETEERRRBEEENBRA D
revenue from its major products and T
services:
2020 2019
—EEHF —E-hEF
HK$’000 HK$000
FERT FBT
(Restated)
(&ZE5)
Comic books BEELE 4,449 4,688
Premium wine BEEE 134 26
Royalty income hix e W A 3,884 6,371
Digital cinema operation REHIBEZ R 811 1,337
Digital marketing HIB LTS HERE 144,821 5,784
154,099 18,206
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SOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
. i FEMBERERME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020
BE—_Z-SEFE=-A=1+—HLEE

11. LOSS BEFORE TAX 11. BRBLATE 1B
Continuing operations BFEREEK
2020 2019
—E-EF —E-NEF
HK$’000 HK$"000
FET FHET
(Restated)
(LEH))
Loss before tax has been arrived at MREAIEBEHIRT 5%
after charging: 18
Staff costs BT A
Directors’ emoluments (Note 15) EEM 2 (MIEE15) 5,531 5,053
Other staff costs: HME TR :
— Retirement benefit scheme — BRARBRIFFEIMHR
conftributions 662 278
— Salaries and other benefits — FERHEMER 20,397 12,042
26,590 17,373
Auditor’s remuneration RS
— Audit services — BRI 2,380 1,352
— Non-audit services — FETRE 550 132
Amortisation of film right (included in  E&MAE#H Gt AHE
cost of sales) F ) 117 540
Consultancy and other professional  BHRHMEZER (G
fees (included in administrative ATHER) (KiEE)
expenses) (Note) 1,287 1,263
Cost of inventories recognised as BRABIZEFERLK
expenses 2,891 2,002
Costs to fulfil the contracts with EREFEHNZAA
customers 128,353 2,322
Depreciation of property, plant and  #1% - BERREZITE
equipment 613 382
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEEZITE 4,974 =
Note:The amounts represent fees paid to consultants Mzt S EENEREFRUEEZRNVERER -

providing professional advices on business
operations.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020

12. INCOME TAX CREDIT

Continuing operations

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of
Bermuda, the Company is not subject fo
any income ftax in Bermuda for both years.

Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at
16.5% (2019: 16.5%) on the estimated
assessable profits for both years.

On 21 March 2018, the Hong Kong
Legislative Council passed The Inland
Revenue (Amendment) (No.7) Bill 2017
(the ™Bill”) which introduces the fwo-
tiered profits tax rates regime. The Bill was
signed info law on 28 March 2018 and
was gazetted on the following day. Under
the two-tiered profits tax rates regime,
the first HKS2 million of profits of qualifying
corporations is taxed at 8.25%, and profits
above HK$2 million is taxed at 16.5%. The
profits of group entities not qualifying for
the two-tiered profits tax rates regime
will confinue to be taxed at a flat rate of
16.5%. No provision for taxation in Hong
Kong Profits Tax was made as there is
no assessable profits for both reporting
periods.

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise
Income Tax (the "EIT Law”) and
Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law,
the tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25%
for both years. Taxation arising in other
jurisdictions is calculated at the rates
prevailing in the relevant jurisdictions.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020
BE-_Z-_ZF=-A=t+—-HLFE

12.INCOME TAX CREDIT (Continued) 12. FREHE SR (&)

Continuing operations
(Continued)

Deferred tax
— Deferred tax credit

Income tax credit

FEREXK(E)
2020 2019
—2-2F  —Z-NF
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FET
IESERLTE
— B IRE R 155 6
FRISBLIK R 155 6

Details of deferred tax are set out in Note 31. BRELEFEEFEHRMEEI -



FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020
BE—_Z-SF=-A=+—HLEE

12.INCOME TAX CREDIT (Continued)

Continuing operations
(Continued)

The income tax credit for the year can be
reconciled to the loss before tax per the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income as follows:

12.

Pt s (&)
FEKEXRK (&)

FRREHESTEESEERAMEEIK
BmERAFIGBABRYROT

2020 2019
—E-EF —ZE-hEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FET
(Restated)
(BEY))
Loss before tax BRELATES 1B 61,291 21,219
Tax at the domestic income tax rates  RBIAFIEHREEH 2
(2019: Hong Kong Profits Tax rate of BHE(ZZ—HIE  FB
16.5%) FEFHFHZE16.5%) 12,792 3,501
Tax effect of income not taxable in FTERERFERBAERH
determining taxable profit WA ZBBEE 226 391
Tax effect of expense not deductible  FTEERFUER T AT 08
in determining taxable profit MR oHEE (3,363) (1,3006)
Tax effect of share of (loss) profit for B —EEE AT (BE)
an associate mA 2 B (28) 41
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised REBAHREEE 2B
A (9,307) (2,904)
Utilisation of tax losses previously not B A LA AR ERTFIE
recognised E5E 332 293
Tax effect of deductible temporary AERZ AR EEEE
differences not recognised pAY ST (497) —
Effect of different tax rates of REMBZERELE 2
subsidiaries operating in other MEBARZTEIMEZ
jurisdictions e — (10)
Total income tax credit Frisfik R4 %E 155 6
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13.

14.

DIVIDENDS

No dividend was paid or proposed during
the year ended 31 March 2020, nor has
any dividend been proposed since the end
of reporting period (2019: Nil).

LOSS PER SHARE

From continuing operations

The calculation of the basic loss per share
attributable to the owners of the Company
is based on the following data:

ANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBERRIE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020
BE—_Z-SEFE=-A=1+—HLEE
13. RE

REZ-Z-ZHF=-A=1+-HLFELHE
MASERRATRE  BREHRETER
BRIEARE(ZZE-NF &) -

14. BREE
REFELSERE

ARAEREARLGEBRETERILIBET
BETE

2020 2019
—E-EF —E-hEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
(Restated)
(LEY))
Loss for the year attributable to owners BRI EERELREE S
of the Company for the purposes of BAREEABEEE
basic loss per share 518 (58,235) (31,335)
Less: N
Loss for the year from discontinued RERILREXBRZ2FE
operations 2,601 10,827
Loss for the purpose of basic loss per  FARFTERBFELEER
share from continuing operations ZEBREREBEZEE (55,634) (20,508)
2020 2019
—E-EF —E-hEF
000 ‘000
F] T
Number of shares for the purposes of BARITESREAREE>
basic loss per share B & 1,390,657 1,390,657
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020
BE—_Z-SF=-A=+—HLEE

14. LOSS PER SHARE (Continued)

From continuing and discontinued
operations

The calculation of the basic loss per share
attributable to the owners of the Company
is based on the following data:

14. BIREE (&)
REFEARKILEEERK

RRBFEEARLGERERABEZAER
BUT#IE :

2020 2019
—E-EF —Z2-hF
HK$°000 HK$"000
FEx FET
(Restated)
(LE))

Loss for the year attributable to owners AR:TESRERNEE 2

of the Company for the purpose of BARBEEABEEE

basic loss per share g} (58,235) (31,335)

The denominators used are the same as
those detailed above for basic loss per
share from continuing operations.

From discontinued operations

Basic loss per share for the discontinued
operation is HKO.2 cent per share (2019
HKO.8 cent per share), based on the loss for
the year from the discontinued operations
of HK$2,601,000 (2019: HKS$10,827,000) and
the denominators used are the same as
those detailed above for basic loss per
share from continuing operations.

No diluted loss per share for the year both
years was presented as there were no
potential ordinary shares in issue for both
years.
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15. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
EMOLUMENTS

(a) Directors’ and chief
executive’s emoluments

Directors’ and chief executive’s
remuneration for the year, disclosed
pursuant to the applicable Listing
Rules and the CO, is as follows:

i 2019-2020 XALEERMERAF 187
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15. 25 THABKRSREEAES
2=

(o) EERTHRRARBZHME

REEREHRAR B RGIKE 2
FEEERITHRARZMENT :

Retirement
Salaries benefit
and other scheme
Fees benefits  contributions Total
Hek BIRER
he Hit R HE i3 g
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
TiEn TiEx THEx TiER
2020 k- 33
Executive directors (Note i) BITES (M)
Huang Mingguo EHE
(chief executive officer) (THEH) 120 2,370 18 2,508
Kwan Kin Chung e 120 725 18 863
Yuen Kin = 120 1,050 12 1,182
Chow Lai Wah Livia BEZE 120 360 18 498
Independent non-executive BUHTES
directors (Note ii) (Hati)
Fan Chun Wah Andrew BEE 240 - - 240
Wong Kwan Kit BEA 120 - - 120
Mung Yat Lik -1 120 - - 120
Total okl 960 4,505 66 5,531
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15. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
EMOLUMENTS (Confinued)

(a) Directors’ and chief

15. B3 - THHABRSREEAES
2= (%)

(o) EERTHAR <M= ()

188

executive’s emoluments

(Continued)
Refirement
Salaries benefit
and other scheme
Fees benefits ~ contributions Total
HeR BIRER
we At Fls HEE fag
HKS"000 HKS"000 HKS"000 HK$'000
TEr T TiEn T
2019 “E-hE
Executive directors (Note i) BITES (M)
Huang Mingguo EHE
(chief executive officer) (Note iii)  ({TBUBE) (MizEii) 89 1,633 14 1,736
Kwan Kin Chung BRnE 120 725 18 863
Yuen Kin =i 120 881 18 1,019
Chen Man Lung (Note iv) BR3CEE (Wt iv) 5 62 2 69
Chow Lai Wah Livia BEE 120 360 18 498
Tang Kwing Chuen Kenneth BHER (Katv)
(Note v) 114 165 6 285
Independent non-executive BUEHTES
directors (Note i) (HEii)
Fan Chun Wah Andrew BEE 240 - - 240
Lai Qiang (Note vi) B (Matvi) 100 — — 100
Ng Ying (Note vii) RE(FrEEvii) 118 - - 118
Wong Kwan Kit (Note viii) EEA (W& viil) 89 - - 89
Mung Yat Lk (Note ix) S-n(kaix) 36 - - 36
Total o] 1,151 3,826 76 5,053
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BE-—F-_FF=A=t-HLHFE

15. 25 THABKRSREEAES
2= (&)

15. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

(a) Directors’ and chief () EERTHARZHME (E)

executive’s emoluments
(Continued)

Notes:

) The executive directors’ emoluments shown
above were for their services in connection
with the management of the affairs of the
Company and the Group.

i) The independent non-executive directors’
emoluments shown above were for their
services as directors of the Company.

iii) Mr. Huang Mingguo was appointed as the
executive director and chief executive
officer on 3 July 2018.

iv)  Mr. Chen Man Lung resigned as the
executive director on 16 April 2018.

V) Mr. Tang Kwing Chuen Kenneth resigned as
an executive director on 11 March 2019.

vi)  Mr. Lai Qiang resigned as the independent
non-executive director on 31 January 2019.

vii)  Ms. Ng Ying resigned as the independent
non-executive director on 25 March 2019.

viii)  Mr. Wong Kwan Kit was appointed as the
independent non-executive director on 3
July 2018.

iX) Mr. Mung Yat Lik was appointed as the
independent non-executive director on 14
December 2018.

During the year, no emoluments were
paid by the Group to the directors
as a discretftionary bonus or an
inducement to join or upon joining the
Group or as a compensation for loss of
office.

There was no arrangement under
which a director had waived or
agreed to waive any remuneration.

) EXRHIBTEScMENHRRERHE
BARRRAEESHE 2 RBE2ME -

iy EXFRINBNIHTEBECHMEIMKE
BEARTDESHRERB ML -

iy ZWREEER-Z-N\FLA=HEZHE
RPTESRITHESR -

V) BRXBEEER=-Z-NFOA+AHAEE
BITES -

v) BREKREER-F-AF=ZA+-HEE
HITES -

vi) BEREER-ZF-NF-A=+-H&E
BYFHITES -

vi) REZIR-F-NF=ZA-+HARE
BYFHITES -

vii) EEBARRER-ZF-NFLtA=ZREZE
REVFHTES -

X)) B-HNRERZE-NE+-At+HARE
ZERBUFUTES

FR - AEEYENESIAMESERTE
ARBEREEMAREERRA R 2R
BB 1

BEANESHREIRNERETAHRE 2%
B



FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020
BE—_Z-SF=-A=+—HLEE

15. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 15. 55 - THRAIRSREEAER
AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S ZM & (&)

EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Employee’s emoluments (b) EEZEM S

Of the five individuals with the highest
emoluments in the Group, three
(2019: three) were directors and chief
executive officer of the Company
whose emoluments are included in
the disclosure in Note 15(a) above.
Emoluments of the remaining two
(2019: two) individual was as follows:

rEEBLIEREFALTH=R(=F
—NEF  ZR)BRFRAEBRITHA
B REZHMEE R EXMEE 15(a)F
BT EBEMEB(ZZE-—NF: WR)
ATZMEWT :

2020 2019
—2-2F —T-NF
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET FET
Salaries and other benefits FehEMRE 1,834 1,187
Retirement benefit scheme BRIRTE R FT B R
confributions 115 36
1,949 1,223
Their emoluments were within the BE2MENRELTAR :
following bands:
2020 2019

—BoBE  —E2-NF
Number of Number of
employee employee

EEA™ BEAH

Nil fo HK$1,000,000 Z % 1,000,000 % 5T
HK$1,000,001 to HKS$1,500,000 1,000,001 BT E
1,500,000 & 7T
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16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND

N
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{CIAL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020
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16. Y15 - BMEK&RE

EQUIPMENT
Vehicles,
Leasehold fumiture and
improvements equipment Total
BEN% RE - R
£8 ET fam
HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000
TR TEn Tén
COsT HA
At 1 April 2018 RZE-NEMA-H 6,029 17,198 23,221
Arising from acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 34) WENBAREE (I 34) = 46 46
Addifions HE 219 131 410
Disposal of subsidiaries LENBLE (33) (150) (183)
Exchange realignment ExjE (160) 279) (439)
At 31 March 2019 RZE-NE=B=1-H 6,115 16,946 23,061
Arising from acquisition of a subsidiary (Note 34) WE-EHEAREE (it 34) 300 150 450
Addifions HE 190 301 401
Disposal of a subsidiary HE-BREAR (5.004) (4,103) (9.167)
Exchange realignment Expd (215) (753) (968)
At 31 March 2020 RZEZEE=B=+-H 1,326 12,541 13,867
DEPRECIATION AND IMPAIRMENT TEREE
At 1 April 2018 RZE-NEMA-H 5,356 17,066 22,422
Provided for the year REERE 137 268 405
Eliminated on disposal of subsidliaries HEMBD B (33) (126) (159)
Exchange realignment ExjE (160) (284) (44d)
At 31 March 2019 RZE-NE=B=1-H 5,300 16,924 22,224
Provided for the year AEERE 394 219 613
Impairment loss recognised in profit or loss RERRZHEFE 36 131 167
Eliminated on disposal of a subsidiory HE-BHBLARME (5.064) (4.103) ©.167)
Exchange realignment ExRz (257) (706) (963)
At 31 March 2020 H=Z-gF=p=1-7 409 12,465 12,874
CARRYING VALUES BHE
At 31 March 2020 RZEZEF=F=1-H 917 76 993
At 31 March 2019 RZE-NE=R=1-H 815 2 837
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND

EQUIPMENT (Continued)

Depreciation is provided to write off the
cost over their estimated useful lives, using
the straight-line method, at the following
rates per annum:

Leasehold Shorter of the lease
improvements term or 10%
Vehicles, furniture 15% to 20%

and equipment

As at 31 March 2020, property, plant and
equipment with an aggregate cost of
HK$5,941,000 (2019: HKS$14,854,000) were
fully depreciated but in use.

Impairment assessment for
property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets

Due to the decline in financial
performance of publishing and IPs licensing
business and certain digital marketing
operation in Guangzhou, the PRC
(collectively, the “Relevant CGUs"), the
Directors concluded there was indication
for impairment and conducted impairment
assessment on recoverable amounts
of the Relevant CGUs which included
property, plant and equipment and right-
of-use assets with carrying amounts of
HKS$167,000 and HKS$1,051,000 (collectively,
the “Relevant Assefs”). The Group regards
Relevant CGUs as separately identifiable
CGUs. The recoverable amount of CGUs
have been determined based on a value
in use calculation. That calculation uses
cash flow projections based on financial
budgets approved by the management of
the Group covering the remaining tenure
of the lease as at 31 March 2020.
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FREENEUMEBARA

HEMRERZ HEAFH 10%
(LBEERE)
E R 15% % 20%
NE &)
R-ZZZZF=ZF=1+—0' BRE5H
5,941,000 st (=& — L 5 : 14,854,000

BT 2% BERRBEBEITEED
FEEM -

n¥% BERREAREAERE
2R B

AR R ABREEREXEEURRNFEE
MEE 2B THEBLHISHEREER (FBIE
BREELEENDWBRRREE  ER
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16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND

EQUIPMENT (Continued)

Impairment assessment for
property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets
(Continued)

Based on the result of the assessment, the
Directors determined that the recoverable
amounts of the CGUs are lower than the
carrying amounts. The impairment amount
has been allocated to each category of
property, plant and equipment and right-
of-use assets such that the carrying amount
of each category of asset is not reduced
below the highest of its fair value less cost
of disposal, its value in use and zero. Based
on the value in use calculation and the
allocation, an impairment of HK$167,000
and HK$1,051,000, respectively, has been
recognised against the carrying amounts
of property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets.

16.

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020
BE—_Z-SEFE=-A=1+—HLEE

MZE - BB KRR (E)

VR - BERRBEUREAEEE
Z B ER L ()

BERAMGER  EBHERSHREELEN
Z AW E S BEREREE - BESES D
BEEENE BEEKRBURERAEE
B EEEEEZREEFERIREER
HAFEERHERS EEREE - UK
Z(ZENBSE) BRREREMAEEFTEN
REMBAE  BRWE - BERREBURE
REEE 2 RE(E®RR D5 167,000% 7T K%
1,051,000 T 2 @A °
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For both years, the Group leases various
offices for its operations. Lease contracts
are entfered into for fixed term of two
to three years. In determining the lease
ferm and assessing the length of the non-
cancellable period, the Company applies
the definition of a confract and determines
the period for which the confract is
enforceable.

The Group regularly entered info short-
tferm lease for warehouse. As at 31 March
2020, the portfolio of short-term leases is
similar to the portfolio of short-term leases
to which the short-term lease expense as
disclosed above.

Impairment loss of HKS$1,051,000 has
been recognised during the year ended
31 March 2020. Details of impairment
assessment are set out in Note 16.

17. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 17. ERAEEE
Leased
buildings
HERTF
HK$’000
FHERT
At 1 April 2019 R-ZE-HEW™BE—H
Carrying values BREE 6,369
At 31 March 2020 R-B-FF=A=+—H
Carrying values BREE 1,825
For the year ended 31 March 2020 BE-_Z_ZF=A=+—HLEE
Depreciation charge MEXEH 4,974
Impairment loss recognised in profit or REZHERZBEEE
loss 1,051
Expense relating to: B TRERBZHAX
— Short-term leases — EHEE 389
— Leases with lease term ending within — HAHREXREABRBRI2EAAR
12 months from the date of initial witzHE
application 911
Total cash outflow for leases HERSBRLE 6,406
Additions to right-of-use assets NECAREE 1,698

REZMEFE  ARERAEEHEZER

RE AU ZHES

WEEHEPAEME=

FoBERAHEFIETATHEDNBERER -

ERBEAGHZES
A -

URREEHN 2%

AEEEHRAET L EHEE - R2F
ZFE=A=+—-R" LﬁﬁfFﬁiaiﬂ.:./\J:f(Fﬁ
REEMEERX 2 ERHEEASHEM -

Z/J'JNEESTE 1,051,000,%75 8 ﬁﬁ*ﬂﬁ‘i f*

HRMEE16 -
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020
BE—_Z-SEFE=-A=1+—HLEE

17. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 17. EREEE(E)
(Continued)
Restrictions or covenants on HERSIHREE
leases
In addition, lease liabilities of HK$2,806,000 i RZE-_FEF=ZA=+—HERME
are recognised with related right-of-use BFEAEERE1,8250008 tEAEEERE
assets of HK$1,825,000 as at 31 March 2020. 2,806,000 T - ZE & 1% 3 30 M N1
The lease agreements do not impose any MP#HZ HEEEFATREREEHERE
covenants. Leased assets may not be used m °

as security for borrowing purposes.

18. GOODWILL AND IMPAIRMENT 18. HE K REFT G
ASSESSMENT
HK$000
FiER
At 1 April 2018 R=—Z=—N\EmA—A —
Arising from acquisition of a subsidiary Ui BE — R B D B E 4 (MIEE34)

(Note 34) 19,613
Exchange realignment ERFE 336
At 31 March 2019 R=-TB-NFE=RA=+—H 19,949
Arising from acquisition of a subsidiary Y ig — M B A B =4 (s 34)

(Note 34) 2,412
Exchange realignment xR (1,294)
At 31 March 2020 RZE-EF=A=+—H 21,067
IMPAIRMENT A
At 1 April 2018 and 31 March 2019 R-ZB-N\FNA—AKR=ZF—NEF

=A=+—H —
Impairment loss recognised during FRERRZBEERE

the year 8,941
At 31 March 2020 RZE-EF=A=+—H 8,941
CARRYING VALUES IREE
At 31 March 2020 RZE-EF=A=+—H 12,126

At 31 March 2019 RZZB-NF=ZR=+—H 19,949



———
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18. GOODWILL AND IMPAIRMENT 18. B8 KRB E L (&)

196

ASSESSMENT (Continued)

For the purposes of impairment testing,
goodwill has been allocated to two individual
CGUs, each comprising a subsidiary, namely
Egmen Technology Limited* (1t ;X 5 % FI &l %
BR2AF) CEgmen”) and Hyperchannel Info
Tech., LId* (Tt R EEREEEBEARLE)
("Hyperchannel Info”). The carrying amount
of goodwill (net of accumulated impairment
loss) as at 31 March 2020 allocated to Egmen
and Hyperchannel Info are HKS$9,733,000
(2019: HK$19,949,000) and HKS$2,393,000 (2019:
N/A), respectively.

The basis of the recoverable amounts of
the above CGUs and their major underlying
assumptions are summarised below:

Egmen

The recoverable amount of this CGU has
been determined based on a value in use
calculation. That calculation uses cash
flow projection based on financial budgets
approved by management covering a
five-year period, and a discount rate
of 20.13% (2019: 20.14%), applied by an
independent professional valuer, Valor
Appraisal & Advisory Limited (the “Valuer”).
The cash flow of this CGU beyond the
five-year period is extrapolated using a
2% (2019: 2%) growth rate. This growth
rate is based on the relevant industry
growth forecasts. Other key assumptions
for the value in use calculation related
to the estimation of cash inflows/outflows
include budgeted sales, gross margin and
related cash inflow and outflow patterns.
The estimation is based on the unit’s
past performance and management’s
expectations for the market development.

English name is for identification purpose only.
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18. GOODWILL AND IMPAIRMENT

ASSESSMENT (Continued)
Egmen (Continued)

During the year 31 March 2020, there
is decline in financial performance
of Egmen for the year and expected
continuous decline in the forecast period
partly due to the negative effects by the
novel coronavirus. The Directors have
consequently determined impairment
of goodwill amounted to HK$8,941,000.
The impairment loss has been included
in “other gains or losses” line item. No
impairment on other assefts of Egmen is
considered necessary.

If discount rate increased to 22%,
individually with all other parameters
remain constant, the recoverable
amount would reduce by approximately
HK$5,356,000 and further impairment of
goodwill with the same amount will be
made.

Hyperchannel Info

The recoverable amount of this CGU has
been determined based on a value in use
calculation. That calculation uses cash
flow projection based on financial budgets
approved by management covering a
five-year period, and a discount rate of
23.41% (2019: N/A), applied by the Valuer.
The cash flow of this CGU beyond the
five-year period is extrapolated using
a 2% (2019: N/A) growth rate. Other
key assumptions for the value in use
calculation related to the estimation of
cash inflows/outflows include budgeted
sales, gross margin and related cash inflow
and outflow patterns. The estimation is
based on management’s expectations for
the market development. Management
believes that any reasonably possible
change in any of these assumptions would
not cause the aggregate carrying amount
of this CGU to exceed the aggregate
recoverable amount of this CGU.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the
management determined that there is no
impairment on the CGU of Hyperchannel
Info containing goodwill (2019: N/A).

18.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020
BE_ZT_ZF-A=+-HLFE

BE MR ERE(E)

E%F“ﬂ(,.a)

%%F?EWWH%;E 2T B R E%HTEA?E E'J
BAKFETE BOREHARAFTEDMKE
aﬁ’FFETﬁl & EEHEBRIAH
8,941,0008 T 2 B ERE o BEEEC T

ATHMWEREIE IRE - MBERS F P
MEMEEETRE -
i ERRIRE FAE22% MEMBHRE

A% RlTTUg[E & 28 458 4 49 5,356,000 78
T WEEHAER SR E-SHERE -

WEESELBENZ2TRESENREFERE
BfEMEE - 2T EEAERNSEERE
ZRERFHCHREECRESREEA
REEEMERZBIRE23.41%(ZE—H
F:RER) ZEBEIFHRESELEN
CEEREFERA2% (ZZE—HLF : FEH)
BREEHHEE - HIBRESRAFRHBEFE
BeFEREEECHMFTERREEHE
FHE - EMNEREBREAARMEESR o
ZATTEREREEEMSREZES - B
BRAE LABRIEERNEINEEEZE
FEERHREECENNRMEALAEERY
HulkEl £ 58485 o

REBE-ZE-_ZEF-A=+—HLEFE - §
HEERL BEFBEEERERSELSE
LI EBEMBE(ZE-NF  FERA) -



198
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19. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE

NANCIAL STATEMENTS

19. R —EBE QT 2 &R

2020 2019
—E-EH —E-hEF
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FET

Cost of investments in an unlisted RIELTEE DT
associate BE R 1,476 1,476
Share of post-acquisition losses EEWEREE (258) (86)
1,218 1,390

Particulars of the Group’s associate as at
31 March 2020 are as follows:

R-ZBE-EFE=-A=1+-HBAKEHZLQT
ZHMAERNT

Proportion of

Form of Place of nominal value of
business incorporation/ Class of issued share capital
Name of associate  structure operation shares held held by the Group  Principal activity
HAKRBEREZERTT
BENTER EBERES  AMAY/EERE  FERGER REEERDL TEXH
2020 2019
“EIBE “E-NF
Culturecom Media  Incorporated  Hong Kong Ordinary 18% 18%  Production of digital

& Entertainment
Limited ("CMEL")

NtBEFRER Bu1AvA B
BRAF(TCMEL])

Note:The Group has the power to appoint two out of
the five directors of CMEL. In the opinion of the
Directors, the Group has significant influence
over CMEL and it is therefore classified as an
associate of the Group.

The Director consider the associate is

immaterial and no financial information is
set out accordingly.
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(Note) (Note) confent and
entertainment
services

EER (Kiat) (W) BBRARRER
BRERB

BYEE - ZF%I’E*E;ECMELﬁ%?%”“EFW%
RR AEERCMELEEEAREE
jJ [ZIIH:%& PERAREBENT o

EERR ZBEQNRAMTIRE - RILEMR
EEFIE M BER -
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\NCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBERRIE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020
BE—_Z-SEFE=-A=1+—HLEE

20. B EE

Customer
contracts
and related
Club customer
memberships relationship Software Total
EFEHE
e HHEFER B# &g
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$000
TR TEn i Thr
(Note a) (Note b) (Note b)
(Wzta) (Mztb) (Mzb)
COST AR
At 1 April 2018 RZE-NEMA-H 1,385 - - 1,385
Acquired on acquisition of a EERKE-BHBAT
subsidiary - 2,767 56 2,823
Addition nE = = 2,208 2,208
Exchange realignment EXRE = 35 6 41
At 31 March 2019 RZE-NE=A=1+-H 1,385 2,802 2,270 6,457
Acquired on acquisition of @ EERKE-BRBAT
subsidiary = 2,144 = 2,144
Exchange realignment EXxHE = (138) (193) (331)
At 31 March 2020 RZEZEE=A=+-H 1,385 4,808 2,077 8,270
AMORTISATION B
At 1 April 2018 RZE-NENF-H - - - -
Charge for the year FRk = 166 129 295
At 31 March 2019 RZE-NE=A=1+-H - 166 129 295
Charge for the year ERk = 428 129 557
Exchange realignment EXRE = ) (19) (36)
At 31 March 2020 RZZE-ZE£=H=1+-H — 577 239 816
CARRYING VALUES EHE
At 31 March 2020 RZE-Z£=H=1+-H 1,385 4,231 1,838 7,454
At 31 March 2019 W=Z-nF=B=1-8 1,385 2,636 2,141 6,162
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S

—E_EF=A=t+—HLEE

20. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

Notes:

21.

Culturecom Holdings Limited  Annual Report 2019-2020

(@

Club memberships are life corporate club
memberships in recreational clubs. As the club
memberships are considered by the Directors as
having an indefinite useful life, the memberships
are not amortfised unftil their useful lives are
determined to be finite. After considering the
prices quoted in the second hand market, no
impairment of the club memberships is made
during both years.

(b) The carrying amount of customer contracts
and related customer relationship and software
is amortised on a straight line method over its
remaining useful life, i.e. 5 years.

FILM RIGHT

Film right of Nil (2019: HKS$117,000)
represented inferest in one film right
jointly conftrolled by the Group and by an
independent third party in the PRC. During

the current year,

the Group recognised

amortisation of HKS$117,000 (2019:
HK$540,000) on the completion of film’s
or internet release in the PRC (included in
cost of sales).

21.

0. BFEEE (&)

B

(o) EBFEEAEREMZKILREREE AR
EERNESRARBERTEAFY - WE
HEZHCRFREATRATSTRENE - €
BoFhEMRcERE  URAREMEFE
HEfMSEETRE-

(b) FEFEHARMBEFAERRMAZEREERER
EUAERIERAEAFH (M5 F) #iH -

EXRE

EXMEZTBRL(ZF—AF :117,000/8
TEAEEE-EPEBIE=FHEE
BN -—HELREZ2ERS RAFE X K
S A L E 27 o B 5T B S B B BB A
TEREIEH 1170008 (=2 —NEF:
540,000 B ) (B BEEHEEKEA) °
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23.

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR
VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR
LOSS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020
BE—_Z-SEFE=-A=1+—HLEE

22%&$EE%AE§%Z$@E

2020 2019
—E-2E  —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$000
FEx FHExT

Listed equity shares, at fair value: FRARG > BRAFEHE:
Hong Kong BB 625 1,413
Overseas ST 90 3,966
715 5,379

At the end of the reporting period, the
fair values of the listed equity shares are

R|BEMR - EHRARD 22 FEETIR
BEEREXZAUBNEZTERBREAE

determined based on the quoted market BE-
bid prices available on the relevant stock
exchanges.
INVENTORIES 23. 78
2020 2019
—B-8F C—E-hEF
HK$’000 HKS$’000
TR FET
Premium wines BEEE 34,909 35,047
Others Hith 735 739
35,644 35,786

No allowance of inventories was made
during both years.

At the end of both reporting periods,
premium wines held by the Group were
with net realisable value higher than the
carrying amount,

R EFERRE - WE|ELTFERE -

RAEREMR  AEEFEE 2 EBOEE
TRRFEENEEE -



FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020
BE—_Z-SF=-A=+—HLEE

24. TRADE RECEIVABLES 24. EWWE SRR
2020 2019
—EEE —E-NE
HK$°000 HK$’000
FHT FBT
Trade receivables EWE 5 BR™ 26,986 10,605
Less: allowance for credit losses A EEEERE (3,858) (636)
23,128 9,969

As at 1 April 2018, frade receivables from
conftracts with customers amounted to
HKS$23,167,000.

The following is the aged analysis of trade
receivables net of allowance for credit
losses presented based on the date of

R-ZB-NFHA—-B BEFANZERE
S8R %A 23,167,000 7T °

UTRERERB2I2HREEBREE
ZEWE 5 IR 2 BRER 4T

billing.
2020 2019
—E-EF —ZE-hEF
HK$’000 HK$000
FERT FHET
0 — 60 days 0— 60K 13,958 1,870
61 — 90 days 61 — 90X 5,526 751
91 — 180 days 91 — 180X 3,542 7,348
Over 180 days iBiE 180Kk 102 —
23,128 9,969
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020
BE—_Z-SEFE=-A=1+—HLEE

24. TRADE RECEIVABLES 24. EWWE SR (E)

(Continued)

As at 31 March 2020, included in the R-ZZE-FEF=A=+—H  BEREE
Group’s trade receivables balance are EEWE S ERME A% EMES3,395000
debtors with aggregate gross amount of BIT(ZE—NF 6360008 T) 2 EH
HKS$3,395,000 (2019: HK$636,000) which A ERBREBHEBE - B EEB0
are past due and also past due over 90 X MEH3,293,0008 T (=ZFE— A F:
days as at the reporting date, of which 636,000 7T) WIR BiEERE - B ER
HKS$3,293,000 (2019: HKS$636,000) are M13,293,000 &t (=& — L5 : 636,0007%
considered credit impaired. Included in the TZEEBER-_ZE_ZFF=A=+—H
past due balances, allowance of credit e -

losses of HKS$3,293,000 (2019: HKS$636,000)
has been provided as of 31 March 2020.

Details of impairment assessment are set BB B E A MEE 390 ©
out in Note 39b.
25. OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS 25. HMEWFRIE - ERFEAFRE
AND PREPAYMENTS
2020 2019
—E-EF —E-hEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Other receivables Hib W RE 11,457 3,905
Less: allowance of credit loss B EEEERE (395) —
11,062 3,905
Deposits and prepayments (Note) RERFEMNFE(ME) 13,859 9,233
Total other receivables, deposits HihERARIE ~ RERFER
and prepayments MIBHEE 24,921 13,138
Less: Amounts that will be settled or 8 : R —FEREEHEH
utilised within one year ZFRIE (24,813) (12,583)
Amount that will be utilised for more R —FEEBHEZHE
than one year 108 555
Note:As at 31 March 2020, the amount mainly Mz BE_Z-ZTF=A=+—H0 > ZE2BIZEF
comprised of prepayments of approximately AMEE TS HEEER 2R MEREL 2B
HK$7.911,000 (2019: HK$5,745,000) made to HIE#7,911,00058 T (=2 — A& : 5,745,000

media suppliers under digital marketing business. BIT) ©
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BE—_Z-SF=-A=+—HLEE

25.

26.

OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS
AND PREPAYMENTS (Continued)

Rental deposits paid were adjusted upon
the initial application of HKFRS 16. Details
of the adjustments are set out in Note 2.

Details of impairment assessment are set
out in Note 39b.

PLEDGED BANK DEPOSIT/BANK
BALANCES AND CASH

Bank balances carrying interest at market
rate ranges from of 0.001% to 2.0% (2019:
from 0.001% to 2.3%) per annum.

Pledged deposit carries fixed interest rate
of 0.6% (2019: Nil) and is pledged to a
bank to secure banking facility granted to
the Group. The pledged bank deposit will
be released upon the cessation of relevant
bank facilities.

Details of impairment assessment are set
out in Note 39b.
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25.

26.

H ft fE W K IH
(&)
ENESREDRIGERE B BRE S
BIZE 16 SRR o SR ERMMIE 2 o

BRERBNRE

RS 2 F B HRMEE 39D ©

%ﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁ/ﬂﬁ%ﬁ&ﬁ

RITEFETHFNRNF0.001% £2.0%
(ZZ—NF  NF0.001% £2.3%)5T 8 °

EHEAFREEENR0.% (ZB—NEF :
B)ME CEHAT-BRT AUERER
FAEEZRTREEE - CEFRITER
AR BRERITREREALRERD -

RE RS 2 B ERMEE 390 ©
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27.TRADE PAYABLES, OTHER 27. BEREZRM HESRER
PAYABLES AND ACCRUED FEstE A
CHARGES

UTHARBEMBRREZTARZ2I BN
BE R ZIRE DA

The following is an aged analysis of trade
payables presented based on the invoice
dates at the end of the reporting period.

2020 2019

—2-FF TN F

HK$’000 HK$"000

FHET FET

0 — 60 days 0 — 60X 5,944 604
61 — 90 days 61 — 90X 216 102
Over 90 days HiBoOXK 76 31
6,236 737

The average credit period on purchases
of goods ranges from 15 to 90 days. The
Group has financial risk management
policies in place to ensure that all
payables are settled within the credit
timeframe.

Other payables and accrued charges
mainly represent accrued operating
expenses and advances from independent
third parties of HKS$14,546,000 (2019: Nil),
which carry fixed interest rate at 1% per
month and are unsecured and repayable
within 1 year.

BEERZFHEEHNFISZENORX - &
SECHEMBEARERBER  URRAE
BEREREERBERNTUEEH -

Hit AR EHBAEERMIEE
B X R B 3158 = 75 FA{Y 5K 14,546,000 % 7T
(2019% : &) HEAEEHNES1% - &
AR A FREE -



FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020
BE—_Z-SF=-A=+—HLEE

28. CONTRACT LIABILITIES

28. BN EE

2020 2019
—E-EF —Z2-hF
HK$’000 HKS$000
FEx FET
Advances from customers: BFE
Digital marketing MG HE 1,384 114

As at 1 April 2018, confract liabilities

amounted to HK$448,000.

The following table shows how much of
the revenue recognised in the current

448,00038 7T °

REREZHE -

year relates to contract liabilities at the

beginning of the year.

R-ZZ2E-NFNA-H EHEEBA

TRIIREAFEBRIZZBATRENEEL

2020 2019
—E-EF —E-hEF
HK$°000 HK$000
FHET FERT
Revenue recognised that was EEIANBATAREDZ
included in the contract liability EHNEEER
balance at the beginning of the
year
— Digital marketing — BB mIGHEE 114 —
— IPs licensing — MBEERRE - 448
114 448
Typical payment terms which impact FECHRAGHNEEEHE2HENRERE

on the amount of contract liabilities

recognised are set out in Note 5.

RMEES °
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29. LEASE LIABILITIES 29. HE&EE
31 March
2020
—E-EF
=A=t+—8H
HK$’000
FERT
Lease liabilities payable: HEBBENRTIHRBEN :
Within one year —FR 1,994
Within a period of more than one year RER—FEFZRBMFEHE
but not more than two years 812
2,806
Less: Amount due for settlement with W RRBEEPETIRI2EAR
12 months shown under current E LR D e o
liabilities (1,994)
Amount due for settlement after 12 RERBEEFERAI12EAERE
months shown under non-current MER £
liabilities 812
The weighted average incremental FrRAMEFHEERENEREF489% -
borrowing rate applied is 4.89% per annum.
All lease obligations are denominated in 2 HEEEEIUEREERER ZIIEEY

the functional currencies of the relevant HI{E o
group entities.
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30. BANK BORROWINGS 30. SRITER

208

2020 2019
g g 23 —E-NEF
HK$’000 HK$"000
FEx FHET
Carrying amount of bank borrowings ER T 5IHRE R 2 RITHE
that is: MOREE ¢
— repayable on demand and — BREREERN—F
repayable within one year AEE 4,374 —
— repayable on demand due to — RERERZLOMEAELRE
breach of loan covenant EREE 4,375 —
8,749 —

As at 31 March 2020, bank borrowings carry
fixed interest rate which is determined aft
loan prime rate plus 0.5175% (2019: N/A)
per annum upon drawdown of the bank
borrowings and are secured by pledged
bank deposit. During the year ended 31
March 2020, the effective interest rate on
the bank borrowings are 4.57% (2019: N/A).

During the year, in respect of a bank
borrowing with a carrying amount of
HK$4,375,000 and secured by the pledged
bank deposit as at 31 March 2020, one of
the subsidiary (the “Subsidiary”) breached
the corresponding bank covenants,
which are primarily related to maintain
the tangible assefs of the Subsidiary at
the agreed level. On discovery of the
breach, the Directors informed the bank
and commenced a renegotiation of the
terms of the loan with the banker. As at 31
March 2020, the negotiation had not been
concluded.
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R-ZZBE-_ZEF=ZA=+—8  RITERE
ROBTEREZ2ERKEZFANRM
0.5175% (=B —N%F : TEM) 2B EF =
SFERENERRITERERER - RBE=
FEFZRA=ZT-HLEHFE  RITERN
BRARD 457%(ZF—NF : TERA) -

RAFEE BEBEZ-Z-ZTF=A=+-—AH
BRE{E A 4,375,0008 T R LB K IFRTE
HERBZRTER EF—XKELA
(ZHBARERMBEGR  EEHEE
ZHBRARNER FEEHENIBEKTER
o BRRENTEE  XRAEZCHER
17 WBAREER TR ZERWIRETER
EF BE_Z_ZTF=A=+—H8 EH
MARTERH ©



31. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES

Deferred taxation is calculated in full on
temporary differences under the liability
method using the applicable tax rates
prevailing in the jurisdictions in which the
Group operates. Movements of deferred
tax liabilities of the Group during both
years are as follows:

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020
BE—_Z-SEFE=-A=1+—HLEE

3. ELEBEEE

EERBEDUESEZEREEELRAER
KEFAEREEEZBTERABREE - K
EECELEHEEENAMEFEAZEE M
T

Accelerated Intangible
tax assets arisen
depreciation on acquisition Total
WEEEZ
MEBRERE BREE k]
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHERT FHET THET
At 1 April 2018 R-—Z-NEMA—A 698 — 698
Credit to profit or loss for the i AEEEZF
year ©) — (6)
Arising on acquisition of a  RE—BHEAREEZRE
subsidiary — 692 692
At 31 March 2019 R=—ZF-RE=A=+—H 692 692 1,384
Credit to profit or loss for the 3 AFEBEH
year @) (148) (155)
Arising on acquisition of a  WE—EKBLAEEZRE
subsidiary — 536 536
Exchange realignment ERAR — 23) (23)
At 31 March 2020 R-2-2£=F=1-A 685 1,057 1,742
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31. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES 3. EEHEERE(E)

210

(Continued)

At 31 March 2020, the Group estimated
unused tax losses of approximately
HK$965,692,000 (2019: HK$917,235,000)
available for offset against future profits.
No deferred tax asset has been recognised
in respect of such losses due to the
unpredictability of future profit streams.
Included in unrecognised tax losses
are losses of HK$483,000, HKS1,141,000,
HKS$1,070,000 and HK$10,985,000 that
will expire in 2021, 2022, 2023 and
2024, respectively (2019: HKS$509,000,
HKS$1,198,000 and HK$448,000 will expire in
2021, 2022 and 2023). Other losses may be
carried forward indefinitely.

As at 31 March 2020, the Group had
deductible temporary differences of
HK$2,174,000 (2019: Nil) mainly arising
from impairment losses on property, plant
and equipment, right-of-use assets and
frade receivables. No deferred tax asset
has been recognised in respect of such
deductible temporary differences as it is
not probable that taxable profit will be
available against which the deductible
temporary differences can be uftilised.
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R-ZE-ZEF=A=+—H  X&EET
}%LX?&%%*%?&‘E*UZTE**EJFH%RIEE?
B # £965,692,000% T(=F — L F:
917,235,0007% T ) o HA B £ 5K 78 B R K
mARE AT ERZESERRIEL
MBEE -FTARBIARBEBES D5

R—B-_—F-ZB-_—_F-ZF=-=
FR-ZIZZWFJER Z B E483,000%
7t~ 1,141,000 7t~ 1,070,000 T &
10,985,000 T(=Z=ZE—hF:@ BR=F
T ZBRIZERIBEIZFERZ
509,000 st ~ 1,198,000 Jt & 448,000
BIT) c HittESIE R A AR -

R-ZZB-ZZF=A=1+—-R8 ' AKEETH
WERFERE2,174,0008 T(=Z - F:
#®) TERBYE BERRE  £HE
ﬁ?&ﬁgl&ﬁ%ﬂﬁ REEZBERIE - AR
TRAEAERBENHZETIRE R
EZREH  MAENZSUHRT S ZEE
RIELEBEEE o
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32. SHARE CAPITAL 32. g7
Number of Share
shares capital
igrip - 4=| IR 7
‘000 HK$000
T FET

Ordinary shares of HKS 0.01 each BREEOI BT zEBER

Authorised EE
At 1 April 2018, 31 March 2019 RZE-—N\FE@mMA—AH
and 31 March 2020 —E-NFE=ZA=t—-HK
—ECEF=ZA=+—H 200,000,000 2,000,000
Number of shares Share capital
3 8 B &S
2020 2019 2020 2019
—E-8E —“EZ-NF ZBZTHE —EZ-NF
000 ‘000 HK$000 HK$’000
it T FET FTEx
Issued and fully paid: ERITRHAR
At the beginning and REDRER

the end of the year 1,390,657 1,390,657 13,907 13,907
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020

33. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

Pursuant fo an ordinary resolution passed
on 12 August 2013, the Company adopted
a share option scheme (the "2013
Scheme”). The life of the 2013 Scheme
is effective for 10 years from the date of
adoption until 11 August 2023. There is no
options granted under the 2013 Scheme
during the year 31 March 2020 and 31
March 2019,

Major terms for the 2013 Scheme are
summarised as follows:

() The purpose is to provide incentives
to:

o award the participants who have
made contributions to the Group
and/or any entity in which the
Group holds any equity interest
(“Invested Entity”); and

o recruit and retain high-calibre
employees and atftract human
resources that are valuable to the
Group.

(i) The participants include any
employee, director, supplier, agent,
consultant, adviser sftrategist,
contractor, subcontractor, expert
or customer of the Group and/or
Invested Entity.
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33. B RS

BRER-Z-=F/\AT-RBEBZEER
BEARARMBREFE(=Z2—=F
A  ZE-=FHEZBERHHTEF
BERMEHE BEE-F-=ZFN\A+—H
k-REBE-Z-ZTF=-A=+T—-HR=
—NFE=ZA=+T—-HLFE  BERE=
—=FEERHBRE -

TE-CZFHEZEEGIRBLMNT ¢

() EMEEBTIATATERD:

s RBAXKEER RAKEEEE
HEMRAEZ2QR(THRE
RADEHERZSERE R

s EEKKREEBEESRHAEE
BEZAT -

(il 2HECGEAEER RFARELQT
ZEMAEE - ES - HE®H  RE .
BN RBER - RHE - INHIK
HE s ERHEF -



33. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES
(Continued)

(i)

@iv)

™

The maximum number of shares of the
Company in respect of which share
options might be granted under the
2013 Scheme must not exceed 10%
of the issued share capital of the
Company as at the date of approval
of the 2013 Scheme, however this limit
might be refreshed by shareholders
in a general meeting. However, total
maximum number of shares of the
Company which might be issued
upon exercise of all outstanding
share options granted and yet to be
exercised under the 2013 Scheme and
any other share option scheme must
not exceed 30% of the shares of the
Company in issue from time to time.

The maximum number of shares of
the Company in respect of which
share options might be granted to a
participant, when aggregated with
shares issued and issuable (including
exercised and outfstanding share
options and the options cancelled)
under any share option granted to
the same participant under the 2013
Scheme or any other share option
scheme within any 12 months period,
must not exceed 1% of the shares of
the Company in issue from time to
fime.

There was no requirement for a
grantee to hold the share option for
a certain period before exercising the
share option save as determined by
the board of directors and provided in
the offer of grant of share option.

B
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33. BT E (&)

(i) ME-—Z—=FiTEAEREZBEBR
EARB2ARATROEE  &ZFF
BEBAATR - —=FTEIH#tE
HE 2B BITRAI0% - AT > %R
EUHEBRRABRRASLEH - RE
—E-=ZFEREMEMBRES
B REEERTEZRERTER
BEETHERETERTZAQTRG

BE EZTEEBEAQAATKER
?HxﬁZSO%

(iv) JERZSHERHZBERETRE 2N
DARGEE BEFN+-EAHE
AREBE-Z-—=FHAEANEAEME
RETERMZESHEERE 2 E[EB
REEBSTERRTEBRERS
AHcBRE MEBTRATTRITZ
ROBE  RZAIBBBAQANE
BEITRHZ1%

V) RESSEERARHBRERZRR
BRESN  ARABARITEBRER
EiEEHERSHABRE -
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33. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES
(Continued)

(vi)

(vii)

The exercise period should be any
period fixed by the board of directors
upon grant of the share option but
in any event the share option period
should not go beyond 10 years from
the date of offer for grant.

The acceptance of a share option, if
accepted, must be made within 28
days from the date of grant with a
non-refundable payment of HKS1 from
the grantee to the Company.

(viii) The exercise price of a share option

(i)

must be the highest of:

e the closing price of a share of the
Company on the date of grant
which must be a business day;

J the average closing price of a
share of the Company for the
5 business days immediately
preceding the date of grant; and

o the nominal value of a share of
the Company.

All the share options are vested on the
grant date.
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34. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES
2020

For the year ended 31 March 2020, Beijing
Skyvior, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Group, acquired 100% equity interest of
Hyperchannel Info from an independent
third party for a consideration of 45%
equity interests of Beijing Skyvior held by
the Group. The fransaction was completed
on 8 November 2019 and accounted
for as an acquisition of business, namely
the digital marketing business, using the
acquisition method. After the acquisition,
Hyperchannel Info becomes a subsidiary of
Beijing Skyvior and Beijing Skyvior changed
from a wholly-owned subsidiary to a non-
wholly owned subsidiary of the Group.
Hyperchannel Info is principally engaged
in the digital marketing business in the PRC
and was acquired with the objective of
expanding the Group’s business.

34.

ANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBERRIE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020
BE—_Z-SEFE=-A=1+—HLEE

Wi B Bt S 8 F)

=
BE-Z-ZF=-HA=+—HILEE K&
Bz2EMBARLRAREE —BBIE=
FURBEERSZ100% B AEE  KES
AEERFB 2R E 2 45% RAER ° %
RER=—ZE—NF+-—BNBEK  XEA
WEEEST AR WE > ABBETSHE
o WiER  EERKRALREE ZH
BAT MEZECHRAEEZE2EWE
NABAITEMBLR - EEREETERN
PERSHEBLHSHEEEYE  MEBSE
EREBERAEEES

Consideration transferred BEEZEZAE
HK$"000
FET
45% equity interest of Beijing Skyvior R E 2 45% RAE R 4,032
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020
BE—_Z-SF=-A=+—HLEE

34. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES

(Continued)
2020 (Continued)

Consideration transferred (Continued)

Assets and liabilities recognised at the date

of acquisition

34. WIEHE AR (&)

—E-FF(HE)
EBAZAME(E)
REBANRR-EAEREE

HK$*000
FET
Plant and equipment BEREE 450
Intangible assets BEERE 2,144
Bank balances and cash RITEFRES 9,382
Trade receivables W E 5 R 505
Other receivables, deposits and HihEWFRIE - &Rk
prepayments FEfRRIE 33,340
Trade payables, other payables and EREZER HESRER
accrued charges FESTER (43,665)
Deferred tax liabilities EEMRIBEEE (536)
1,620

The fair value of trade receivables
and other receivables amounted
to approximately HK$505,000 and
HKS$1,833,000 respectively, representing
gross contractual amounts at the date of
acquisition and contractual cash flows are
expected to be fully collected.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020
BE—_Z-SEFE=-A=1+—HLEE

34. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES RERB AT (E)
(Continued)
2020 (Continued) —E-FF(E)
Goodwill arising on acquisition WEEBEELEZHE
HK$"000
FHET
Consideration transferred EHEEZAE 4,032
Less: recognised amount of identifiable & : EWB IR EEFEZECER
net assets acquired (100%) £ %8 (100%) (1,620)
Goodwill arising on acquisition WEEEELECHE 2,412

Goodwill arose on the acquisition of
Hyperchannel Info because the acquisition
included the assembled workforce of
Hyperchannel Info, existing customers and
some potential contracts which are still
under negotiation with prospective new
customers as at the date of acquisition.
These assets could not be separately
recognised from goodwill because they
are not capable of being separated from
the Group and sold, transferred, licensed,
rented or exchanged, either individually or
together with any related contracts.

None of the goodwill arising on fthis
acquisition is expected to be deductible
for tax purpose.

WIEEERKELRHE FREAWBSEE
REERE2EBEIRM REFFER
WERRHEREENEFER S TEES
e ZZEEHARNBETERER - RE
RLESEETRB I NASE N E 5 it &
BEMEBESH—HE  BF KE W
B -

RHBELKESREE 2 HERBERR
FULHIRR ©

Net cash inflows arising on acquisition WEEHELZREZRAFE
HKS$000
FHET
Consideration paid in cash DBEEFAIZ[AF2RE —
Less: cash and cash equivalent W EREzRER
balances acquired REeLBWESR (9.382)

(9.382)
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020

34. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES

(Continued)
2020 (Continued)

Impact of acquisition on the results of the
Group

Included in the loss for the year ended
31 March 2020 is loss amounted to
approximately HK$2,637,000 attributable to
Hyperchannel Info. Revenue for the year
includes HKS$68,621,000 is attributable to
Hyperchannel Info.

Had the acquisition of Hyperchannel
Info been effected at the beginning of
the year, the total amount of revenue
of the Group from continuing operations
for the year ended 31 March 2020 would
have been approximately HKS$154,545,000
pro forma and loss for the year from
continuing operations would have been
HKS$67,440,000. The pro forma information
is for illustrative purpose only and is not
necessarily an indication of revenue and
results of operations of the Group that
actually would have been achieved had
the acquisition been completed at the
beginning of the year, nor is it infended to
be a projection of future results.

In determining the pro forma loss of the
Group had Hyperchannel Info been
acquired at the beginning of the year, the
Directors have calculated depreciation of
plant and equipment and amortfisation of
intangible assetfs based on the recognised
amounts of plant and equipment and
inftangible assets at the date of the
acquisition.
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34.

W BB B 8 2 =) (48

—EEF(HE)
WEEBYH A EFHEETE

FEMLEEE R4 2,637,0008 T 2 EEE &
ABEZE-_Z-_ZF=-A=T-RLFES
B-AFECZWAEERREEERASZY
68,621,000 7T ©

i BEERENAFANRRER  AEE
%‘2%&_?_ e F=A=+—HIEFEEREHE
B EIE 2 W ABEELN B 154,545,0005%
n(1ﬁ%)&ﬂ£§%?§#&%¥ﬁz$r£1§ﬁa§%
67,440,000 T - ZBEZEREMHFHA
72 WA —ERTWEEERRNFLRGT
BERTAREEZERBARKLEEE  I5
TRIERRREZ 2TEAR -

REEAKEERAFAMRWBESRE 2
BEBER  EFCRBERKBUARER
EENUBHIH2CRIATEAERERR
BZEUREREE 2B -



34.

ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES
(Continued)

2019

For the year ended 31 March 2019,
Culturecom (Hong Kong) Limited, a
wholly-owned indirect subsidiary of the
Group, acquired 55% equity interest by
conftributing capital in form of cash of
Renminbi ("RMB”) 40,000,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$47,555,000) in Egmen,
a company established in the PRC. The
fransaction was completed on 31 August
2018 and accounted for as an acquisition
of business, namely the digital marketing
business, using the acquisition method.
Egmen was principally engaged in the
digital marketing business in the PRC
and was acquired with the objective of
diversifying the Group’s business.

34.

NANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M BB RME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020
BE—_Z-SEFE=-A=1+—HLEE

W BB B 2 =) (48)

—E-hE

BE-Z-NE=ZA=+—HLEE &X&
BEE2EBEMNBARXLES(EB)AR
RAZEBREFANBEARBTARYE D
40,000,000 7t (#8 % 7 #9 47,555,000 7t )
R—BHRERLZARZEM  WEHE55%
BRAER - ZRBNR_FE—N\ENA=+—
AR MERWBATAERKE BB
FEMBSHEEEYK - ZTMETERFERS
YIEMISHEREELR  MKBIEEESEE
EES (4

Consideration transferred BEEZEZE
HK$ 000
FET
Cash He 47,555

Acquisition-related cosfts amounting to
approximately HK$112,000 were excluded
from the cost of acquisition and were
recognised directly as an expense during
the year ended 31 March 2019 and
included in the “administrative expenses”
line item in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income.

#112,000 7% 7Tz W BB AR B AL A 36 A 5T A UK
BAA BEEERIREBE_ZT-NF=A
=t-HEFEZRAXAFAGREREERH
fezEWBERITHAZ JBEAR °
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020
BE—_Z-SF=-A=+—HLEE

34. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES

(Continued)
2019 (Continued)
Consideration transferred (Continued)

Assets and liabilities recognised at the date
of acquisition

34. WEEKME AR (&)

—Z2-NF(E)
BERZ ()
KU ERRERARE

HK$'000
FET
Plant and equipment BERRE 46
Intangible assets BEEE 2,823
Bank balance and cash RITEFRRAE 44,863
Trade receivables EWE 5 R 1,668
Other receivables, deposits and HihEWRIE - RERFEFRIE
prepayments 3,084
Other payables and accrued charges HftERKERETEH (669)
Contract liabilities eHNaE (320)
Deferred tax liabilities EERBEEE (692)
50,803

The fair value of trade receivables
and other receivables amounted
to approximately HK$1,668,000 and
HKS494,000 respectively, representing
gross contractual amounts at the date of
acquisition and conftfractual cash flows
were expected to be fully collected.

Non-controlling interests

The non-controlling interest (45%) in
Egmen recognised at the acquisition
date was measured by reference to the
proportionate share of recognised amounts
of net assets of Egmen and amounted to
approximately HK$22,861,000.
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34. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES
(Continued)

2019 (Continued)
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ANCIAL STATEMENTS
& M B R M

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020
BE—_Z-SEFE=-A=1+—HLEE

BB AR (E)

—ZE-hE(E)

Goodwill arising on acquisition KEERELEZHE
HK$"000
FHET

Consideration transferred EHEEZAE 47,555
Plus: non-controlling interests hnc SRR AER 22,861
Less: recognised amount of identifiable & : DB RSB EEFEZ

net assets acquired (100%) SRR L5 (100%) (50,803)
Goodwill arising on acquisition WHEEEELEHE 19,613

Goodwill arose on the acquisition of
Egmen because the acquisition included
the assembled workforce of Egmen and
some potential contracts which are still
under negotiation with prospective new
customers as at the date of acquisition.
These assets could not be separately
recognised from goodwill because they
are not capable of being separated from
the Group and sold, transferred, licensed,
rented or exchanged, either individually or
together with any related contracts.

None of the goodwill arising on fthis
acquisition was expected to be deductible
for tax purpose.

WEZEMELEHE  FEEAKRBSEER
ZHMEBETHMKRAIEE B H R
EHMEFEBA2ETEESYN ZZEEN
ABEPERER  REAZSEETH
B A B R B B 3t Sk E R ERE S K
—fFHE - HEE - B HAERRR -

SR KBSRELE CHENBERR
FOAHIBR o
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020

NANCIAL STATEMENTS

Impact of acquisition on the results of the
Group

Included in the loss for the year ended
31 March 2019 was loss amounted to
approximately HKS$2,462,000 attributable
to Egmen. Revenue for the year ended
31 March 2019 includes HKS$5,562,000 was
attributable to Egmen.

Had the acquisition of Egmen been
effected at 1 April 2018, the total amount
of revenue of the Group from confinuing
operations for the year ended 31 March
2019 would have been approximately
HK$23,332,000 pro forma and loss for
the year ended 31 March 2019 from
continuing operations would have been
HK$30,294,000. The pro forma information
is for illustrative purpose only and is not
necessarily an indication of revenue and
results of operations of the Group that
actually would have been achieved had
the acquisition been completed at 1 Apiril
2018, nor is it intended to be a projection
of future results.
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34. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES BB AT (E)
(Continued)
2019 (Continued) —Z-hE(E)
Net cash outflows arising on acquisition WEEBEELZE R FHE
HK$"000
FET
Consideration paid in cash UREHFAXF2RE 47,555
Less: cash and cash equivalent B EREzRERBESEEBYLHEH
balances acquired (44,863)
2,692

WEEBRH L EBAEEZE

@45%%%%2462000%%2)&?}%5%)\
g= —hWE=ZA=+-BLFEZEB
B’ EE_-zé_i NE=ZA=+—BLEFEZ
WAEBESZFTFIEL 25,562,000 ET °

MBS HFMAR-_FE-NFEHA-—BLE
MoAEEEBE-_TE-NAF=ZA=1t—8H
EEFEERE iiﬁi@%%iﬁiﬂ&k@%ﬁ%’]%
23,332,000 B T(HEEZ ) R KRB IFEKLE
K2 FEEIEA30294,0008 T ZEE
ERERFEARAR YT —EXRTUBESE
REZZB-NFHAE-HRABERTAEEZ
BERBAREERE  TTIRERRRER
Z TR o



34.

35.

ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES
(Continued)

2019 (Continued)

Impact of acquisition on the results of the
Group (Continued)

In determining the pro forma loss of the
Group had Egmen been acquired at 1
April 2018, the Directors have calculated
depreciation of plant and equipment
and amortisation intfangible assets based
on the recognised amounts of plant and
equipment and intfangible assets at the
date of the acquisition.

DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES
2020

Continuing operations

Disposal of X ZEIZEER (FI)BERA A, XIE&E
FIERIE R (FY) BERA A and X EF 484
ZE(FY) BERA T (the “Subsidiaries”)

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the
Group disposed its entire equity inferests
in the Subsidiaries fo an independent third
party with an aggregate considerations of
RMB221,000 (equivalent to approximately
of HK$243,000) and recognised a gain on
disposal of HK$67,000 (2019: N/A).

Deregistration of L&t 155 REFRL &

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the
Group deregistrated a subsidiary in which
the Group held 29% of the equity interests
and recognised a gain on deregistration of
HK$792,000 (2019: N/A).

34.

35.

ANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBERRIE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020
BE—_Z-SEFE=-A=1+—HLEE

BB B AR (&)

—E-hE(E)
WEEEY G ()

REEAEER-_Z-NFRNA-HKES
FFZHEERRK  ESCRBERKREN
REFEENBB DR ZEEIASH/TER
ERREZITEUARELEE 2 #H -

&K B 2 F

—g-%f

.~

HEXEEIZERCRY)ER LA~ XE 5T
ERIF R IR (R ) B IR G R X AFF A4
B (R ERRE] ([ ZZHB 2 A ))

REE-Z-ZEF=-A=T-HLFE &
EEHERRZEMNBEBLARA ZZMRET
—EBEAUE=T  BREARY 221,000
(FHE R 4243,000% 7T ) LR HE W=
67,0008 T(=F—NF : TEH) -

Al LB B AR B R 2 5] &t

REBE-Z-ZF=A=1+—-HLFE"
AEERE-—BHBLR(AEESEZA
B 29% B fE) < FEfl - AR B MWk
792,000 8 T (=F—NF : TERA) -
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020

S
35.

=ra=taag s R oo 8] ek

DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES
(Continued)

2020 (Continued)
Discontinued operation
Disposal of Sai Van Club

During the year ended 31 March 2020,
the Group implemented measures to
streamline its operations. On 9 March 2020,
the Group entered into an agreement to
dispose of the entire equity interest of its
wholly owned subsidiary, Sai Van Club,
to an independent third party for a total
cash consideration of HK$600,000. The
transaction was completed on 9 March
2020.

The Group’s share of net liabilities of Sai
Van Club at the date of disposal and the
effect of disposal were as follows:

35. HEMB AR (&)

—EZEF(F)

H &P EEAT
REZ-Z-Z2HF=A=1+—-HLFE &
SEETHLHEEEZEE R-F-FF

ZANA AEBEFL-EHRLEEEE
MEBARAESH22MRETF —SBLE
=% BESKREAG600,000B T - ZRH
ER=ZE_FF=ANATH

FEBRLERHMELRESER 8B FH
RHESEHEZLEHIINT

HKS$'000
FET

Consideration: RE :
Consideration received BWRE 200
Consideration receivable EWRE 400
600
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35. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

(Continued)
2020 (Continued)

Discontinued operation (Continued)

Disposal of Sai Van Club (Continued)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020
BE—_Z-SEFE=-A=1+—HLEE

35. HEMB AT (&)

—E2-2F(RA)

Analysis of assets and liabilities over which HREKEZFIEZEER

confrol was lost:

Other receivables, deposit and

prepayments

Bank balances and cash
Other payables and accrued charges

Net assets disposed of

Loss on disposal of subsidiaries:

Consideration

Net assets disposed of

Loss on disposal

Net cash outflow arising on disposal:
Cash consideration received
Less: bank balances and cash

disposed of

RILAREET (1E)
TS E A ()
9 March
2020
—EZEHF
=ANH
HK$’000
FET
BEZDW
HihpEsE » Be Rk
FE{IRIE 471
ROEGFERES 575
L1t B 4 008 I 22 (243)
HECEEFE 803
HEMBARZEE :
RE 600
HECEEFRE (803)
HEEEZEIER (203)
ﬁ%%lﬁﬁiziﬁéuwtﬂﬁrﬁﬁ
SRR ENRE 200
B HEZRITEER
BHe (575)

(375)



FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020
BE—_Z-SF=-A=+—HLEE

35. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES
(Continued)

2020 (Continued)

Discontinued operation (Continued)
Disposal of Sai Van Club (Continued)

The loss for the year from the discontinued
operation is set out below. The
comparative figures in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income have been
restated to re-present the operations as a
discontinued operation.

35. LEME AR (F)

=t £% 73¢9

— = =y

AU LR (E)
HEFEEH (&)

RERLELEXEB  FEBRAINT - &
EEBRHMEEKERAZLEBREFEE
B ARTZEBRHRILEERE -

Period Year
ended ended
9 March 31 March
2020 2019
BZE BE

= =t LSS
ZAhB =A=+-—H

1 AR HEE

HK$’000 HK$"000

FExT FiET

Loss for the period/year B, FEEE (2,398) (1,360)
Loss on disposal of Sai Van Club HERESFHZER (203) —
(2,601) (1,360)

226 Culturecom Holdings Limited  Annual Report 2019-2020




35.

DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES 35.
(Continued)

2020 (Continued)

Discontinued operation (Continued)

Disposal of Sai Van Club (Continued)

The results of the operation for the period
from 1 April 2019 to 9 March 2020, which
have been included in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, were as follows:

| Vg 2019-2020 AL EEMERAT 227
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020
BE—_Z-SEFE=-A=1+—HLEE

HEME QR (&)

—EZEF(F)
UL EE(E)
HEmESH (&)

H-Z-NWFHEHA-BE-F-FF=Ah
AMB o REXBA (B AGEBREERAM
EEHWERA)AT

Period Year
ended ended
9 March 31 March
2020 2019
BZE BZE

—2-2F —F-NF
=ZARAB =A=+-—H

1AM IEFE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx FHExT
Revenue N 2,439 3,509
Cost of sales SHE A (1,850) (1.718)
Administrative expenses THEHA (2,987) (3.151)
Loss for the period/year from RERIEEEER 2
discontinued operation 0B, FEEHE (2,398) (1,360)
Loss for the period/year from REKRIEEEER Y
discontinued operation includes HE,/ FEBBeEUT
the following: EH :
Auditor’s remuneration 2 e R BN & — —
Other staff costs: Hih 8 TR ¢
— Salaries and other benefits — HeREMEFR 1,324 1,482

During the year ended 31 March 2020, Sai
Van Club contributed HK$332,000 (2019:
HKS$75,000) to the Group’s net operating
cash flows and paid HK$196,000 (2019:
HK$1,000) in respect of investing activities.

REBEE-Z-ZEF=A=+—HLFE A
BEERAKEREEBRERETH
A& 332,0008 T(=F— N5 : 7500058
7)o WHRE R 196,000 8T (=F
— % 1 1,00087xT) °
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020
BE-"E-ZF=-A=1tT—-HLEE

35. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

(Continued)
2019

Disposal of Ucan Commercial Group

On 28 March 2019, the Group entered
info an agreement to dispose of
its wholly owned subsidiaries, Ucan
Commercial Limited and its subsidiary
to an independent third party, for a
cash consideration HK$30,000. Ucan
Commercial Group’s principal activity was
development of multi-media application
and production and distribution of film, in
which the operation in development of
multi-media application was considered
as a discontinued operation. The
fransaction was completed on 29 March
2019, the date which the control of Ucan
Commercial Group has been passed to the
independent third party.

The Group’s share of net liabilities of Ucan
Commercial Group at the date of disposal

35. HEMB AT (&)

—E-hEF
H# & Ucan Commercial Group

RZZBE-AF=ZA=+NB x&5EHF

—EiHEHEEE2EN B A AUcan
Commercial Limited R KB 2 8 F —
EBUE=FH  B&NKEH30,000ET -
Ucan Commercial GroupzZ T 2 ¥ %
AHABRZHEREABRKURESHIERE
T HAHRZEREARXZEECH
RARLIREEK RFER-ZE—ILEF
=A==+ A BZEK Ucan Commercial
Group 2B HIREEZAERXRFBILE=
7 o

X £ B R E E B B E fhUcan
Commerciol Group 2EEBEFHEREES

and the effect of disposal were as follows: FEHIWT :
HKS$'000
FET
Consideration: RE -
Consideration received 2 WRE 30
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35. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES 35. HEMB AT (&)
(Continued)
2019 (Continued) —ZE-NF(E)
Disposal of Ucan Commercial Group H & Ucan Commercial Group (#&)
(Continued)
28 March
2019
—Z2-hF
=A=+NH
HK$'000
FET
Analysis of assets and liabilities over FRRERTIECEERBBEZDN
which control was lost:
Property, plant and equipment ME - BERSZE 24
Inventories 7E 2,737
Trade receivables BB Z R 14
Other receivables, deposit and HMEWRIE - e RBEARE
prepayments 104
Bank balances and cash RITEFRES 1,257
Other payables and accrued charges HtENREREFER (4,579)
Net liabilities disposed of HECEEFEHE (443)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries: HEMBAR ZWE
Consideration received 2R E 30
Net liabilities disposed of HEZEBEFE 443
Gain on disposal HESEz & 473
Net cash outflow arising on disposal: HESEE4AZHRESRLFE
Cash consideration received EWRERE 30
Less: bank balances and cash W HEZRTEERRS
disposed of (1,257)

(1,227)
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 20
BE—_Z-SF=-A=+—HLEE

35. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES
(Continued)
2019 (Continued)

Disposal of Ucan Commercial Group
(Continued)

The loss for the year from the discontinued
operation is set out below.

K. TATEMENTS

\ :

35. LEME AR (&)

—Z2-hF(E)

4 & Ucan Commercial Group (#)

REARILELER 2 FEBREINOT -

Period ended
28 March 2019
BE-ZE-hF
=A=+NH
LEHARS

HK$’000

FET

Loss for the year FEEE

(9.940)

Gain on disposal of Ucan Commercial  HE& Ucan Commercial Group Z

Group g
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35. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES
(Continued)

2019 (Continued)

Disposal of Ucan Commercial Group
(Continued)

The results of the operation for the period
from 1 April 2018 to 28 March 2019, which
have been included in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, were as follows:

35.

CIAL STATEMENTS
RS MR R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020
BE—_Z-SEFE=-A=1+—HLEE

HEMB QT (E)
—ZE-hEFE(E)

4 & Ucan Commercial Group (#)
H-ZE-N\FEWNA—HEZEZZ—NF¥=AH

TNz REXB (BT AGSER
REMEEKBERA)NOT :

Period ended
28 March 2019

BE-Z—hE
=A=+NH
1EEA R
HK$000
FHExT
Other income Hipugr A 3
Other expenses HiE A (7.396)
Salaries and allowances e RER (1.527)
Operating lease rentals in respect of HESh o KREMHEHRS
rental premises (997)
Depreciation expenses WEER (23)
Loss for the year from discontinued RERLEREXB CFEEE
operation (9.940)
Loss for the year from discontinued REREREXEBCFEBBRBEIEUT
operation includes the following: B|A
Auditor’s remuneration BEETEN & 330
Research and development expenses  WFEB X (M)
(Note) 6,490
Other staff costs: Eﬂﬂ%ilﬁizli '
— Retirement benefit scheme RIRTE RIS BIAERR
contributions 10
— Salaries and other benefits — FeRkHEMEF 1,517
Note:The amount mainly represent research and Mz  ZEeHETEEHRSRREERRAMEE MR

development expenses incurred for the

development of multi-media applications.

X o
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35.

36.

DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES
(Continued)

2019 (Continued)

Disposal of Ucan Commercial Group
(Continued)

During the year ended 31 March
2019, Ucan Commercial Group paid
HK$8,807,000 to the Group’s net operating
cash flows and contributed HKS4,246,000 in
respect of financing activities.

No tax charge or credit arose on gain on
disposal.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

The Group participates in a Mandatory
Provident Fund Scheme (the “"MPF
Scheme”) for all qualifying employees in
Hong Kong. The assets of the scheme are
held separately from those of the Group in
funds under the conftrol of frustees.

The Group’s and the employees’
conftributions to the MPF Scheme are each
set at 5% of the employees’ salaries up to
a maximum of HKS$1,500 effective from 1
June 2014 per employee per month. The
Group’s contributions to the MPF Scheme
are fully and immediately vested to the
employees once they are paid.

Certain employees of the Group are
members of a state-managed retirement
benefit scheme operated by the PRC
government. The Group is required tfo
contribute approximately 15% of payroll
costs to the retirement benefit scheme to
fund the benefit. The only obligation of
the Group with respect to the retirement
benefits scheme is to make the specified
conftributions.
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35.

36.

HEMRE LR (&)

—Z2-hF(E)

HEUcan Commercial Group (#&)

RBE-_Z—NEF=RA=+—HLFE "
Ucan Commercial Group B X{f A& E
REXHKESRNEFEES,807,000/8 7 @ I
A E E KT E 4,246,00058 7T ©

HERSS EBELEFAHEIHRIER -

g3 SRR

rEBAMESEREBEETRAMLE
T E([REEETE]) - AT Z2EERSR
AAEFZEESHE  BAKEZEEDR
BE -

H-Z-EOFAA-—HE AEEKEEQ
BESHEAFHZHREARRERES
FE25% BERBAESXEEE500%
o —HEXMHMK - AIRKEEBEES
BMFH MR EBRASEBNZSES -

FEEZETREEATERFER ZBARE
BRABAAEIRE - FEEREF AL
#15% ERABERFEELHER - UBEEH
BRNRMES - RRABRFEMS - £F
BzE-—EEREREEMRK -



36. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES
(Continued)

Total cost charged to profit or loss of
HKS$728,000 (2019: HKS$364,000) represents
the contributions payable to these
schemes by the Group during the year.
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36. RIKBRIFT & (&)

B HR PR Z A MREE R 728,00078 7T
(ZZ— N : 364,000 ) EXREBFR
FEO Lt E 5T B AT 2 K o

37. OPERATING LEASE 37. REHNZHE
ARRANGEMENTS
THE GROUP AS LESSEE EEBEREEA
2019
—E-NF
HK$’000
FET
Minimum lease payments paid under FARBRERN T2 REEERE
operating leases during the year:
Premises ES 6,885
At 31 March 2019, the Group had R-ZZE-NEFE=R=+—H8 AKERET

commitments for future minimum lease
payments under non-cancellable
operatfing leases which fall due as follows:

A 2 REHQRAET JIRRFEEELD
5K

2019
—E-hEF
HK$"000
TET

Within one year
In the second to fifth year inclusive

Operating lease payments represent
rentals payable by the Group for their
office premise and warehouse. Lease is
negotiated for the term of one to three
years and rentals are fixed for one to three
years.

—FR
E_EZhE(BEEEWMSF)

5,673
2,197

7,870

HERNNREARERERLEZNERR
EEMzEE - HAFHERAE—E=F >
—E=FRABEEHEE -
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38. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT 8. EXxEERE

234

The Group manages its capital to ensure
that entities in the Group will be able
tfo continue as a going concern while
maximising the return to shareholders
through the optimisation of the debt and
equity balance.

The capital structure of the Group consists
of net debt, which mainly includes bank
borrowings disclosed in Note 30 and lease
liabilities disclosed in Note 29, net cash and
cash equivalent, net of equity attributable
to owners of the Company, comprising
issued share capital, share premium and
reserves.

The Directors review the capital structure
on a semi-annual basis. As part of fthis
review, the Directors consider the cost
of capital and the risks associated
with each class of capital. Based on
recommendations of the Directors, the
Group will balance its overall capital
structure through the payment of
dividends, new share issues and share buy-
backs as well as the issue of new debt or
the redemption of existing debf.
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39%b.Financial risk management

objectives and policies

The Group’s major financial
instfruments include trade receivables,
other receivables and deposits,
financial assets at FVTPL, pledged
bank deposit, bank balances and
cash, frade and other payables,
bank borrowings and lease liabilities.
Details of these financial instruments
are disclosed in respective notes.
The risks associated with these
financial instruments include market
risk (currency risk, interest rate risk
and other price risk), credit risk and
liquidity risk. The policies on how to
mitigate these risks are set out below.
The Directors manage and monitor
these exposures to ensure appropriate
measures are implemented on a timely
and effective manner.

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 39. €W T A
39a.Categories of financial Vo tRITEZER
instruments
2020 2019
—E-EF —E-NEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Financial assets SRMEE
Financial assets at amortised REBERATFTECEREE
cost 212,668 235,859
Financial assets mandatorily ZAFEEFFABZREHTE
measured at FVTPL ZEREE 715 5,379
Financial liabilities Eo =R
Amortised cost 18 85 AR AN 32,683 3,894

39b. B B AR EE R R RBUER

AEECZTIESRMTIAGERKES
RE - HtEWRERES BAF
BEFABSERZEREE  CEF
RITER RTEERRE  ENE
SHRAREMEMNTRIE  RITERK
HEEE ZEERMIAZHBRS
METRRE BZESRMIAREZ
REiaEhsaR(E¥ERR - FMEE
prRHEMEERRR) FERBRKRDH
BB - FENARELEERARZ
BEHRTX EESEBRERLE
BB RER R A R REUE B 18
HE o
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 9. &MITAE(E)

(Continued)

39%b.Financial risk management Ib.MEEBREEEERBIKR(E)
objectives and policies
(Continued)
Market risk 5 E fE
There has been no significant change AEBEEH TG REBRILEERTE
to the Group’s exposure to market risks Bz AR EERES o

or the manner in which it manages
and measures the risks.

Currency risk b=¢:9:707

As of 31 March 2020, several MRZBEZEFE=ZA=+—H ' A7
subsidiaries of the Company have MoMBLAIABNERTER  EE
foreign currency bank balances which SAEEHBZNERKE HETEL
expose the Group to foreign currency En((EZExn)RBAGE  AEEE
risk. They are mainly denominated EAUERTRBRFEZRSMAS
in United States dollars ("USD”) and HEARBEBZINERR o

HKS. The Group is mainly exposed to
foreign exchange rate risk arising from
fransactions that are denominated in
USD and HKD relative to RMB.

236 Culturecom Holdings Limited  Annual Report 2019-2020



39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

39%b.Financial risk management

objectives and policies
(Continued)

Market risk (Continued)
Currency risk (Continued)

As of 31 March 2019, several
subsidiaries of the Company have
foreign currency bank balances which
expose the Group to foreign currency
risk. They are mainly denominated in
USD and RMB. As HKS$ is pegged to
USD, the Group does not expect any
significant movements in the USD/
HKS exchange rates. The Group is
mainly exposed to foreign exchange
rate risk arising from fransactions that
are denominated in RMB relative to
HKS. In addition, there are intra-group
balances with several subsidiaries
denominated in foreign currency
which also expose the Group to
foreign currency risk.

The Group currently does not have
a foreign exchange hedging policy.
However, the Directors monitor foreign
exchange exposure and will consider
hedging significant foreign currency
exposure should the need arise.
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39. ¢RI T H (&)

Wb HEABMEEEERKE (&)

i 4% 3 B (&)
BEmbE (&)

RZZB-NAF=ZRA=+—H8 ' &X2QFH
BOMBRABINERITESF &
EEHEN SRR HFBUXIR
AR E - ARBTEE T
EhAEEERET BLIEXFE
HEEMERESH AEEETEEN
ARBTEZR S A R8T EEE
ZHNERER o Lo ERZ REKE LN E
ZEUNESEZRERNES - TE
7N 5% B [ R SN S LB o

7N 5% 3 3R B 30 4 S0 L B R R o
AW EFEFIERR XERE
FEREZREPERINERE
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

39%b.Financial risk management
objectives and policies
(Continued)

Market risk (Continued)
Currency risk (Continued)

The carrying amounts of the
Group’s HKS and USD (2019:
RMB) denominated monetary
assets (including frade and other
receivables, pledged bank deposit
and bank balances and cash) at
reporting date and the carrying
amounts of RMB denominated inter-
company balances as at 31 March
2019 are as follows:

39. R T EH (&)

b KEMREEEERBE(E)

5% m B (&)
EmEbE (&)

AEERBEEHLUB TR ETFTE
(ZE2-NF AR¥ZEBEE(E
FEREZERAREMEWRFIR B
BERBRITERARBTEERBEE)R
RZBE-AF=ZA=+-BUARY
FSHEZRREGSFZREENT

Assets Liabilities
BE =L
2020 2019 2020 2019
—ECTFE —E2-NEF BB —ET-NEF
HK$’000 HKS’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHExT FExT FHET
The Group AEE
HKS BT 35,873 — — —
ushD ESp 46,716 — — —
RMB AREE — 19,842 — —
Inter-company AREETF
balances
RMB AR —_ — — 11,889
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

39%b.Financial risk management

objectives and policies
(Continued)

Market risk (Continued)
Currency risk (Continued)
Sensitivity analysis

The following table details the
Group’s sensitivity to a 5% (2019:
5%) increase and decrease in
the entity’s respective functional
currency against the relevant foreign
currencies. 5% (2019: 5%) is the
sensitivity rate used when reporting
foreign currency risk internally to
key management personnel and
represents the Directors’ assessment
of the reasonably possible change in
foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity
analysis includes outstanding foreign
currency denominated monetary items
and adjusts their franslation at the end
of the reporting period for a 5% (2019:;
5%) change in foreign currency rates.
A positive number below indicates
an increase in loss for the year where
RMB (2019: HKS) strengthen against
the relevant foreign currencies. For a
5% (2019: 5%) weakening of RMB (2019:
HKS) against the relevant currencies,
there would be an equal and opposite
impact on the loss for the year, and
the positive balances below would be
negative.

‘<
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39. ¢RI T H (&)

Wb HEABMEEEERKE (&)

w5 m (&)
BEmbE (&)
BREDM

TRAJIAGSERNEERS B 2 W8E
ERAEBNMNEAERRENS (ZF
—NEF 5% ZBBE - 5% (ZF— N
F 5% AMEEEEASRNIBERIN
WRRFFAzBBRELR WIEESE
HHIBERTESES T 25116 -
RESNBEUNEHEZHARAFR
EWIEE > URHBEPRUANEER
BB (ZF-NF SR)FHER
AR TIHEHRTARB(ZE-H
FIBR)ABEINEAERERZF
EEREM - HARE(ZZ-NF:
BR)RBBEIERESR(ZFE-N
F:5%) BEHFEBRERBEER
HROEE  MTIEHEHERE
2 o
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 9. &eWMITH(E)
(Continued)
39b.Financial risk management b HEREEBZERBE(E)
objectives and policies
(Continued)
Market risk (Continued) SRk (4E)
Currency risk (Continued) BEHE R (E)
Sensitivity analysis (Continued) BRE D (&)
Impact on loss for
the year
HEAFEFEZEE
2020 2019
—ECRE  —Z-NF
HK$’000 HK$000
FEx FET
RMB AR —_ 332
HKS BT 1,498 —
ushb ETT 1,950 —
In the opinion of the Directors, the EERA BREIMATKREKESR
sensitivity analysis is unrepresentative ZHERR  RERFRERILFR

of the inherent foreign exchange risk RE R Z B
as the year end exposure does not
reflect the exposure during the year.
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

39%b.Financial risk management

objectives and policies
(Continued)

Market risk (Continued)
Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value
interest rate risk in relation to fixed-
rate pledged bank deposit (Note 26),
refundable rental deposit (Note 25),
bank borrowings (Note 30) and lease
liabilities (Note 29). The Group is also
exposed to cash flow interest rate
risk in relation to variable-rate bank
balances (Note 26). The Directors have
considered the Group’s exposure to
cash flow interest rate risk in relation
to variable-rate bank balances (Note
26) to be limited because the current
market interest rates on general
deposits are relatively low and stable.

Interest income from financial assets
that are measured at amortised cost is
as follows:

ANCIAL STATEMENTS
& M B R M

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020
BE—_Z-SEFE=-A=1+—HLEE

39. ¢RI T H (&)

Wb HEABMEEEERKE (&)

TS E R ()
VBN

AEEFELSCEARTERME
26) ~ AIREIEERE (HEE25)
TER (M EE30) R HE & & (M EE 29)
HERDFEENRER - NEEIT
FREBTEF(ME2)HERESRE
MEEk ESRARLEEFERZ
BRFERTEF(ME20) 2BHER
ENZEBRER RRAENAE—
BRERZTENREAHBERRBE -

TREENMBEWMATLRBHEBATE
W

2020 2019
—E-EF —E-hEF
HK$’000 HK$000
FTHERT FHExT
Financial assets at amortised REBERAFTECEMEE
cost 2,414 1,459
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 9. &eWMITH(E)
(Continued)
39b.Financial risk management b.HKEREEEERKE(E)
objectives and policies
(Continued)
Market risk (Continued) SRk (4E)
Interest rate risk (Continued) FI=E fz (48)
Interest expense from financial liabilities DEERATTEzemEBE2f EH
at amortised cost is as follows: T :
2020 2019
—E-FF —E-hF
HK$’000 HK$"000
FET FiET
Financial liabilities at DA EzEmE s
amortised cost 1,096 —
Other price risk E B E
The Group is exposed to equity price AEBEHLTRABSRENEE
risk through its investment in listed ZRAERZREERR  HoBEARRAQ
equity securities which are classified as TEEFAEGRZENEE -ES
financial assets at FVTPL. The Directors ZREFEEFTRARBEBRRZERE
manage this exposure by maintaining HEe BEUERAR THEREFER
a portfolio of investments with 57 P E B 2 R B o

different risk and return profiles and
will consider hedging the risk exposure
should the need arise.
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39. ¢RI T EH (&)

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

39b.Financial risk management b EEREEEERKE(E)

objectives and policies
(Continued)

Market risk (Continued)
Other price risk (Continued)
Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses below have
been determined based on the
exposure to equity price risk at the
reporting date.

If the equity prices had been 15%
higher/lower (2019: 15%), post-tax
loss would decrease/increase by
HK$90,000 (2019: HKS$674,000). This
is mainly due to the changes in fair
value of the financial assets at FVTPL.

Credit risk and impairment assessment

Credit risk refers to the risk that the
Group’s counterparties default on
their contractual obligations resulting
in financial losses to the Group. The
Group’s credit risk exposures are
primarily attributable to trade and
other receivables, deposits, pledged
bank deposit and bank balances. The
Group does not hold any collateral or
other credit enhancements to cover its
credit risks associated with its financial
assets.

The Group performed impairment
assessment for financial assets under
ECL model. Information about the
Group’s credit risk management,
maximum credit risk exposures and
the related impairment assessment, if
applicable, are summarised as below:

45 m B (&)
At EmERE (&)
BREDN

UTHRESHDREHRSBH 2R
FERERAREE o

HRAEBZEREA TEKIS%(=
B—NE15%) BREEEEBR
4 /#10190,0008 T(ZF— h & :
674,000587T) r TERAREAFEE
HABERCSRMEECATFEES
BT -

=B R R B EFE

FERREASEZRZHFIEIY
EEREIAEEZIMB LERZ
Bk A"EEfERZFERRBER
REEWKE S RAKHAMERFIA
g CEARTERRRITER -
AEBTESEEMERRIEAME
EgRTA UREHRESHEEM
B EERR -

FEERANFEFREEXAT &R
EEETREN G FHEAEERFE
RERERE HR&SEERRKEE
RERHE (MER) 2EMBLIT ¢
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

39%b.Financial risk management

39. ¢ T A (E)

b.IKEMEEREERRE(E)

objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

Trade receivables arising from
contracts with customers

In order to minimise the credit risk, the
Group has a credit control policy in
place under which credit evaluations
of customers are performed on all
customers requiring credit. Other
monitoring procedures are in place to
ensure that follow-up action is taken to
recover overdue debts. In this regard,
the Directors consider that the Group’s
credit risk is significantly reduced.

As at 31 March 2020, the Group does
not have any significant concentration
of credit risk on frade receivables.
As at 31 March 2019, the Group had
concentration of credit risk as 72% of
the total trade receivables was due
from two customers from publishing
and [Ps licensing segment and digital
marketing segment. The Directors
considered that the credit risk of
amounts due from these customers
is insignificant after considering their
historical settlement record, credit
quality and financial positions.

In addition, the Group performs
impairment assessment under ECL
model on trade balances individually.
Impairment of HK$3,234,000 (2019:
HK$215,000) is recognised during
the year. Details of the quantitative
disclosures are set out below in this
note.
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R-ZBEZZEFE=A=+—H ' A&H
EREBSERAZEERBIBERE
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39. ¢RI T H (&)

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

39b.Financial risk management bHKEREEREREE(E)

objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

Other receivables and deposits

For other receivables and deposits,
the Group performs impairment
assessment under ECL model balances
individually or on a collective
basis. Except for other debtors with
significant balance, the ECL of the
remaining other receivables are
assessed collectively based on shared
credit risk characteristics. The Directors
believe that there are no significant
increase in credit risk of these amounts
since initial recognition and the Group
provided impairment based on 12m
ECL. The Group assessed the ECL for
other receivables and deposits and
recognised HK$395,000 and Nil for the
years ended 31 March 2020 and 31
March 2019 respectively.

=B AR R B EF G ()

BttEUH AR EE

HttBWRBEREZ ST E » AKE L
BHEEEREARBRNGHRIERE
BEEETRENE - REXES
ZHAMEBE AN - HexHE b B WA
2HHBEFEFEERARFERRE
MERETHME EERB BOK
BRUAR  ZERBZFERRILE
EREN MAKEZR12EAEHE
EFERBRERE AEEFGEH
thERREREZES 2ABEERSSE
REBE-ZF-ZTHF=A=t+—-HR=
E-NF=ZR=t-HLEFEDHI®E
#.395,000 % T ] £ ©
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

39%b.Financial risk management

39. R T EH (&)

b KEMREEEERBE(E)

246

objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

Bank balances and pledged bank
deposit

Credit risk on bank balances and
pledged bank deposit is limited
because the counterparties are
reputable banks with high credit
ratings assigned by infternational
credit-rating agencies. The Group
assessed 12m ECL for bank balances
and pledged bank deposit by
reference to information relating to
probability of default and loss given
default of the respective credit
rating grades published by external
credit rating agencies. Based on
the average loss rates, the 12m ECL
on bank balances and pledged
bank deposit is considered fo be
insignificant.
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

39%b.Financial risk management
objectives and policies

(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment

(Continued)

The Group’s infernal credit risk grading
assessment comprises the following

categories:

Internal credit rating Description

i 2019-2020 XALEERERRAT 247

ANCIAL STATEMENTS
RS MR R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020
BE—_Z-SEFE=-A=1+—HLEE

39. ¢RI T H (&)

Wb HEABMEEEERKE (&)

=B AR R B EF G ()

AEEZABEERRITIRBELAT

A -

Trade receivables

Other financial assets

REEEFR it W E 5 BN HtteREE
Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of Lifetime ECL 12m ECL
default., — not credit-impaired
i1 REHFENRBRE - EHRMEEEE REARYSEEER
— BEERE
Medium risk The counterparty has a medium risk of ~ Lifetime ECL 12m ECL
default., — not credit-impaired
HE R XEHFENRBRTR FHRAGEERE REARBEEEE
— BREEHE
Doubtful There have been significant increases  Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
in credit risk since initial recognition — not credit-impaired ~ — not credit-impaired
through information developed
internally or external resources
=& BEBANAEERINIERNSRAN FHRBCERHE FHRSCERA
® FERRE KEEM — EREHE — EBREHE
Loss There is evidence indicating the asset  Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
is credit-impaired — credit-impaired — credit-impaired
BiE BEREBTEENREERNE FHRSBGERE FHREBCEERE
— BEERE — BREEHE
Write-off There is evidence indicating that Amount is written off Amount is written off
the debtor is in severe financial
difficulty and the Group has no
realistic prospect of recovery
s FREETEHARNHBENRAASEY SHEEMH ST M

EERWE TR
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 9. &€MITA(E)
(Continued)
39b.Financial risk management b.HKEREEEERKE(E)
objectives and policies
(Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment =B &R e E 715 ()
(Continued)
The tables below detail the credit risk TRHFMIEAEETRMEEERHZ
exposures of the Group’s financial EERR HEETHEBEEEBHF
assets, which are subject to ECL 14 :
assessment:
2020 2019
Gross Gross
External  Internal carrying carrying
Notes credit rating credit rating 12m or lifetime ECL amount amount
bt 322 ZB-NF
Wi ABEEFE APEETR 12EARFHRBEERR BREE AREE
HK$'000 HK$"000
TER TER
Financial assets at amortised cost
REEAATEZENEE
Lifetime ECL
Trade receivables (Note a) 24 N/A Low risk (not credit-impaired) 23,693 9,969
FUEZ KR (Mita) TBA EmE ERRAEERE(EEEHE)
N/A Loss Lifetime ECL (credit-impaired) 3,293 636
TER Ei ERRAEEER(AEEHE)
Other receivables and deposit 12m ECL
(Note b) 25 N/A Low risk (individually assessed) 3,705 5,520
Bt RUFER RS (HEb) TBA EmE 1218 AR EEEE (ERIFFHE)
12m ECL
N/A Low risk (collectively assessed) 8,299 -
TER ERE 128 A RHEEEE (RRTE)
Bank balances and pledged bank
deposit (Note ¢) 26 AA+ N/A 12m ECL 177,081 219,044
RTEERCERRITER (Witc) @R 12EAESRERR
Bad N/A 12m ECL 141 854

TER 2EARAEERR
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39. ¢RI T H (&)

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

39b.Financial risk management bHKEREEREREE(E)

objectives and policies

(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment =B B e R et E 7715 ()

(Continued)

Notes: MIEE -

a. For trade receivables, the Group has MEKREZRAMS  AEEEREEY
applied the simplified approach in HKFRS 9 BHEEREO 2Bt H AR FHTAER
to measure the loss allowance at lifetime EEBEEBERE ~EBEBREH
ECL. The Group determines the ECL on BREEEEZESEEZEREERIE -
these items by an individual basis. As part EAAEEEERBER 2 — B KE
of the Group's credit risk management, the BHHEEFEARIEETR -
Group applies internal credit rating for its
customers.
As at 31 March 2020, impairment R-ZZE_EF=A=+—H EHRERFE
allowance of HK$565,000 and HK$3,293,000 REZEBAREGEERBEZEREAD R
(2019: Nil and HK$636,000) were made on 12 18 Rl {8 1 5 565,000 % T & 3,293,000
not credit-impaired debtors and credit- BIT(ZB—NF: BR636,0008T) °
impaired debtors, respectively. During the RBE_ZE—NWF=A=+—HLFE"
year ended 31 March 2019, the Group did HRASBEIFRER  WAEBLERERS
not provide any impairment allowance ERE 2 &% AR BRI ERE -
on debtors with no credit-impaired as the
amount is insignificant.

b. The Group assessed the loss allowance AEBZ12EAFEHEEBS BTG HmE

for other receivables on 12m ECL basis.
In determining the ECL, the Group has
taken into account the historical past
due experience and forward-looking
information as appropriate. There had
been no significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition. As at 31 March
2020, the balances of HK$11,609,000 (31
March 2019: HK$5,520,000) are neither past
due nor with fixed repayment terms and
the internal credit rating is considered as
low risk.

BREZEREE RETRBEESRE
B AEECEEZRZBEAMERR
RIBEMEER - BYREALUR  FERKR
VEBZREN R-T=_FTF=A=+—
B #711,609.000 8 T(=ZF—-—NF=
AZ=+—8 : 5,520,000 7t) 3 FEH &
WEEEERY  MABEETREES
EEK
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

39%b.Financial risk management
objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

Notes: (Continued)
b. (Continued)

The Group assessed the ECL of certain
other receivables collectively based on
average loss rates which are estimated
with reference to credit report issued
by international credit agency and are
adjusted for forward-looking information
that is available without undue cost or
effort. The grouping is regularly reviewed
by management to ensure relevant
information about specific debtors is
updated.

As at 31 March 2020, impairment
allowance of HK$395,000 (2019: Nil) were
made on these other debtors based on
collective basis.

C. The Group did not provide any 12m

ECL on bank balances as the amount is
insignificant.

Culturecom Holdings Limited  Annual Report 2019-2020

39. ¢RI T H(E)

b KEMREEEERBE(E)

=B AR K B E G ()

izt - (&)

b.

(#)

FEEZZHEBTREBREZEERS
® UGz PHOBRERERFAETH
fEWRB AR EERE - AREAB
ZHEARE N ATRE AR ER R
AR - 2HEAEEEENER  BREH
AEREBAZHBEERNCS TEH -

N-ZE-ZEE=ZA=+—-H CHREE
HERH A& A IR 3R E B 5 395,000
BT(ZE—NE : 8) -

HREBRAFER  WAEBALBERBRT
FERBEMI2EARMEERSE -



95 2019-2020 XLEEREERAF 251
ANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M 75 R R RE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020
BE—_Z-SEFE=-A=1+—HLEE

39. ¢RI T H (&)

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

39b.Financial risk management b.HKEEREEEERKE(E)

objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

The following table shows the
movement in lifetime ECL that has
been recognised for frade receivables
under the simplified approach.

=B AR R B EF G ()

TRETRBBLLIZEEIZER
BE2RRCFHRBEEBREZED -

Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
(not credit- (credit-
impaired) impaired) Total
FHEHD FHEH
FEEFR FEBE
(BREERIE) (FERE) At
HKS$"000 HK$"000 HKS$"000
FHET TFExT FET
At 1 April 2018 R=-Z-NFEMA—H — 1,049 1,049
Eliminated upon REEH B AR BBV
disposal of subsidiary — (628) (628)
Impairment losses CRRREREE
recognised — 215 215
At 31 March 2019 R-ZZ—-NF=A
=+—H — 636 636
New financial assets I Z2HFHEMEE
originated 565 2,669 3,234
Exchange realignment [E &R — a2 (12)
At 31 March 2020 R-ZZEZEF=A
=t+—H 565 3.293 3.858




FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

39%b.Financial risk management

9. M TR(E)

objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

The Group writes off frade receivables
when there is information indicating
that the debftor is in severe financial
difficulty and there is no realistic
prospect of recovery, e.g. when
the debtor has been placed under
liguidation or has entered into
bankruptcy proceedings. In respect of
the credit-impaired debtor with gross

=B R R B EFE ()

ERENETREBARRBREYHRE
HEWEERATREHR(HIW : EE
BABBRACEARER TR
AEBEMERVES KRR BEZF
“EF-ZA=+T-HLEFE  BRE
#{E 2,609,000 8B T2 fEEREBHEA
& B 2R EE 5 2.669,000% T
(ZZ2-hF &) FA5ERRER
AHBEARMBRRE  WE[AZXEH

carrying amount of HK$2,669,000 and
impairment loss of HK$2,669,000 (2019:
Nil) recognised for the year ended 31
March 2020, the Group considered
the debtor is in significant financial
difficulty and has taken legal action
against the debtor to recover the
amount due.

ABRBUERZTRLUED BB FOR o

The following table show reconciliation TRETCHEIHMERZREZES
of loss allowances that has been BB
recognised for other receivables:

12m ECL

1218 B &

FEEER

HKS$’000

FET

At 1 April 2018 RZE—-N\FMHA—H 835
Write-off G (83%5)
At 31 March 2019 R-E-NF=A=+—H —
New financial assets originated R zHEemEE 395
At 31 March 2020 R-ZE-ZFEF=A=+-—H 395
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

39%b.Financial risk management

objectives and policies
(Continued)

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity
risk, the Group monitor and maintain a
level of cash and cash equivalents by
the Directors to finance the Group’s
operations and mitigate the effects of
fluctuations in cash flows.

The Directors regularly monitor current
and expected liquidity requirements
to ensure it maintains sufficient
reserves of cash and bank balances
and adequate funding from its
shareholders to meet with its liquidity
requirements.

Bank borrowings with a repayment
on demand clause, including the
bank borrowing that is repayable
on demand due to breach of loan
covenant as disclosed in Note 30, are
included in the earliest time band
regardless of the possibility of the bank
choosing to exercise its right.

The following table details the Group’s
remaining confractual maturity for
its financial liabilities based on the
agreed repayment term. The table
has been drawn up based on the
undiscounted cash flows of financial
liabilities based on the earliest date on
which the Group can be required to
pay. The table includes principal cash
flows.

i

e 7

NANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMERRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020
BE—_Z-SEFE=-A=1+—HLEE

9. ¢MITA(E

Wb KA ETEEERKE (&)

RTEERBDESRAR  XEFER
REFEEAREUBNAEEHLEE

FREXKFZRERREEEY  UR
BERERERB2TE -

EETHERAKRREAPRDESSE
R UBRAGFEAZHEESRET
BERBURKBEERRZAREE
T URREERBEESER -

ERIBTEDTREETEELERN
MEREREERAVBITER(BER
MEIOMBERNERERROMARE
REEZBITHER)ETARENEE
E e

TRALASEVBRERBEHEE
RBZHTENEHA - ZRDIIRE
FEEANHRZBERAHNREREE
ZARBBARERERH - ZREEX
EHERE -
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020
BE—_Z-SF=-A=+—HLEE

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

39%b.Financial risk management
objectives and policies
(Continued)

39. ¢RI T H(E)

b KEMREEEERBE(E)

254

Liquidity risk (Continued) HEELER(E)
Liquidity table REEZFK
Repayable In the
Weighted ~ on demand second to Total
average or within fifth year undiscounted Carrying
interest rate one year inclusive cash flows amounts
RERY, $-ERE KER
MEFHFE R-FrEE (BREERE) HRERELE RE®
% HK$'000 HK$"000 HK$"000 HK$"000
TR TR TR TR
2020 b g 33
Trade and other ERESRR Rt
payables B8 - 23,934 - 23,934 23,934
Bank borrowings BT 457 8,749 - 8,749 8,749
Lease liabilities HESE 4.89 2,063 769 2,832 2,806
Total 5 34,746 769 35,515 35,489
2019 “E-NE
Trade and other ERESRRR A
payables B8 - 3,894 - 3,894 3,894
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

39%b.Financial risk management

objectives and policies
(Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)
Liquidity table (Continued)

Bank borrowing with carrying amount
of HKS$4,375,000 that is repayable
on demand due to breach of
loan covenant is included in the
“repayable on demand or within one
year” time band in the above maturity
analysis. The Directors are still in
negotiation with the bank for the terms
of the borrowing. For the remaining
bank borrowing with a carrying
amount of HK$4,374,000 (2019: N/A)
as at 31 March 2020, taking into
account the Groups financial position,
the Directors do not believe that it is
probable that the bank will exercise
their discretionary rights to demand
immediate repayment. The Directors
believe that the undiscounted
amount of HK$4,424,000 of such bank
borrowing will be repaid within one
year after the end of the reporting
period in accordance with the
scheduled repayment dates set out in
the loan agreements.

CIAL STATEMENTS
& M B R M

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020
BE—_Z-SEFE=-A=1+—HLEE

39. ¢RI T H (&)

Wb HEABMEEEERKE (&)

B ELEE (E)
REBEE T (E)

HERERRAMAREEREE R
ITEFRBRME 4,375,00058 Tt A £t
EHBAINMHNREREESISR—FR
B2 |BFBEE - ERHFEIRRELR
TEE BR_ZE-_ZTF=A=1+—
B 2 IR & 54,374,000 T (= &
—E T ERA)2EBBITMERM
B ZEIAEENUMBERR  EE
RARTTIAAERTEARNBEREER
VEER EERGE REXRUERR
1T1EFR 4,424,000 & THRIBEE K H &
BTS2 AN BERRE—
FREER -
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020
BE—_Z-SF=-A=+—HLEE

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

39c.Fair values

Fair value of the Group’s financial
assets that are measured at fair value
on a recurring basis

The level in the fair value hierarchy
within which the financial asseft
is categorised in its entirety is
based on the lowest level of input
that is significant to the fair value
measurement.

Fair value

Financial asset Fair value higrarchy
tREE LYRE AYEEER
2020 2019
i i

9. eMIAE(E

39c. A FEEE

BEEMEENL FEETBEZFE
EHe@MEEZ L FEE

TRMEEREMERAZAVEER
RRN2ER DERBATEERE
EREARERZBREERBARE -

Valuation Significant Relationship of

fechnique(s) unobservable unobservable

and key input(s) inputs inputs fo fair value
FEREAYEE

ffEriRBREARE  EATTEREANE AVREZBK

Listed equify securifies clossified HK$715,000 HKS5,379.000  Level

as financial asssfs af FVIPL

PRARATRET \RRRLER 1150007 5319008 E1%

ECYAL) U

The fair value of other financial assets
and financial liabilities that are not
measured at fair value on a recurring
basis are determined in accordance
with generally accepted pricing
models based on discounted cash
flow analysis.

The Directors consider that the
carrying amounts of financial assets
and financial liabilities recorded at
amortised cost in the consolidated
financial statements approximate their
fair value.
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Quoted bid pricesinan~ NJA N/A
active morket
ERNANEZEAR T#R T#ER

WHBEEHELEU QN FEETEZ
HteMEERETRAGE 2L FEE

BoMMAEE

EERANGEEMBRERANRBHENR
FAARZEBMEERERMEBEZIRE
BEEEQAFEEMRS -
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40. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS/ 40. EREEBEATR 5 &t

BALANCES

(a) Compensation of key () TEEEAE 2 HH
management personnel
The key management of the Group AEEZITEEBAECREMEBE
comprises all Directors, details of their T HMEFBRMT10EE - ES
emoluments are disclosed in Note MedHAARFMEESREBAE
15. The emoluments of the Directors R-AEERBARBAEED - TEH
are decided by the remuneration EERRITHRMEE °

committee of the Company having
regard to individual’s performance,
the Group’s performance and
profitability, remuneration benchmark
in the indusftry and prevailing market

condition.

(b) Related party transactions (b) EBEALRS
Except as disclosed elsewhere in the BRREEMBRREME D IEEE
consolidated financial statements, S RER REBEHEUTHEBAEA
the Group entered into the following TETURS -

fransactions with a related party
during the year:

Nature of transaction/

Related party balance 2020 2019

EEEAL RBMUE —E-BF "ET-NF

HK$’000 HKS$"000

TR FET

CMEL Rental expense (Note) — 405
HEE A (ME)

CMEL Royalty income 100 2,907

PN
CMEL Interest expense on lease 16 —

liability (Note)
HEABE AN EBX (M)

CMEL Lease liability (Note) 540 —
HEEE (M)
Note: Culturecom Limited, a subsidiary of the Mk XL EEERAR(RATRZKEBEAR) »
Company, leased an office premises from BADABEEATCMELEERAEY
CMEL, an associate of the Company, with ¥ FHEWE

the lease term of two years.
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40. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS/

BALANCES (Continued)
(b) Related party transactions

40. BBREATR S R (&)

(b) BRAEALRS ()

(Continued)
Nature of transaction/
Related party balance 2020 2019
BREATL REME —E-EHF —E-hEF
HK$’000 HKS$"000
FHET FTHET
Beijing WeiResearch Info Licensing expense
Technology Limited* (1t 3=
HERIEERBEROBRAA)
("WeiResearch”) (Note) 210 —

LR BHIBAGEENEROERLE REER
A (M5 2 AL (MEE)

Note: WeiResearch is a substantial shareholder
of a subsidiary of the Company and is
a related party of the Group from 26
February 2019 to 30 September 2019.

* English name is for identification purpose
only

In addition fto related party
fransactions as disclosed above,
during the year ended 31 March
2019, one of the shareholders of the
Company, L & W Holding Limited,
which holds 19.52% equity interests in
the Company as at 31 March 2019
advanced a fotal of MOP3,060,000
(equivalent to approximately
HK$2,971,000) to a subsidiary of Ucan
Commercial for operation purpose.
The amount was unsecured, inferest
free and repayable on demand.

Culturecom Holdings Limited  Annual Report 2019-2020

M MREBAR-ZE-AF-AZ+ARHEES
ZE-NFAA=TRAEXLAMBRRZ
TERR  RAFEEZEEAL -

* R BBEMRR

MREXFIEBEZBEERRZ N BE
—E-hFE=ZRA=+—BLEE"
KRB —BFBEARRAF19.52%# 7
2 B’ ®L & W Holding Limited A
ZE-AFE=ZA=+—HM@Ucan
Commercial z — f& it B 2 7 2 &
& 3,060,000 M (i & K 8
2,971,000 7xt) r (EFRAREERZE - %
SHEAREKE REREREREER-
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41. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 4. KRB ZETENE QA

COMPANY
41a.General information of Ao B AR Z—REHR
subsidiaries
Particulars of the Company’s principal AARMR-ZE-_ZEE=A=+—HF
subsidiaries as at 31 March 2020 are as EMBARIZHFMAERAT :
follows:
Place/country Issued and Proportion of nominal
of incorporation  fully paid value of issued share
or registration/ share capital/ capital indirectly held
Name operation registered capital by the Company Principal activities
AMAYSER,  CRORARRE/  ARAIEENEZ
£8 gEHY /A% iARER ERORFEELH  IEXH
2020 2019
ZRCRE ZE-NE
% %
Cificomics Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HKS2 10 70 Publishing and IPs licensing
BELAERAR 3 Lak2En HRR AR E R
Culturecom Centre Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HKS2 100 100 Provision of management services to
WL EERLERD R B LER2AT group compoanies
RUEEERETEELA
Culturecom Enterprises Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HKS2 100 100 Provision of management services to
WLBELERRAT B LER2ET group companies
RUEERRETEELA
Culturecom Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1,000 95 95 Investment holding and publishing
WLEERRAR Bk LAR1,000%7 and IPs licensings
REBRURLRRARERRE
Culturecom Investments Limited ~ Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 100 100 Investment holding and securifies
WEERERRAR Bk LER2ET trading
REEREESEE
Culturecom Media Limifed Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 100 100 Provision for multimedia service
WEREARAT 3 LRR2ER RIS HERY
Culturekid i-shop (HK) Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HKS2 100 100 Trading of wine

YEEERERR(BR)ERAR B EBR2ER BEER
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020
BE—_Z-SF=-A=+—HLEE

41. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE
COMPANY (Continued)

41a.General information of

A BARZEERB AR (&)

AaMfiB AT Z—RER(E)

Culturecom Holdings Limited

subsidiaries (Continued)

Place/country Issued and Proportion of nominal
of incorporation  fully paid value of issued share
or registration/ share capital/ capital indirectly held
Name operation registered capital by the Company Principal activities
AMAYSER,  CRORARRE/  BALAAEENEZ
tH EELY/EX ifER EERTRAEELA  TERH
2020 2019
ZR2RF BN
% %
Winway HK. Investments Limited ~ Hong Kong Ordinary HKS2 100 100 Investment holding and securities
XHERRERRAR &k LER2ET trading
REERRESEE
Ucan.com Group Limited Hong Kong Ordinary 100 100 Investment holding
&k HK$10,000 REER
EBR10000%
ENR-BRYRAEERAT PRC Registered 55 55 Operation of digital cinema
hE RMBS,010,000 HeUEETh
AMERARE
5,010,000
THE ONE Comics Publishing Limifed  Hong Kong Ordinary 51 51 Publishing and IPs licensing
-BELMERAA B HK$1,618,900 HRRAHERRE
EER
16189007
Egmen PRC Registered 58 55 Digital marketing business
VEL i RMB533,000 HEDAREREY
AMERARE
533,000 70
Beljing Skyvior PRC Registered 55 55 Digital marketing business
Tr%E i RMB950,000 HEDARERY
AMERARE
950,000 70
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41. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE
COMPANY (Continued)

41a.General information of
subsidiaries (Continued)

g A,
T — |

ﬂﬁﬁ#ﬁ%l’ﬂ&

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020
BE—_Z-SEFE=-A=1+—HLEE

A ARB2EEMBAE (FE)

AoMiBRARZ—RER(E)

Place/country Issued and Proportion of nominal
of incorporation  fully paid value of issued share
or registration/ share capital/ capital indirectly held
Name operation registered capital by the Company Principal activities
AMELSER,  CERORERRE/  ARAIEENEZ
£H gEHY /A% ifER ERTRAEELA  TERH
2020 2019
ZRCRE ZE-NF
% %
Hyperchannel Info PRC Registered 58 —  Digital marketing business
EEEL e RMB10,000,000 HEDARERY
AMERARH
10,000,000 7t
WE(KE) RELE(BRAN) PRC Registered 100 100 Digital marketing business
hE RMB7,318,400 HED SRR
AMERARH
7,318,400 70
WEOKE)NEERAT PRC Registered 100 100 Digital marketing business
hE RMB35,341,400 HED SRR
AMERARH
35,341,400
None of the subsidiaries had any debt FMEMBARBMERFRRLFLER

securities outstanding during the year
or at the end of the year.

TEZEMEBES -
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41. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE
COMPANY (Continued)

41a.General information of

A KRR EENB AT (&)

AoMiB ATz —RER(E)

subsidiaries (Continued)

At the end of the reporting period,
the Company has other subsidiaries
that are not material to the Group. A
majority of these subsidiaries operate
in Hong Kong and BVI. The principal

RBERMKR > RARBAFHEAEH
MEBERZEMHMEBELT - LEKH
BRAXRZBREBRABRELES
EE -UWEMBARZEEZXHMIM
mr

activities of these subsidiaries are
summarised as follows:

Principal activities Principal place of business Number of subsidiaries
FEEK FEE X MEAREA
2020 2019

—ECRHE —E-NF

Investment holding BVI, Hong Kong 21 19
REEZER REBELZEE BB

Dormant/Inactive companies BVI, Hong Kong, PRC 7 8
Eme REBEZEE &8 FE

The Directors are of the opinion that
a complete list of the particulars of
all subsidiaries would be of excessive
length and therefore the above list
contains only the subsidiaries which
principally affect the results or assets
or liabilities of the Group.

EERAHEV2HMBLARAZFAE
HRERBEARTR Bt EREH
NEBREEAKREZXANEESR
BZMBLRTE -

262 Culturecom Holdings Limited  Annual Report 2019-2020



41. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE
COMPANY (Continued)

41b.Details of non-wholly owned

A ARB2EEMBAE (FE)

vy =

g A,

ﬂﬁﬁ#ﬁ%l’ﬂ&

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020

BE—_Z-SEFE=-A=1+—HLEE

4A1b. 2 EMBE A REREREAIE

subsidiary that have material RS 2 E
non-controlling interests
The table below shows details of non- TRIWNREEBHRZENE QL EIHEE
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group BEARFERERZFHE
that have material non-controlling
interests:
Place of
incorporation Proportion of ownership
ond principal interests and voting Loss allocated Accumulated
place of  rights held by non-controlling fo non-controlling non-controlling
Name of subsidiary business inferests inferests inferests
AR ILER FEREERAL
] Pk IEERMY HERRERRZRAD AREFERER 6R ZitHERER
2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019
S$S8F CE3-nfF 0 CRC®E 0 TR ZBIRE CEaf
HK§'000 HKS'000 HK§'000 HKS'000
Tén Tén Tin Tin
Eqmen 74 PRC 45% 45% @ny) (1,108) 18,092 212
Gl
Individually immoterial ~ BRFEXNBARFERER
subsidiaries with non-
controlling inferests (3,242) (4.683)

14,850

17,443
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BE—_Z-SF=-A=+—HLEE
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D
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41. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE Al ZRR2EENMBERE (&)

COMPANY (Continued)

41b.Details of non-wholly owned 41b 2 EMB A RIS E AT
subsidiary that have material RiEmzF#E(E)
non-controlling interests
(Continued)
Eqmen 2 &P
2020 2019
—E-ZF —E-hF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FiET
Current assets RBEE 40,761 46,237
Non-current assets FREBEE 1,566 5,012
Current liabilities REEE 2,123 1,388
Non-current liabilities FREBEE — 692

Equity attributable to owners of ARARER AEEER
the Company 22,112

27,043

Non-controlling interests of EQmen 5%z JEiERER 18,092

22,126
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41. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE
COMPANY (Continued)

41b.Details of non-wholly owned

non-controlling interests
(Continued)
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BE-Z-ZH=RA=

4. KRR EENMB AT (&)

t—BLFE

A\b. k2 EMB ARG EAI E
subsidiary that have material BiEm 2 E(E)

Eqgmen (Continued) ZEFI (&)
Year ended Year ended
31 March 31 March
2020 2019
5= BZE
—E-EF —E-hF
=A=+—HB =B=+—H
IEFEE IEFE
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FET FET
Revenue ON 34,819 5,562
Expenses 53 (40,846) (8,024)
Loss for the year FEEE (6,027) (2,462)
Loss attributable to owners of the KA THEA AEEERE
Company (3,315) (1.354)
Loss attributable to the non- SEMZ TR EREN
controlling interests of Egmen B8 (2,712) (1,108)
Loss for the year FEEE (6,027) (2.462)
Other comprehensive (expense)  ANQTHEHE ARG EAL
income attributable to owners ZHAEX) W&
of the Company (1,616) 455
Other comprehensive (expense)  S&FIZIEIERERENL
income attributable to the non- Hih2mE (X)) &=
controlling interests of Egmen (1,322) VS
Other comprehensive (expense) FEHMZ2EGEX) K&
income for the year (2,938) 828




FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020
BE—_Z-SF=-A=+—HLEE

41. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 4. R RFI 2T EMB AT (E)
COMPANY (Continued)

41b.Details of non-wholly owned 41b 2 EMB A RIS E AT
subsidiary that have material RiEmzF#E(E)
non-controlling interests
(Continued)
Egmen (Continued) ZEFI (&)

Year ended Year ended
31 March 31 March
2020 2019

BZ BE

g g 253 —E-hF
=A=+—-R =A=+-H

LFE IEFE
HK$’000 HK$000
FTHERT FET
Total comprehensive expense ARBEEAEEEZE
attributable to owners of the Mk 4%
Company (4,931) (899)
Total comprehensive expense ZEP 2 TR R E
attributable to the non- MR
controlling interests of Egmen (4,034) (735)
Total comprehensive expense for FEZHBEXEEE
the year (8,965) (1,634)
Net cash outflow from operating &E&EKRESHRHFH
activities (8,079) (8,440)
Net cash outflow from financing MEXKRESRB FE
activities (10,791) —
Net cash outflow WER L FEE (18,870) (8,440)
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BE-—F-_FF=A=t-HLHFE

42. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES 2. MEXBELEABRZHER
ARISING FROM FINANCING

ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the TRFLFEERMEXBELEEBE2EE
Group’s liabilities arising from financing BREESRFREeEH  MEXKELERE
activities, including both cash and non- ARERERRRESRERRAEB 27
cash changes. Liabilities arising from ERERERTHOEAMEXBRENEZ
financing activities are those for which =L

cash flows were, or future cash flows will
be, classified in the Group’s consolidated
statement of cash flows as cash flows from
financing activities.

Advances
Advance from
Lease Bank froma independent
liabilities borrowings  shareholder  third parties Total
BYE=H
HEEE RITER  —BRRER B3 ok
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
TR THx T T i
At 1 April 2018 RZE-N\EMA-H = = = = =
Financing cash flows AERERE - - 2,971 1,275 4,246
Disposal of subsidiaries HERBLF - - (2,971 (1,275) (4,246)
At 31 March 2019 R=B-NE
=B=t-H = - - — _
Adjustment upon ERBAMBEREERSE
application of HKFRS 16 163 2 B A% 6,138 - - - 6,138
At 1 April 2019 RZE-AEMA—H 6,138 — — — 6,138
Acquisition of a subsidiary  WlE—EHEAF - - - 33,989 33,989
Financing cash flows HERERE (5,084) 8,296 - (20,204) (16,992)
Finance costs HEER 190 453 - 761 1,404
New lease entered/lease  ¥31E /BEITHE
modified 1,698 - - - 1,698
Exchange realignment Ex@E (136) - - - (136)
At 31 March 2020 R-B-2F
ZA=t-H 2,806 8,749 — 14,546 26,101
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020'
BE—_Z-SF=-A=+—HLEE

43. MAJOR NON-CASH
TRANSACTIONS

a) During the year ended 31 March 2020,
the Group entered info a new lease
agreement for office of 3 years. On
the lease commencement, the Group
recognised right-of-use assets and the
related lease liabilities of HKS$1,698,000.

b) During the year ended 31 March
2020, the Group used 45% equity
interest of a wholly owned subsidiary,
Beijing Skyvior, as the consideration
to acquired 55% equity interest of
Hyperchannel Info.
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43. TEHFBEERH

a)

b)

BE-_ZE_ETF=A=+—HBL#F
B AEBETLHNEERSE AH
= NHERKRE . KEEERE
AEEERMEBHEEAES 1,698,000
BT o

BE-ZE-_ZEFE=ZA=+—HLHEF
E AEBU2ENBARILREE
AR EARENBEERE 2
55% IR FE ©
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44. INFORMATION ABOUT 44. BEX QA M BMRR 2 EHR

FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE
COMPANY

Information about the statement of
financial position of the Company at the
end of the reporting period includes:

BEADBARBERR 2B BRI R 2 EHR
(R

2020 2019
—ECEF —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$"000
FER FHBT
Non-current assets ERBEE
Interests in subsidiaries NG IEINGIPE - 152,125 174,798
Current assets REBEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEUS M B A R FRIE 16,045 —
Bank balances RITHET 42,149 114,690
58,194 114,690
Current liability REBEE
Other payables and accrued HihEIRIERETER
charges 814 687
Net current assets nEBEEFE 57,380 114,003
Net assets EEFE 209,505 288,801
Capital and reserves EAXAR#EE
Share capital (Note 32) B A (Bfi5E 32) 13,907 13,907
Share premium and reserves R RER A (M)
(Note) 195,598 274,894

209,505 288,801




LV &\
y

NCIAL STATEMENTS

A

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020
BE—_Z-SF=-A=+—HLEE

44. INFORMATION ABOUT 44. BERAXR R BRI BRR 2 ER (&)
FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE
COMPANY (Continued)

Note: Mz :
Movement in the Company’s share premium and AABRDEERFHEEE
reserves
Capital
Share Contribution redemption  Accumulated

premium surplus reserve losses Total

R RE BERR%  RABERRE ZEER okl

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TET T T FBT TR

At 1 April 2018 WZZE-\E@A—H 2,025,611 262,143 446 (1,993,478) 294,722
Loss for the year FEBR — — — (19,828) (19,828)
At 31 March 2019 RZE-NAE=ZA=+—-H 2,025,611 262,143 446 (2,013,306) 274,894
Loss for the year FEBR — — — (79,296) (79,296)
At 31 March 2020 RZBE-ZEF=HA=+-H 2,025,611 262,143 446 (2,092,602) 195,598
The Company applied new and AAREREEHERZH BT EREE
amendments to HKFRSs that are AR HETR(BEEBMBEREERES6
mandatorily effective, including HKFRS 16, B WHAQATR-_FT-—NAFNA—AZ
and there was no material impact on the B FEAR R A SR B K & o
Company’s financial position at 1 April
2019.
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The consolidated results and assets and AEERBELEVMBREEZREXEREER
liabilities of the Group for the last five financial BENHBEELERMKRE  HIWOT -
years, as extracted from the audited financial

statements are as follows:

Year ended 31 March
BZ=A=1-HLEE
2016 2017 2018 2019 2020
ZE-RE ZE—+E E-N\E —E-NE ZECEE
HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HK$°000
FTERT TET THET TER TER

(Restated)
(=E750)
RESULTS ES
Continuing operations: SELEER
Revenue O 27,792 24,026 34,910 18,206 154,099
Loss before tax BRERIEE (61,203) (49,835) (45,889) (21,219) (61,291)
Income tax (expense) credit FrgH (X H)#ER (294) (1,202) (18) 6 155
Loss for the year from REFELSEER
continuing operations FEEHE (61,497) (561,037) (45,907) (21,213) (61,136)
Loss for the year from RELEREERY
discontinued operations FEBE - - (11,889) (10,827) (2,601)
Loss for the year attributable AR REEABLEEE
to owners of the Company: K& :
— from continuing — RERELEER
operations (58,078) (48,753) (46,153) (20,508) (55,634)
— from discontinued — RERLEEER
operations — — (11,889) (10,827) (2,601)

(568,078) (48,753) (68,042) (31,335) (58,235)

(Loss) profit for the year REFESEEH

attributable to non- FEREREEFEE
controlling interests from (B#8) &R

continuing operations: 3,419) (2,284) 246 (705) (5,502)




272

As at 31 March

R=B=+-H
2016 2017 2018 2019 2020
“E-RF ZE-tF ZB-NF ZE-RF ZBIEf
HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$"000 HK$'000 HK$’000
TER TER TER TER TER
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERERE
Property, plant and M BRERSZE
equipment 8,946 2,029 805 837 993
Right-of-use assets FREEE — — — — 1,825
Film right and film EYMERBETEY
production in progress — 31,600 1,620 117 —
Long term deposits REZES 1,645 3,796 555 555 108
Interests in associates NN 3 33,828 — 1,143 1,390 1,218
Goodwill mE — — — 19,949 12,126
Intangible assets BEEE 1,385 1,385 1,385 6,162 7,454
Financial assets at fair ROTEEFABER
value through profit or ZEMERE
loss — — — 5,379 715
Net current assets RBEEFE 200,836 325,210 305,872 269,187 213,834
246,640 364,020 311,380 303,576 238,273
Non-current liabilities ERBEE (784) 712) (698) (1,384) (2,554)
245,856 363,308 310,682 302,192 235,719
Share capital N 12,142 13,907 13,907 13,907 13,907
Share premium and BiDEER HE
reserves 254,278 354,816 302,234 270,842 206,962
Equity attributable to v\ UNSIE 2PNy
owners of the Company 266,420 368,723 316,141 284,749 220,869
Non-controlling interests FERER (20,564) (5,415) (5,459) 17,443 14,850
245,856 363,308 310,682 302,192 235,719

The comparative information for each of year
ended 31 March 2016, 2017 and 2018 has not
been restated on initial application of HKFRS 9,

HKFRS 15 and HKFRS 16.
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